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Performance overview 
This section includes a statement from the clinical chair and chief officer, 
information about our CCG including our vision, and the areas we have 
focused on in 2020/21. All performance and quality data are sourced from 
validated national sources, including NHS England, NHS Digital and 
Department of Health.   

 
Statement from the Clinical Chair and 
Chief Officer 
Welcome to the NHS North Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) annual 
report for 2020/21. 

We are responsible for commissioning (planning and buying) the majority of health 
services for people across North Tyneside. As a clinically-led organisation, we are in 
a unique position to understand the needs of our patients, which helps us to deliver 
high quality services for the 222,000 people in our borough. 

This is the second Annual Report we have written whilst the country still remains in 
the grip of the COVID-19 pandemic. With the huge amount of hard work and effort 
going into the vaccination process, we can now see an end to the restrictions we 
have been living under and, hopefully, a return to normal in the near future. 

We understand how difficult it has been for residents and patients over the past year 
and how the pandemic has impacted people’s physical and mental health in so many 
ways. Our governing body, members and staff of the CCG would like to say that our 
thoughts are with all of our residents, especially those who have lost loved ones to 
the virus. 

We would also like to say a special thank you to all of the care givers and our NHS 
staff who are continuing working to provide care during these difficult times. Our best 
wishes and appreciation also go to all key workers who are working tirelessly to 
ensure that the essential needs of our residents and patients are met during this 
pandemic. 

During the past year, the CCG has worked with GP practice staff, the local authority, 
Trusts, the community and voluntary sector and independent sector as well as other 
key organisations to respond to the demands being placed on the NHS due to the 
pandemic. Our heartfelt thanks go out to all of the staff, individuals and organisations 
involved in helping to meet people’s needs and keep the systems working during this 
very difficult time.  
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Whilst COVID-19 has continued to draw our focus in 2020/21, there are many 
achievements during the year which can be celebrated. Some of our key 
achievements include: 

1. "Outstanding Rating" 
The CCG was delighted to receive a rating of “outstanding” by NHS England for the 
second year running in an annual review of the CCG’s performance for 2019/20. 
This also includes receiving the highest score possible for patient and community 
engagement. 

The review is very important as it assesses how well the CCG has performed in key 
service and clinical areas, how well it has managed its finances and the quality of its 
leadership. The achievement of outstanding status - the highest possible rating - is a 
significant milestone as it means that residents in the borough are receiving some of 
the very best treatment in the country. 

2. COVID-19 Vaccinations Roll-Out 
Since the first vaccine was administered on 15 December 2020, clinicians have 
worked tirelessly to vaccinate priority groups at dedicated vaccination sites across 
North Tyneside. North Tyneside has continuously reached key milestones ahead of 
schedule and received excellent feedback from those being vaccinated. 

Vaccinations have predominately been given at the vaccination sites based at 
Wallsend, North Shields, and the North West. District Nurses, Frailty Nurses, GPs, 
and Pharmacists have also visited house bound residents and all older adult 
residential and nursing homes to administer vaccinations.  

Dedicated teams of nurses worked evenings and weekends over the Christmas and 
the New Year period into 2021 have enabled delivery of the vaccine to care home 
residents and staff.  

In just two weeks, by January 14th 2021, all residents of adult care homes in the 
borough who were well enough, and the majority of care home workers, had 
received their first vaccine.  

The rapid rollout across the borough has been a real team effort with the NHS (GP 
led vaccination centres, the CCG, TyneHealth GP Federation and Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust), North Tyneside Council, volunteers (who have 
been key to the programme) and the community all working together to play their 
part. 

3. Digital Inequalities 
Our GP Practices quickly and agilely made considerable changes during the 
pandemic to implement ways to allow patients to interact with their practice, mainly 
through the rapid introduction of online video consultation and other forms of digital 
remote working. The CCG supported this work by maximising technology deployed 
to practices as part of the Information technology strategy. Similarly, our provider 
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Trusts quickly implemented systems to reduce patients having to attend hospitals 
when an alternative way to manage their care remotely was available. 

This has been of considerable benefit during the pandemic and we want to keep the 
best parts of these new ways of accessing services. However, the pandemic has 
also exacerbated inequalities in communities. The CCG has listened to our patients 
and to organisations like Healthwatch North Tyneside and VODA who have 
highlighted that some of our most vulnerable communities are living in situations of 
very low income, which means a choice often has to be made between purchasing 
data instead of other essentials. In North Tyneside, we are clear that commitment is 
needed to address digital inclusion. We therefore started work in 2020/21 with both 
Northumbria University and Newcastle University to research digital exclusion in 
North Tyneside. We will use the learning from the research to develop solutions to 
negate the risks of digital exclusion and enhance the availability of digital options for 
our citizens.   

4. Care Homes Support & Hospital Discharge Programme 
North Tyneside CCG and North Tyneside Council have developed strong partnership 
arrangements over the years, working jointly to support older people's care homes in 
North Tyneside. We continued and strengthened our joint working during the COVID-
19 pandemic to provide support and input for nursing and care home residents and 
staff. The CCG provided various digital systems and access to equipment to provide 
both clinical interventions and support for people with dementia.  

North Tyneside CCG, North Tyneside Local Authority and Northumbria Healthcare 
Foundation Trust, the independent and voluntary sector all worked collaboratively to 
ensure that systems, processes and staff were in place to deliver the national 
requirements for hospital discharge published at the beginning of the pandemic.  
The CCG and Council set up agreements with care homes creating additional bed 
capacity in the community. A patient tracking system was also established to ensure 
patients were reviewed and assessed appropriately in a timely way. This meant that 
medically fit patients were discharged as rapidly and safely as possible from hospital 
into an environment which could support patients until they were ready to go back 
home.  

A new team called the Prevent and Protect Team was developed. This team brought 
together commissioning staff, school nurses for children and young people aged 0-
19 and CCG staff into one resource to provide additional support to care homes. 
Personal Protection Equipment (PPE) deliveries were made to care homes and 
training provided on how to use it as well as providing training on infection prevention 
and control. 

5. Future Care & Partnership Working 
The Department of Health and Social Care issued a new White Paper earlier in 2021 
called 'Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care 
for all'. The White Paper is currently working its way through the legislative system to 
be enshrined in law. It describes how the health system will become more integrated 
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with Integrated Care Systems, which work at a regional level, becoming statutory 
bodies and being responsible for commissioning healthcare services. The White 
Paper also describes how "place based" working will also be key which is local areas 
working together with key partners such as local authorities.   

In North Tyneside, we have already developed a strong approach to place-based 
working. We have established our place based Future Care Programme which 
brings together strands of work across the health and social care system in North 
Tyneside to deliver sustainable care closer to home.  

During 2020/21 we continued our joint work through the Future Care Programme to 
identify the lessons we can learn from the pandemic, consider what changes we 
want to keep and how we want to develop services, resulting in production of our 
North Tyneside Future Care Transformation Plan. Input from all of our system 
partners from voluntary and community sector through to acute and mental health 
trusts, Public Health and the Council, were key to the development of this Plan and 
is the blueprint for our work going forward into 2021/22.  

The CCG recognises that the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on 
people's lives cannot be understated. Specifically, in relation to the health and care 
sector, hospitals, social care services, care homes and all sectors of provision have 
all been affected and have had to find different ways and systems to offer services 
safely whilst still meeting people’s health and social care needs. All partners have 
pulled together to respond to meet the pressures of the pandemic. Various initiatives 
and new services were established during the pandemic such as pulse oximetry at 
home, which is a way for people who are COVID-19 positive to self-monitor their 
oxygen levels at home which could detect hypoxia at an earlier stage and thereby 
reduce mortality and morbidity.  Long COVID-19 rehabilitation services were also 
established at both Northumbria Healthcare Trust and Newcastle Hospitals Trust. 
These, like many new initiatives, involve partnership and system working to be 
effective. 

Much of what has been achieved, as described above and throughout this annual 
report, has been possible because of the relationships and partnership working with 
key stakeholders and organisations. We would like to thank those organisations and 
people who have been involved in helping us to continue to improve health services 
for the people of North Tyneside.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Richard Scott 
Clinical Chair 
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Mark Adams 
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About NHS North Tyneside Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
NHS North Tyneside CCG has overall responsibility for the development and 
planning of healthcare services for the borough, covering a population of 222,116 
(based on the 2020 NHS England allocations). 

The NHS is facing a continuing period of unprecedented challenges. For North 
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group these challenges include: 

• Managing patients' healthcare needs during the COVID-19 pandemic and 
ensuring health services can meet those needs  

• An ageing population with increasing health needs 

• Health inequalities across the area, which have been exacerbated by the COVID-
19 pandemic 

• Levels of smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity higher than the national 
average 

• Over-reliance on hospital-based services 

• Increasing high-cost drugs and cost of new medical technologies 

• Limited growth in financial allocations in future years 

All 25 GP practices in North Tyneside are members of the CCG, supported by 
healthcare professionals and managers. The practices are close to patients and are 
well placed to develop local health services to make them more responsible to the 
needs of the people of North Tyneside. 

The CCG is dedicated to providing the best possible patient care to our community. 
We place the needs of our patients at the heart of every decision, which means we 
are constantly looking for ways to improve healthcare and health outcomes for the 
borough. 

Our strategic principles are:  
• High quality care that is safe, effective, and focused on patient experience  

• Services coordinated around the needs and preferences of our patients, carers, 
and their families. 

• Transformation in the delivery of health and wellbeing services provided jointly 
with the local authority, other public sector organisations and the private and 
voluntary sector. 

• Best value for taxpayers’ money and using resources responsibly and fairly 

• Right services in the right place delivering the right outcomes.  
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The CCG has the quality of patient provision at its heart and constantly seeks to 
ensure that, through the work with our partners, we continue to improve the quality of 
services for the patients in North Tyneside.  

Our Vision, Plans and Priorities 
Our vision is: 

 

 

We strive to find and implement new ways of working which will mean that care will 
be closer to home and people will only be in hospital when it is really needed. Our 
strategic priority themes for changing the health care system are: 

• Keeping healthy, self-care 
• Caring for people locally 
• Hospital when it is appropriate 

Our strategic vision is supported by ambitious plans to change the way that health care is 
delivered for the people of North Tyneside. Figure 1 below gives a pictorial representation of 
the CCG’s commissioning priorities which echoes our vision. 
 

 
Figure 1: Priorities 
 
Our local system is transforming and many of the traditional boundaries between 
providers and commissioners are being removed as part of an integrated care 

“Working together to maximise the health and wellbeing of North Tyneside 
communities by making the best use of resources” 

 



12 

approach. This includes work being undertaken at a wider, strategic level as well as 
at a local level. 

During 2020/21, we have been working across three levels of scale: 

• Integrated care system – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focused on ‘at 
scale’ activity that achieves efficiencies 

• Integrated care partnerships – populations of around one million (with the 
exception of North Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic 
features), focused on collaboration across NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and 
sustainable services 

• Place – populations of around 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus 
for partnership working between the NHS and local authorities. In these areas, 
primary care networks (providing services to populations of around 30,000-50,000 
people) will support collaboration between GP practices, social care, other 
community-based care providers and voluntary sector organisations.  

Integrated Care System 
The keystone of the wider, regional strategic work is that of the Integrated Care 
System (ICS). In June 2019, the North East and North Cumbria area was confirmed 
by NHS England as an ICS.  

The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) is a regional 
partnership between the NHS, local authorities and others, taking collective 
responsibility for resources, setting strategic objectives and care standards, and 
improving the health of the 3.1million people it serves.   

Our ICS is a collaboration of NHS commissioners and providers, and our partners, 
and not a new organisation with statutory powers. This is set to change in the future, 
following the publication by the Government on 11 February 2021 of a new White 
Paper called “Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and 
social care for all”. Work has started to understand the impacts of this White Paper 
and this will continue at pace during 2021/22. However, the ICS will take on formal 
status with statutory powers.  

The majority of our work is focused in places and neighbourhoods and will continue 
to be in the future. Alongside the place-based work, the ICS provides a mechanism 
to build consensus on those issues that need to be tackled ‘at scale.  

The ICS builds on existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of 
clinical commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. 
This involves local Primary Care Networks and NHS foundation trusts, working with 
local authority and voluntary sector partners in improving health and wellbeing 
through extending the reach and effectiveness of our services. 
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Based on the NHS Long Term Plan, all Integrated Care Systems were asked to 
create their own five-year strategic plans by November 2019, to cover the period 
2019-20 to 2023-24. Our North East and North Cumbia ICS Plan outlines how we 
will: 

• Bring together local organisations in a pragmatic and practical way. 

• Ensure patients get more options, better support, and properly joined-up care at 
the right time and place.  

• Relieve pressure on A&Es through more effective population health management 
and service coordination.  

• Strengthen our contribution to prevention and tackling health inequalities to help 
people stay healthy and moderate demand on the NHS. 

• Develop a new ‘system architecture’ that delivers strategic action on workforce 
transformation, digitally-enabled care, and the collaborative approaches to 
innovation and efficiency that will restore our whole ICS to financial balance. 

Our ICS is focused on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiply our collective impact around 
overarching clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning (e.g. for 
ambulance services) and shared policy development. It is supported by four 
Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).  

Integrated Care Partnership 
In North Tyneside, Northumberland, and Newcastle Gateshead, NHS organisations 
have come together with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population 
in a coordinated way as the North of Tyne and Gateshead Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP).   

We work together at scale when it makes most sense to do so, focusing on 
developing care models that support the balancing of capacity and demand across 
the health economy.   

The North of Tyne and Gateshead Integrated Care Partnership has developed a plan 
for working together on key areas identified in the NHS Long term Plan which has 
been agreed by each of the partners.  

During 2020/21, we have worked together to manage the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on our health services, maintaining those services where it has been 
possible to do so or to restart them if they did have to stop during the pandemic. This 
includes services like outpatient services and some surgical services where changes 
were needed across the health system to manage the pressures of the pandemic. 
However, we are pleased that urgent care and cancer needs continued to be 
prioritised and patients could still continue to access these services during the 
pandemic. 
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We have also worked at an ICP level for mental health services recognising that the 
CCGs in the North of Tyne and Gateshead ICP all commission mental health 
provision from Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne & Wear Mental Health Foundation 
Trust. Working in this way has meant that the potential for “postcode lottery” 
situations to arise are minimised and there is equal access to the services that are 
commissioned from the Trust. 

Place Based Care 
It is of primary importance that locally we are able to respond to local need and have 
local accountability. This is what we called ‘place’ working at a North Tyneside level.  

At a local level we have established our Future Care Programme, which brings 
together strands of work across the health and social care system in North Tyneside 
to deliver sustainable care closer to home.  

North Tyneside’s Future Care Place Based Transformation Board and its sub 
committees have worked collaboratively over a number of years. There is a wide-
ranging membership across health and social care, Fire Brigade, community and 
voluntary organisations and Healthwatch and patient forum members.  

We have worked together to develop our Place based Transformation Plan August 
2020 - March 2022 which describes our response to future service delivery and 
recovery recognising the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had and continues 
to have on the needs of our population and staff. The plan was positively received by 
the Health & Wellbeing Board.  

One of the particular features of the programme is the integrated service model for 
older people. We have brought together key stakeholders from community health 
services, GP practices, social care, and other areas to begin to shape and model 
how the new integrated model will work in the future.  

This local approach towards integrated services will ensure that community and 
primary care will meet future demand, while integration of health and social care will 
be one of the priority areas for both the CCG and local authority to enable us to 
achieve the new model. 

This way of working has been invaluable during the COVID-19 pandemic. Joint 
working and collaboration between the CCG, Trusts, Public Health, the community & 
voluntary sector as well as other partners, has meant that our response to providing 
health and social support has been strong and resilient. This is exemplified in the 
joint work being undertaken to roll out the COVID-19 vaccination programme.  
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Contracting and Finance Summary 2020/21 
The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance for 2020/21 was published 
on 31st January 2020.  The guidance outlined that 2019/20 had set out the 
transformation of services and outcomes the NHS would deliver by 2023/24 from the 
long-term revenue settlement.  The plan in 2020/21 was to deliver elements of the 
NHS Long Term Plan commitments, including maintaining and improving access to 
services, expanding primary and community services, continuing to transform 
working within systems.  However, on the 17th March 2020 NHSE/I announced steps 
required by CCGs to deal with COVID-19 and the pandemic.  The response included 
the suspending of the operational planning process for 2020/21.  Our NHS Trusts 
postponed all non-urgent elective operations from 15th April 2020, and the 
requirement to discharge all patients who were medically fit.  NHSE/I centrally block 
bought capacity from our Independent Sector (IS) providers to enable Trusts to move 
patients to IS sites for elective procedures where appropriate.  NHSE/I paused all 
NHS contracts with our hospital Trusts and moved to block contract payments 'on 
account' instead of Payment by Results (PbR) funding.   Our contract management 
of these providers focussed on supporting them through the pandemic and enabling 
them to deliver their services in the safest environment.  As we moved through the 
year our Trust stepped back up elective capacity and again we contract managed 
our providers in a supportive manner, however as we hit the different waves of the 
pandemic services were continued where they could be.  IS providers have 
continued to be contracted centrally by (Department of Health (DoH) with our Trusts 
transferring appropriate patients for elective procedures.  Our community contracts 
have had their contracts managed in a similar manner; we have engaged with them 
and supported them to adapt their services to meet the pandemic restrictions. 

For the first half of the financial year 2020/21 the CCG received an amended 
resource allocation and additional top up funding from NHSE/I to cover any shortfall 
in expenditure and the additional expenditure arising as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  During this time the CCG's investment programme was suspended with 
the main focus on the management of the pandemic and subsequent vaccination 
campaign. 

For the second half of the financial year the CCG, working with other CCGs and 
NHS Trusts within the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP), developed a financial plan 
which looked towards restoring care back to pre-pandemic levels. 

The CCG reported a surplus of £1.4m as at 31 March 2021 and delivered on all of its 
required financial targets.  Delivery of financial targets is important because it will 
allow the CCG in the future to commission high quality care for patients on a 
sustainable basis. 
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Performance summary 
The CCG has continued to oversee quality improvements through our support for the 
various quality systems and processes in place to provide assurance that our 
requirements are being met.  

Where we identify areas where improvements can be made, we have implemented 
changes to increase standards, minimise waiting lists and improve waiting times 
through joint working with the organisations that provide the services for North 
Tyneside residents.  

Quality of services is always a key priority for the CCG. To this end, we have robust 
structures and systems in place to ensure that the services we commission are of 
high quality and are safe for patients and staff.  

The CCG was represented on the quality review groups which are in place for all 
foundation trusts and local private hospital providers. These provide a focus on 
assurance relating to the clinical quality of commissioned services. The CCG also 
continued with its schedule of quality assurance visits, in partnership with the local 
authority, to all independent nursing homes in North Tyneside.  

We have a range of methods we use to ensure our services are delivered to a quality 
standard and provide value for money. These include processes to manage 
performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work with 
internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of 
action plans to mitigate these.  

In addition, the CCG considers the risks and areas of uncertainty identified on its 
Risk Assurance Framework and ensures that performance in these areas is closely 
monitored, e.g. Referral to Treatment times and cancer waiting times. Where 
possible and appropriate, we use national data sets as our KPIs to help us monitor 
and improve performance as well as locally determined KPIs. 

We provide regular performance reports to the CCG’s Governing Body, which details 
the North Tyneside performance against the agreed local and national measures. 
This provides reassurance that the standards are being met or, if they are not being 
met, the Governing Body can request assurances about the measures being put in 
place to progress towards achieving of the standards.  

Monitoring performance also helps us in understanding the effectiveness of services, 
together with the role of quality assurance and financial management. 

Robust systems are in place to effectively manage complaints received by the 
organisation in accordance with NHS complaints regulations.  Responsibilities and 
processes for receiving, handling, investigating and resolving complaints relating to 
the actions of North Tyneside CCG, its staff and services, as well as commissioning 
services and independent sector providers, are set out in the CCG's Complaints 
Policy and Procedure document which is approved by the CCG's Governing Body. 
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The regulations covering both health and social care complaints were revised and 
introduced in April 2009.  The new regulations enable organisations and the person 
complaining to agree the best way to handle the complaint to achieve a satisfactory 
outcome.  Within this process both concerns and complaints can be made either 
verbally, in writing or electronically via email.   

The CCG commissions the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) to 
provide a complaint handling service on their behalf.  NECS undertake to work within 
the parameters of the above policy and procedure and discuss with the complainant 
creation of a complaint plan which outlines agreed actions and deadlines. 

There are two stages to the NHS complaints procedure: 

• Local resolution of complaint through investigation and response by the CCG or 
provider. 

• Independent Review of complaint by the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman. 

Provider complaints are managed under the provider’s complaints procedures and 
reported to us through their board level patient experience report, which is shared at 
our Quality Review Group meetings. CCG complaints are presented to the Quality 
and Safety Committee as part of the Integrated Performance and Quality Report as 
well as through an annual report. 

We continue to work with member practices and the NHS England team to develop 
and assure quality and safety in primary care. 

It is our aim that all patients, relatives, and their carers will not be treated differently 
as a result of making a complaint.  This is achieved by ensuring that complaints are 
handled fairly and openly.   In addition, the CCG is very keen to ensure that 
complaints are used as a learning opportunity and that trends are analysed and 
reported on.  It is essential that information we gain from complaints is used to 
improve the quality and safety of the services we commission. 

The CCG has been informed by the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 
that they are investigating one complaint. The outcome is awaited. 

Overall, the CCG has performed well during 2020/21. We continue to strive to make 
further improvements. An emphasis on improving quality will continue into 2021/22. 

Key issues and risks in 2020/21 

This year the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted on the CCG’s ability to meet some 
of its objectives. However, the CCG has worked closely with its partners to reduce 
the effect of COVID-19 and therefore not all areas were impacted to the same 
extent.  
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The risks associated with COVID-19 were:  

• That the response to COVID-19 would impact on system’s ability to deliver 
healthcare to meet the needs of the population.  

• The ability to support the NHS & social care system to deliver appropriate care to 
the residents of North Tyneside throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.  

• That COVID-19 posed a risk to staff health and CCG operations.  

Although steps are being taken to minimise these risks, we have taken the decision 
to continue to identify the first two risks into 2020/21. This is because the pandemic 
is continuing and all of the effects and impacts of the pandemic are yet to emerge. 
The third risk also remains on the risk register for continuous monitoring purposes 
but it has been noted that it is being managed with necessary steps taken to protect 
staff and innovative new ways of working to ensure that CCG business has 
continued. 

The following risks have also been included on the CCG’s Risk Register: 

• Failure to clearly demonstrate compliance with NHS Constitution rights and 
pledges.  

• Commissioned services are not of sufficiently high quality. 

• The risk of adult or child safeguarding incident/s or other significant quality failure 
incident. 

• Response to surges in demand leading to a failure to respond effectively to local 
healthcare needs. 

• That delayed ambulance handovers impacts negatively on patient safety and 
patient flow. 

These risks will continue into 2021/22. The CCG’s Governing Body maintains a 
strong grip on these areas to ensure that any impact is minimised insofar as is 
possible. 

The CCG continues to make daily submissions to NHS England/Improvement on the 
local impact of EU Exit. However, no issues have been identified locally in the period 
December 2020 (when reporting started) to 31st March 2021. 

The CCG also effectively managed the risk relating to the supply of flu vaccines and 
this risk is now closed.   
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Performance 
analysis   
 
In this performance analysis section, we will give an overview on 
 three key areas: 

• North Tyneside Health & Wellbeing overview and strategy 
• CCG financial overview 
• Corporate Performance overview  
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North Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Overview & Strategy 
2020/21 
In the last two decades, many of the indicators of health and wellbeing have 
improved significantly in North Tyneside however they remain today on average 
worse than those for England. Health inequalities persist within the borough and as a 
result the overall picture of health and wellbeing across North Tyneside is mixed. 

In the 2019 English Indices of Deprivation, North Tyneside was ranked 128 out of 
317 (where 1 is the worst and 317 is the best). As a relative measure of multiple 
deprivation experienced by people living in an area, it provides a place-based insight 
into deprivation. Whilst overall North Tyneside’s ranking does not lie within the two 
most deprived quintiles as some other NE authorities, there are some 
neighbourhoods within the borough that lie within the most deprived decile of 
neighbourhoods in England. It is these inequalities which drive the different 
experience of health and wellbeing across our communities. 

Average life expectancy in North Tyneside over the last decade for both men and 
women has stalled. Average life expectancy for women in North Tyneside is 
currently 82 years. This is slightly better than the North East average but is 1.4 years 
lower than the average for England. There has been a small overall increase of 1 
year for women over the last 10 years, but worryingly since 2014 life expectancy for 
women has declined by 0.6 years.  

Average life expectancy for men is currently 78.2 years which is similar to the 
average for the North East but is significantly lower (1.6 years) than that for England. 
There has been a small overall increase of 1.5 years over the last 10 years. Since 
2014 average life expectancy for men has shown a small increase of 0.4 years. 

 

Figure 2: Average life expectancy in North Tyneside 
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Trends in average healthy life expectancy are different for men and women in 
North Tyneside. Women in the borough not only live longer but experience more of 
those years in better health.  

For men, healthy life expectancy is 60.7 years and in comparison, the average for 
women is 63.3 years. Over the last 10 years healthy life expectancy for men has 
improved by 0.5 years and for women by 1.7 years. However, over the last 5 years 
there has been a decrease in average healthy life expectancy for men. 

There is a relationship between lower healthy life expectancy and levels of 
deprivation. Men and women in our least deprived areas have, on average 14.5 
more years spent in good health compared to our most deprived communities. 

 

Figure 3: Healthy life expectancy in North Tyneside 

There are wide inequalities across the borough, with persistent pockets of 
deprivation particularly in the wards of Riverside and Chirton.   

Men and women from our least deprived areas live longer, compared to residents 
from our most deprived areas. For men they live 11.7 years longer and for women 
10.6 years longer.  

Data for 2017-2019 shows the health inequality gap has widened by 1.1 years for 
men and by 1.3 years for women, since data started to be collected in 2010-2012. 

 

Figure 4: Life expectancy gap 
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Premature mortality 
Cancer, cardiovascular disease (CVD) and respiratory disease remain the leading 
causes of premature death in North Tyneside. Age standardised mortality rates for 
all three diseases are higher than the England rate. 

• Cancer remains the most significant cause of premature mortality in North 
Tyneside with 876 deaths between 2017 and 2019. 

• Although CVD mortality has declined faster than cancer; there were still 461 
premature deaths between 2017 and 2019 from CVD. 

• COPD is one of the major respiratory diseases and smoking is a major cause of 
COPD.  In North Tyneside there were 238 deaths in the period 2017 to 2019. 

• People are also dying from liver disease at a younger age compared to the 
national average. Deaths due to liver disease are heavily influenced by both 
alcohol and obesity. In North Tyneside there were 142 deaths between 2017 and 
2019. 

• Social factors, behavioural risk factors and late presentation, diagnosis and 
treatment contribute to the premature mortality. However, much of this premature 
mortality is preventable.  In total there were 1,034 deaths in North Tyneside that 
were considered as preventable between 2017 and 2019. 

• Almost half of the gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived 
areas in England is due to excess deaths from circulatory disease (heart disease 
and stroke) and cancer in the most deprived areas.  

 

Figure 5: Preventable mortality in North Tyneside 
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Behavioural risk factors 
• Major risk factors for poor health include unhealthy diets, smoking, drinking too 

much alcohol and physical inactivity. 

• Just over two thirds (66.2%) of adults in North Tyneside are overweight or obese 
(2019-20). 

• There are increasing numbers of people who have type 2 diabetes. There are 
14,279 individuals in North Tyneside with type 2 diabetes (8.5%).  

• It is estimated that 11.6% of adults have non-diabetic hyperglycaemia and thus 
represent an opportunity to prevent from developing type 2 diabetes.   

• The numbers of adults smoking in North Tyneside has significantly declined over 
the last decade to an all-time low of 13.9% (2019). However, there is variation in 
North Tyneside: 1 in 4 of adults in the most deprived areas of North Tyneside 
smoke compared to only 1 in 6 in our least deprived areas.    

• Alcohol related admissions to hospital are higher in North Tyneside compared to 
the national average. In 2018-19 there were over 2,200 hospital admissions for 
alcohol-related conditions.  

• 23.5% of the population is drinking at levels that risk damaging health . 

• 67.1% of adults are classified as physically active (2018-19). 

Children and young people 
• 17% of children in North Tyneside are living in low income families. There is a 

persistent gap in educational attainment between disadvantaged children and 
other children in the borough. 

• The rate of obese children doubles between five-year-olds and 10-year-olds. One 
in 10 children are obese aged 4-5, and one in five by aged 10.  There is a clear 
relationship between deprivation and obesity. 

• 10.5% of 15-year-olds are regular smokers (this is similar to the England 
average). 

An ageing population 
• North Tyneside’s population is getting older. 
• There are growing numbers of people with multiple long-term conditions and 

frailty. 
• More than one in 10 of the adult population has a caring responsibility. An 

estimated 14% of people over 65 years old are caring for someone. 
• There are just under 15,000 older people over the age of 65 who live alone. 
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• By 2040 there will be 13,000 (27% increase) more people aged between 65-84 
and 5,000 (100% increase) more people aged over 85 years living in North 
Tyneside. 

• The number of people aged over 75 living alone is predicted to rise by 41.9% by 
2040. 

 

 
Figure 6: Population bands by age 
 

COVID-19 Pandemic 
The COVID-19 pandemic has led to a dramatic loss of human life worldwide and has 
presented and still presents an unprecedented challenge to public health. Declared a 
public health emergency of international concern by the WHO, there is no aspect of 
life in the UK that has not been significantly affected.  

There have been a range of both direct and indirect impacts on health and wellbeing. 
As well as the direct impacts of COVID-19 disease, the social distancing and 
lockdown measures have had a huge and unequal impact of their own on 
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individuals, households and communities through the restrictions imposed on our 
everyday social and economic activities.  We have yet to understand the full extent 
of the impacts on health and wellbeing. 

• The first case reported in North Tyneside was 12 months ago, on 5 March 2020. 

• Since then a total of 11,736 positive cases in have been reported in North 
Tyneside. 

• The rate of infection across the population has not been experienced evenly. 

• Of these positive cases, 55% were female, and 45% were male. 

• The 0-19 population represent 6.4% of cases, with the 20-59 population 
accounting for 36%, and the over 60’s 12.6%. 

The COVID- 19 pandemic has impacted upon the achievement of a number of 
healthcare targets.  These include: 

• Referral to treatment times 
• Diagnostic waits 
• A&E waits 
• Cancer waits 
• Ambulance response times 
• Annual health checks 

COVID-19 Mortality 
• In the period from 27 March 2020 to 19 Feb 2021, there have been 421 COVID-19 

deaths recorded. This includes 144 deaths in Care Homes. 

• The Office for National Statistics have recorded 300 excess deaths in North 
Tyneside for the period 21 March 2020 to 5 February 2021, where deaths are 
those recorded above the expected 5-year average. 
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Figure 7: Cumulative COVID-19 infection rate by ward 

 

 

Figure 8: Cumulative number of positive cases of COVID-19 by gender  
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Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
We work in close partnership with North Tyneside Council and actively support the 
development and delivery of the joint health and wellbeing strategies.  

The CCG’s plans are aligned with the objectives and priorities of the strategy. The 
Local Authority Director of Public Health is in attendance at the CCG Governing 
Body and provides updates to the committee as well as supporting the CCG with 
public health advice and support through the ‘Core Offer’.  

The CCG's Clinical Chair and the Chief Operating Officer/ Executive Nurse Director 
are members of the North Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board and attend these 
meetings.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB) Work Plan 2018-2020 was co-produced, 
following a refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. It resulted in a number of key priority areas being identified and 
this is currently being updated.  

The Future Care Place Based Plan and the North Tyneside Children & Young 
Peoples Plan together contain the cross system strategic programmes of work and 
priorities for 2020/21 which align to the HWBB Work Plan. 

The CCG has consulted with representatives of the HWBB who have confirmed the 
CCG's contribution to the delivery of the joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

In addition to regular attendance at the HWBB throughout 2020/21, the CCG has led 
or been directly involved in the following HWBB agenda items: 

• Future Care Programme & Plan. 

• North Tyneside Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing and 
Emotional Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021. 

• Joint Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Working Age Adults. 

• Mental Wellbeing in Later Life Strategy. 

• The CCG continues to be the regional lead for the National Diabetes Prevention 
Programme.  

• Urgent care. 

• Better Care Fund. 

• North Tyneside commitment to carers – meeting statutory duties. 

• Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements. 

• Health, wellbeing, and social care commissioning intentions 2019-20. 
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Financial performance  
Key financial performance indicators 2020/21 
North Tyneside CCG has met the statutory requirement to ensure expenditure in a 
financial year does not exceed its allocated resource. In 2020/21, the CCG achieved 
an in-year surplus of £1.4m, increasing the brought forward 2020/21 surplus from 
£4m to a surplus of £5.4m as at 31 March 2021. 

Financial performance targets are reported in the notes of the annual accounts. 
Clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 
2006 (as amended). North Tyneside CCG’s performance against those duties was 
as follows: 

Table 1: Financial performance targets 

Target 2020/21 

Expenditure not to exceed income Achieved 
 

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 
Achieved 

 
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 
Achieved 

 
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

 
Achieved 

 
In addition to the commissioning budget, the CCG had an annual running costs 
budget of £4.3m in 2020/21. This was spent on CCG staff and associated costs and 
on services from North of England Commissioning Support (NECS). The CCG 
operated from premises in North Shields leased from NHS Property Services in 
2020/21. 

Financial outturn in 2020/21 
The CCG 2020/21 annual accounts are provided in full as part of the annual report. 
During the year, the CCG commissioned healthcare services to the value of £374.6m 
and incurred expenditure of £4.0m in respect of running costs. The overall closing 
position of the CCG was an in-year surplus of £1.4m. 
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Table 2: CCG 2020/21 expenditure 

 £m 
Acute health services 190.9 
Mental health services 31.4 
Community health services 49.4 
Continuing health care 19.5 
Prescribing 38.4 
Primary care 39.6 
Other programme costs 5.4 
Total programme (commissioning) costs 374.6 
Total running costs 4.0 
Total expenditure for 2020/21 378.6 

 
The majority of the CCG’s expenditure was spent with NHS organisations, 
purchasing healthcare for the benefit of North Tyneside residents. Funds were also 
used to purchase healthcare from non-NHS bodies, as indicated in the accounts. 

 

Table 3: CCG 2020/21 acute expenditure 

 £m 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Trust 117.3 
Newcastle upon Tyne NHS Trust 64.8 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Trust 7.4 
Other NHS Acute Services 1.4 
Other Non-NHS Acute Services 0.0  
Total 2020/21 Acute Services Expenditure 190.9 

 
During the financial year the CCG spent £6.6m on services directly relating to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  Expenditure on this area was funded directly from NHS 
England.  The largest area of expenditure relates to the Hospital Discharge Program 
which ensured the availability of beds by facilitating the speedy discharge of patients.  
Other expenditure areas ensured that general practice continued to operate in a safe 
environment during the pandemic by maximising IT usage and investing in general 
practice infrastructure.  Expenditure was also utilised on buying additional PPE and 
on additional staff to ensure increased demand was met. 
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Table 4: CCG 2020/21 covid expenditure 

 £000s 
Hospital Discharge Programme   4,129  
CHC Inflation  696  
After care and support costs  353  
Existing workforce additional shifts to meet increased demand 

    
 351  

Segregation of patient pathways  280  
COVID-19 Related MH Services  264  
Bank Holidays  143  
Remote management of patients  112  
PPE - locally procured  60  
GP SMS Additional Costs  58  
Backfill for higher sickness absence  54  
Flu Vaccination (additional venues & cold chain only) Month 7 

 
 40  

Additional capacity (excluding care homes)  20  
Consumables  15  
Other  18  
COVID-19 SPEND TOTAL 6,594 

 
The CCG did not commit any expenditure during 2020/21 in relation to the exit from 
the European Union. 

Better Payment Practice Code 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires all CCGs to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
North Tyneside CCG has met the requirements of the code, as reported in the 
annual accounts and indicated in notes to the accounts. 

There were no reported incidents of fraud, bribery or corruption during 2020/21. 

Financial Plans 2021/22 
Interim financial arrangements are in place for the first half (H1) of 2021/22.  These 
arrangements are consistent with the second half of 2020/21 whereby financial plans 
have been prepared at ICP level.  Block contracts are still in place with NHS 
providers. 

The CCG is planning to deliver a £448k surplus for the period April to September 
2021. 
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Corporate Performance Overview 
Respect for Human Rights 
The CCG is committed to equality, diversity, and human rights (EDHR) in everything 
we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, developing 
policies, communicating, consulting, or involving people in our work.  

Social matters 
The CCG takes its social responsibilities seriously. During 2018/19 the CCG 
approved the introduction of a VCS grant scheme which will enable the voluntary 
and community sector (VCS) to apply for grants to support the delivery of CCG 
objectives.  

The first wave of the grant scheme was successfully launched in 2019/20, which 
resulted in four organisations receiving grants of up to £300,000 each for a three-
year period and five organisations receiving a small grant of up to £20,000 each. 
This has been an innovative and exciting opportunity in North Tyneside. 

The CCG intended to roll the scheme out further during 2020/21 but this had to be 
halted due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Instead, we worked with those organisations 
who had received a grant to agree different ways they could work with their 
communities during the pandemic and provide support. The CCG also extended the 
grant period to provide funding to enable this work. 

The CCG has also worked with Barnardos to develop an apprenticeship scheme to 
encourage young people into the workplace and continues to be committed to this 
scheme. The CCG has also encouraged apprenticeships from the ‘Project Choice’ 
scheme for people with autism and learning disabilities. Two posts have been made 
permanent within the CCG following successful completion of the apprenticeships. 

The CCG also routinely includes a question on social value when it is undertaking 
procurements and bidders are evaluated as to their response to this question. This 
helps us to understand how new services being procured in North Tyneside can add 
a level of social value, such as increasing employment opportunities.  

The intended impact is to have a mutually agreed, coordinated, and holistic ‘whole-
system’ approach to proactively sustain and improve the health of the population, 
reducing health inequalities and prevent illness. More detail on reducing health 
inequalities is given later in this Report. 
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Reducing Health Inequality  
Our commitment to equality and diversity is 
driven by the principles of the NHS 
Constitution, the Equality Act 2010 and the 
Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the 
duties of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 (section 14T) to reduce health 
inequalities, promote patient involvement 
and involve and consult with the public. 

We have demonstrated our commitment to 
taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing 
people, developing policies, communicating, consulting, or involving people in our 
work as evidenced below. 

We are fully cognisant of our duty to reduce inequalities between patients in 
accessing health services for our local population. This has become increasingly 
highlighted as one of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.  

We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint 
strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data 
including local health profiles as well as qualitative data through our local 
engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups. 

We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local 
community we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual 
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community 
groups, attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient 
surveys, focus groups and Healthwatch. 

As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services 
that are purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We 
appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all 
our stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that comments and feedback from our local 
communities are captured and, where possible, giving local people the opportunity to 
influence local health services and enable people to have their say using a variety of 
communication methods enabling them to influence the way NHS health services are 
commissioned. 

As well as the work being undertaken described above, as we move forward and 
learn more from the outcomes for people during the COVID-19 pandemic, we are 
increasingly conscious of health inequalities experienced during the pandemic.  
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Tackling health inequalities requires actions to be 
embedded across the system and at all levels. It 
requires greater collaboration and actions to address 
underlying root causes. This relies on collaboration 
with local government and the voluntary, community 
and social enterprise sector.  

As part of the NHS response to COVID-19, eight 
areas have been set out intending to systematically 
tackle health inequalities.  

Population Health Management approaches have 
started during 2020/21 which will be used going 
forward to combine medical with social vulnerability 
to identify and shield people at the greatest risk from direct and indirect impacts of 
COVID-19. This will include supporting localities and GP practices to implement the 
national risk stratification tool and integrating this with other health and social care 
data to segment and risk stratify patients to identify vulnerability. 

During 2020/21, as part of the response to the pandemic, we worked with the 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and Local Authority to identify elderly and frail 
patients who required additional support, those with physical and learning 
disabilities, and BAME patients from the practice list who might benefit from specific 
interventions to reduce their risk of COVID-19 related mortality. 

PCNs are using data to look at how we can deliver improvements in health and 
wellbeing, making the best use of our collective resources. This is enhanced by the 
links with public health colleagues including those based in foundation trusts, the 
business intelligence support from NECS and national, regional, and local 
intelligence and feedback.  

As a result of COVID-19, we saw, during 2020/21, a significant rise in the use of 
virtual patient appointments.  This dramatically reduced the number of people 
needing to come into our hospitals, reducing the risk of infection of COVID-19 and 
allowing patients to access a range of services from the comfort of their own home.   

We know that for many patients, their expectations regarding how they interact with 
services has changed, but many are reporting very positive experiences of digital 
solutions. We will co-ordinate the evaluations of key programmes to ensure they do 
not widen health inequalities and that good practice is identified and disseminated. 
We are aware that Healthwatch North Tyneside is already engaged with gaining 
patient and public feedback and we will continue to learn from people's experiences.  

However, we are also aware that some of our most vulnerable communities are 
living in situations of very low income, which means a choice often has to be made 
between purchasing data instead of other essentials, potentially restricting access to 
digital health services. Digital skills for those with poor literacy or ability/knowledge to 
enable access has been an issue for certain groups including people with a learning 
disability, those with a learning difficulty and some minority population groups. 
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During 2020/21, the CCG, working with partners, commissioned research from both 
Newcastle University and Northumbria University into digital poverty in North 
Tyneside and the outcomes will be used to inform a strategy to address digital 
inequalities. The outcomes of this research are awaited, and, from these, we will 
seek opportunities to negate the potential risk of digital exclusion and enhance the 
availability of digital options for our citizens.   

Primary Care Networks in North Tyneside worked with analytical teams and wider 
system partners, including social care and voluntary sector organisations, to  
maximise the opportunities and capacity released through the modified Quality and 
Outcomes Framework (QOF) requirements for 2020/21. This includes social 
prescribing and plans to develop priority lists for preventative support and long-term 
condition management, such as for obesity management and hypertension.  

Mental ill-health is a significant contributor to long-term health inequalities, and the 
immediate and longer-term social and economic impacts of COVID-19 have the 
potential to contribute to or exacerbate mental health problems. An ambitious plan is 
being developed for North Tyneside, in line with the national programme to transform 
community mental health provision for adults, which will provide an opportunity to 
pay particular attention to advancing equalities in access, experience and outcomes 
for groups facing inequalities across different mental health pathways.  

Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with 
other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy 
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also, 
nationally we have continued to work closely with NHS employers E&D partners' 
alumni programme. 

We continue to monitor the health profiles and data available which detail the health 
challenges of our population including the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) 
and Public Health Profiles. 
 

Further information can be found at: 

Health Profiles: Local Authority Health Profiles 

Public Health England – Local Health:  http://www.localhealth.org.uk 

North Tyneside Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Health Inequalities and 
Local Community documents: 

http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID
=564404 

http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID
=564405 

http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID
=565071 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/13/gid/1938132696/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/202/are/E08000022/cid/4
http://www.localhealth.org.uk/
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=564404
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=564404
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=564404
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=564405
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=564405
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=565071
http://www.northtyneside.gov.uk/pls/portal/NTC_PSCM.PSCM_Web.download?p_ID=565071
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Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
which is set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and other conduct 
prohibited by the (Equality) Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

• We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish: 

• Equality objectives, at least every four years. 

• Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty. 
 

Governance 
Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion is governed and reports into the Quality & Safety 
Committee and Governing Body.  

The board ensures we are compliant with legislative, mandatory, and regulatory 
requirements regarding equality and diversity and inclusion. It develops and delivers 
national and regional diversity related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for 
sharing issues and opportunities and monitors the achievement of key EDI 
objectives. 
 

Equality Strategy 
Our Equality Strategy for 2020-2024 has been developed. The revised strategy 
highlights the aims set out within the ‘We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action 
for us all’ and outlines our strategic direction in how we foster a culture of inclusion 
and belonging, take action to develop a diverse workforce that is representative of 
the communities it serves, train our people, and work together differently to deliver 
patient care.  
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The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 
We have continued to utilise the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and 
have been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core 
business functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 
and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with 
protected characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010.  

We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS 2) to continue monitoring 
our equality objectives outlined below: 

Objective 1 – Provide evidence that commissioned services are meeting the needs 
of patients and providing positive outcomes. 

Objective 2 - Monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged, 
supported and feel valued in their workplace. 

Objective 3 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes 
Equality and Diversity throughout the organisation. 
 

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise 
the benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our 
organisation. 

We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to 
applicants with a disability who are identified as 
meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; 
and reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 
2010 are considered and implemented during the 
recruitment process and during employment.  

By working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability Employer’ 
status for 2020/21 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people 
for our business and continually developing our people.  
 

Workforce Race Equality Standard 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and 
Diversity Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic 
minority (BME) backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive 
fair treatment in the workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard (WRES). 
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We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts 
and aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black 
and minority ethnic staff. 
 

Equality Impact Assessments 
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been reviewed in 2020 to 
continue the process to be embedded into core business processes and to provide a 
comprehensive insight into our local population, patients, and staff’s diverse health 
needs.  

The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 
(Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and 
Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and 
Carers, as well as including prompts for engagement with protected groups the tool 
also aids compliance with the Accessible Information Standard. 

The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the committee 
is required for monitoring and completion. 
 

Accessible Information Standard 
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that people with a disability 
or sensory impairment have access to information that they can understand, and 
access to any communication support they might need. 

The CCG has due regard to the standard by obtaining feedback from Patient 
Reference Groups (PRGs) in relation to how we can improve our communication 
methods and make them more accessible for all. 

Further information can be found at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/ 
 

Sustainable development  
Sustainability is about the effective use of natural resources and behaving in a way 
that manages and minimises the impact we have on our environment. It requires us 
to pay particular attention to energy, travel, waste, procurement, water, infrastructure 
and buildings.  

As a commissioner of healthcare services and as an employer, the CCG recognises 
the need to minimise our impact on the environment. Use of technical solutions for 
meetings (i.e., video/teleconferencing and webinars) are promoted to reduce travel, 
which in turn reduces the CCG’s carbon footprint. 
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Carbon footprint 

The CCG is supported by NHS Property Services to ensure plans to reduce the 
carbon footprint are in line with the recommendations of the Sustainability 
Development Unit of NHS England. 

Travel 

We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by 
promoting active travel to our staff. The CCG supports its staff through a cycle to 
work scheme. 

Initiatives 

The CCG and its staff have worked hard this year to identify where we could 
minimise the impact we have on our environment. We have introduced waste 
recycling, stopped the use of plastic straws and stirrers and have switched the 
purchase of milk in plastic cartons to milk deliveries in glass bottles (which are 
washed and returned).  

These new measures are in addition to those already incorporated into our working, 
such as purchasing recycled photocopying paper and the use of light sensors which 
detect movement and switch off soon after staff leave their desk. 

The CCG is committed to working with its partners on climate change and 
sustainability. We describe earlier in this document how the North Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) has been established bringing together NHS and Local Authority 
partners in North Tyneside, Newcastle, Gateshead and Northumberland.  

This ICP has a Forum which is formed of Chief Executives and Accountable Officers 
of each organisation. The strategic ICP priorities agreed by the North ICP Forum are 
as follows: 

• Climate change and sustainability 
• Workforce, Employment, and skills 
• Healthcare Prevention 

The Forum has identified climate change and sustainability as one of three top 
priorities for the area. Climate change organisational leads have been identified with 
a view to sharing best practice and are working on opportunities for local supply, 
sustainability issues and identification of priority areas for joint working. 

In the North Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) we seek to ensure that all initiatives 
consider sustainability and the impact on environment.  
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Programmes 
of work 
 

 

 

 

 
  

In this section we describe the main programmes of work which we undertook 
during 2020/21, taking into account our vision and priorities, as well as using 
the information contained in the North Tyneside Health & Well-being Overview 
section above to inform our work. 
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The NHS Long Term Plan 
Launched in 2019, the national NHS Long Term Plan is focused on improving the 
quality of patient care and health outcomes. Its aim is to build an NHS fit for the 
future by enabling everyone to get the best start in life, helping communities to live 
well, and helping people to age well. 

The Long-Term Plan aims to improve outcomes for major diseases, including 
cancer, heart disease, stroke, respiratory disease, and dementia, and also includes 
measures to: 

• Improve out-of-hospital care, supporting primary medical and community health 
services. 

• Ensure all children get the best start in life by continuing to improve maternity 
safety including halving the number of stillbirths, maternal and neonatal deaths, 
and serious brain injury by 2025. 

• Support older people through more personalised care and stronger community 
and primary care services. 

• Make digital health services a mainstream part of the NHS, so that in 5 years, 
patients in England will be able to access a digital GP offer. 

To find out more see the NHS Long Term Plan website. 
 

Future Care 
In 2019, the CCG and its partners co-produced a vision for the future of health and 
care services in North Tyneside, which is called Future Care. It is a model of care 
which builds on existing services and developmental work, to deliver care closer to 
home, designed to meet the needs of patients across North Tyneside. 

During 2020/21, the CCG and partners continued to develop our North Tyneside 
Place Based Transformation Plan which describes the programmes of work for the 
period August 2020 to March 2022, recognising the impact the COVID-19 pandemic 
has had, and continues to have on the needs of our population.  

There are a number of influences on how services will or can be provided in the 
future, some national and some local, particularly because of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  While there are certainly challenges to be faced and overcome, there is 
also an opportunity to realise and embed some positive changes that were 
introduced in response to the pandemic. Where applicable, we have described these 
positive benefits in the Transformation Plan, as well as outlined other developments 
we wish to make as a system. 

http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
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We describe Future Care as North Tyneside’s transformation programme which aims 
to: 

• Deliver population health and wellbeing 
• Deliver high quality, coordinated care 
• Improve quality of life and experience of services 
• Support and empower staff 
• Provide effective stewardship of resources 

The vision is to deliver a patient-centred sustainable health and social care system. 
A lifespan model of transformation has been developed along with major 
transformation programmes. A number of key enablers are also described such as 
workforce and IT. 

The North Tyneside Future Care Executive oversees the direction, development, and 
delivery of Future Care in North Tyneside. The Future Care Executive oversees the 
place-based commissioning system in line with the NHS Long Term Plan. 

The Future Care Executive: 

• Provides oversight of the delivery of Future Care Programmes 
• Receives reports from the Future Care Programme Board and monitors progress 

in implementing key milestones 
• Acts as a strategic system enabler 

Influences the development of sustainable system delivery model in the form of an 
ICP. 

The multiagency Future Care Programme Board involves all of the NHS foundation 
trusts working in North Tyneside, the ambulance service, TyneHealth GP Federation, 
North Tyneside Council, Public Health, GP practice representatives, VODA, 
HealthWatch, patient representatives, the independent sector and the CCG itself.  

This group provides oversight and governance to the operational aspects of the 
Future Care programme. 

The work of Future Care reports to the Health & Wellbeing Board and aligns to its 
work programme. There are several overarching themes to the Future Care work 
programme: 

• A healthy start in life 
• Living Well in North Tyneside 
• Ageing Well in North Tyneside 
• Mental Health transformation 

Underneath these themes are a number of sub-groups. More detail on these 
programmes of work and the work of the sub-groups are described in the following 
pages. 
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Voluntary services 
Better Together 
The CCG recognises the voluntary and community sector (VCS) as an essential part 
of the health and social care system. VCS organisations work with some of our most 
marginalised communities, providing services that are responsive, innovative and 
user-led.  

The work of VCS organisations makes a significant contribution to key priorities such 
as health and wellbeing, democracy, the environment, employability and tackling 
loneliness. The VCS in North Tyneside consists of more than 550 groups, clubs, 
charities, and other organisations, with a combined income of over £57m per year. 
2,165 people are employed by the sector, representing 2.2% of the local workforce. 

The Better Together Strategy sets out how North Tyneside Council, North Tyneside 
CCG and the VCS will work together to build strong and sustainable partnerships 
that makes North Tyneside a better place to live, work and visit.   

The strategy sets out the ambition to maximise and make best use of collective 
resources and new ways of working that build capacity and a culture of collaboration 
and co-production. We believe that by working better together, and by developing a 
stronger system and culture of partnership working, we can significantly improve 
outcomes for some of our most vulnerable residents. 

The CCG VCS Grants Programme 
The VCS Grants Programme recognises the important role that voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) organisations can play in improving health and wellbeing 
outcomes for local people. 

The programme funds organisations that have a track record of working in North 
Tyneside to deliver against the following priority areas: 

• Promoting wellbeing and preventative healthcare 
• Promoting self-care and self-management 
• Reducing health inequalities 

Grants were awarded to a diverse range of local organisations working at grassroots 
level. Over the last year they have all dealt admirably with the challenges of the 
pandemic and continued to provide activities and support to the residents of North 
Tyneside in new and innovative ways in order to tackle issues like mental health, 
social isolation and domestic abuse. 

The CCG has also, in response to the pandemic, agreed to increased VCS Grant 
Programme funding by £80,000 in 2021/22 so it can continue to fund four of its 
existing small grant projects for another year. 
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Carers services and support 
During 2020/21, North Tyneside CCG has worked with members of the North 
Tyneside Carers Partnership Board to understand the impact of the pandemic on 
carers.  

Carers experiences 
during lockdown were 
presented to the Future 
Care Programme Board 
by the Carers’ Centre 
and Healthwatch. It was 
widely recognised that 
the pandemic was 
significantly impacting 
on carers’ wellbeing 
and many were 
reaching breaking point. 
Resources were 
developed and shared 
across health, 
education, and social 
care to help professionals understand the impact on carers and the support they 
could provide to reduce this.  Social media campaigns targeted the general public to 
reach people who did not recognise themselves as carers - to encourage them to 
access support. 

During the year the Carers Partnership Board also reviewed and updated the ‘North 
Tyneside Commitment to Carers’ document, to reflect the impact of the pandemic 
and carers needs. The document aims to recognise the vital contribution of carers 
providing invaluable care for loved ones and sets out the work of the Board and how 
the partners will respond to the needs of carers of all ages. 

The ‘Commitment to Carers’ document is overseen by the North Tyneside 
Partnership Board which in now in its third year. The Partnership Board, chaired by 
the CCG, brings together key partners including NHS Foundation Trusts, adult social 
care, education, child services, the Carers Centre and Healthwatch.  

The role of the North Tyneside Partnership Board is to ensure collective and 
individual responsibility within the North Tyneside health and social care system in 
meeting the statutory duties in support of carers and improve carers’ experience, 
ensuring that they are safeguarded and their welfare is promoted. 

It is also relevant to note that the Carers Centre is represented on the Future Care 
Programme Board recognising the essential input that is required from a carer 
perspective into service development and programmes of work. 
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Key achievements in 2020/21 

• Raised awareness of the impact of the pandemic on carers of all ages with 
professionals working across health, education, and social care. 

• Recognised the gap in support services for parent carers and the CCG is working 
with statutory partners to address this. 

• Worked in partnership with the Carers’ Centre and Primary Care Networks to 
ensure all carers receive the COVID-19 vaccination within priority group 6 and 
increase the number of carers registered with the Carers’ Centre. 

• Further development of the GP Carers Award Scheme to support Primary Care to 
identify and support more carers.  

• The CCG has also contributed to those services that continue to provide 
emotional support to carers including those caring for people with mental health 
conditions and young carers. 

 

Primary care services and Primary Care 
Networks  
General 

The aim of the five-year GP contract 
framework, agreed in 2019, is to stabilise 
general practice and allow it to be a key 
vehicle for delivering many of the 
commitments in the NHS Long Term Plan.  

To progress this agenda, an update to the 
contract and the voluntary contract 
extension was negotiated between NHS 
England and the British Medical Association’s general practice committee (GPC) and 
published in February 2020. This included: 

• The voluntary contract extension Direct Enhanced Service (DES), was developed 
along with service specifications and offered to general practices coming together 
as primary care networks (PCNs), supporting the aim to provide a wider range of 
services to patients locally. 

• An increase in the scale and ambition of the new roles being brought into general 
practice to expand the primary care team, supported by the Additional Roles 
Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS). 
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• Aims to address the serious shortage of GPs, particularly in more deprived areas, 
with a range of changes to support training, recruitment, and retention. 

• Commitment to improving access by delivering 50 million more appointments in 
general practice.  

• A new 'Investment and Impact Fund' to incentivise and reward for PCNs delivering 
objectives set. 

COVID-19 has led to several challenges in implementing the contract for 2020/21, 
with certain elements being postponed or amended considering the immediate 
pressures faced by general practice in dealing with the pandemic. 

At the time of writing there are currently 25 practices with 8 additional branch sites in 
North Tyneside CCG area. During the past year there have been no practice 
mergers, additions, or closures.  

Primary Care Networks  

While GP practices have been finding different ways of working together over many 
years, the NHS Long-Term Plan and the new five-year framework for the GP 
contract, published in January 2019, put a more formal structure around this way of 
working, establishing Primary Care Networks (PCNs). The development of the PCNs 
was a natural progression from the well-established four primary care Locality 
Groups of GP Practices that had been working in North Tyneside for several years. 

2019/20 saw the start of the foundation work for PCNs in North Tyneside, this was 
spilt into three phases:  

1. PCN registration and mobilisation  
2. Development of PCN provided services 
3. Development of the wider network (Living Well Locally)  

The first phase resulted in four PCNs successfully being formed in North Tyneside 
back in July 2019. These have remained in place in 2020/21: 

PCN Number of practices Combined list size 

Wallsend 4 40,667 

North Shields 5 56,668 

Whitely Bay 7 51,999 

North West North Tyneside 9 73,492 

Total 25 222,826 
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Table 5:  List and practice size figures from January 2021 

Phase two, 'the development of PCN provided services', has progressed in 2020/21 
in order to support the PCNs to deliver the Network Contract DES (Direct Enhanced 
Services) including a set of seven national service specifications. Three of these 
seven specifications started in 2020/21:  

• Structured Medication Reviews and Medicines Optimisation - Structured 
Medicine Reviews (SMRs) are an evidence-based and comprehensive review of a 
patient’s medication, taking into consideration all aspects of their health. The aim 
of Medicines Optimisation service is to reduce inappropriate prescribing. 

• Enhanced health in care homes –  
To strengthen and support the people 
who live and work in and around care 
homes. In North Tyneside this continues 
the Locally Enhanced Services already 
in place, with each care home being 
aligned to a practice and having a 
named clinical lead.  Within each care 
home there is a weekly ‘home round’ or 
‘check in’ with residents prioritised for 
review based on MDT clinical judgement and care home advice. 

• Supporting early cancer diagnosis - Cancer survival rates in England are 
higher than ever and earlier diagnosis is a key part of improving survival rates 
further. 

A further four are also set to follow - anticipatory care (with community services), 
personalised care, cardiovascular disease case-finding, and locally agreed action to 
tackle inequalities. 

The third phase, 'the development of the wider network' has also continued into 
2020/21 and in North Tyneside this is largely covered through, Living Well Locally 
plans and activity. Each PCN has developed a Living Well Locally plan. However, 
the implementation has been delayed in the main, as a result of COVID-19. Many 
local providers have had to change their operating models, access, and delivery. 
Work continues in the background to ensure that as and when safe and practical 
plans can evolve and continue. 

To develop in line with the aforementioned ambitions (services and integrated 
networks) PCNs are finding that they need to provide a wider range of primary care 
services to patients, involving a wider set of staff roles than might be feasible in 
individual practices.  The Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS), part of 
the directed enhanced services payment contract, has funded much of the cost of 
the specific new clinical roles. Networks can currently receive full reimbursement of 
salary and on-costs for 12 different additional roles including clinical pharmacists, 
social prescribing link workers, nursing associates and physiotherapists. In North 
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Tyneside this has resulted in over 40 full time equivalent (FTE) roles (in the main 
pharmacy, physiotherapy, and social prescribing) this year with a further 20 or so in 
plan. 

COVID-19 response 
There has been a significant change in the way practices work in response to 
COVID-19 to ensure continuity of service delivery for patients whilst protecting front 
line staff. The initial amount of guidance in relation to Primary Care was extensive 
and a daily bulletin from the CCG to practices helped to synthesise this and define 
priorities for delivery. The CCG, in partnership with all member practices, has 
ensured that the following key areas were put in place: 

Total triage of all patients  

Mobile working, telephone, online and video consultation was deployed, with face-to-
face appointments only being made when clinically indicated. North Tyneside was in 
a position to move quickly to adapt to new ways of working as the CCG had already 
undertaken a significant amount of work to deploy mobile technology into GP 
practices. The GP practices made changes to how they worked to successfully 
deliver this way of working including, for example, how they managed clinical 
consultations, used different technology, prescribed medication and sick notes.  

Hot and cold hubs  

Two hot hubs and two cold hubs were set up in North Tyneside to facilitate rapid 
face-to-face appointments once the patients had been triaged. The “hot hubs” saw 
COVID-19 positive or potential COVID-19 positive patients who had other primary 
care needs which needed to be resolved. The cold hubs, along with practices, were 
able to see patients who did not have COVID-19 symptoms. 

Shielded patients  

Lists were drawn up at a national level 
of patients who needed to shield during 
the COVID-19 pandemic to keep them 
safe.  This was usually due to patients 
having a particular condition or 
conditions which made them extremely 
clinically vulnerable to the virus. 
Practices reviewed these lists to keep 
them up to date, based on their 
knowledge and understanding of their 
patients. The list of patients who were 
identified as needing to shield during 
the pandemic were triangulated with those of the local authority and hospitals lists for 
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completeness. GPs ensured that all care and escalation plans for the shielded 
patients were up to date.  

COVID-19 Vaccinations 

The first vaccine was administered in North Tyneside on 15 December 2020. Since 
then, clinicians have worked tirelessly and put in a huge effort and dedication to 
vaccinate priority groups across North Tyneside. We have been at the forefront of 
vaccine rollout, continuously reaching key milestones ahead of schedule and 
achieving excellent feedback from those being vaccinated. As of 18th April 2021, 
North Tyneside had administered over 108,000 COVID-19 vaccines to date in our 
GP-led Local Vaccination Services. These sites are delivered by our four Primary 
Care Networks: North West, North Shields, Wallsend and Whitley Bay. Over 20,000 
North Tyneside residents have also been vaccinated at the National Centers.  

Staff, including District Nurses, Frailty Nurses, GPs, Pharmacists and CCG staff 
have also visited house bound residents and all older adult residential and nursing 
homes to administer vaccinations. 

The CCG has supported the PCNs and practices with practical help and funding on a 
number of areas. This includes providing support to Practices to build resilience in 
the event of staff absence in practices and development of the "Hot Hubs" described 
above. We were also instrumental in coordinating the vaccination roll out and setting 
up local vaccination sites. Support and funding were made available to enable 
modifications to Practice buildings so that they could function in alignment with the 
evolving safety guidelines. Personal protective equipment was made available so 
that staff and patients were safe when being seen face-to-face and also so that 
health reviews and monitoring for chronic conditions could continue safely. 

LIVI 

In line with the requirements of the NHS Long Term 
Plan for GP Practices to offer patients a digital first 
route of access to primary care, the CCG 
commissioned LIVI on a pilot basis. LIVI is a digital 
platform/service that provides the facility for digital 
(video) consultations to all patients across North 
Tyneside. It was also introduced to provide more 
capacity into the system, recognising that GPs did 
not have capacity at the time to offer more 
appointments in the evenings, weekends and on 
bank holidays in addition to their existing workload. This was developed in response 
to patient feedback requesting more ways to access primary care and was 
commissioned in conjunction with the Patient Forum members. The pilot is being 
monitored and evaluated during 2022/23 which will help determine options for the 
future.  
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Education offer for general practices  
The CCG values the importance of education, training, and development (ETD), in 
order to support the delivery of high-quality care on a sustainable basis. There is 
support for a learning culture so that practices can keep up to date, informing 
innovation and improvement, and enhancing care for patients and well-being of staff. 

The offer, of monthly 60-minute education sessions for GPs, was well attended by 
most practices, and individual sessions evaluate well.  

We have been unable to continue with the face-to-face GP Education Programme 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, we were able to continue with the 
programme virtually and from May 2020 we started the programme again by 
providing fortnightly sessions, with all GP Practice staff invited to attend. 

The CCG received some very good feedback from all sessions which have taken 
place. Examples of some of the sessions include:  

• Supporting vulnerable patients  

• Let’s talk about domestic abuse  

• PPE/Infection Control  

• Contraception and Sexual Health in COVID-19 

• Heart Failure 

• COVID-19 in the Community 

• GP Induction 

• Post COVID-19 Mental Health 
 

Children’s and Maternity services 
Women in North Tyneside are served 
by Northumbria Healthcare midwives 
but deliver their babies at both 
Northumbria Specialist Emergency 
Care Hospital (NSECH) and Royal 
Victoria Infirmary (RVI) in Newcastle.  

All women are offered the choice of 
where to deliver their baby at their 
booking appointment – NSECH or 
RVI, consultant-led or midwife-led, or 
at home – and they can change this 
as their pregnancy progresses. 
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Women receive personalised care and are involved in decisions about their 
care. Women are also supported to feed their babies in their preferred way, including 
breastfeeding. 

A key document in relation to children and young people's services is the newly 
published The North Tyneside Children and Young People’s Plan 2021-2025. The 
Plan sets out the strategic framework and partnership priorities to ensure that all 
children in North Tyneside are able to achieve their full potential. The Plan has been 
developed by North Tyneside Council in partnership with key stakeholders and 
organisations and it forms part of the North Tyneside Future Care.   

The collective vision for children and young people in North Tyneside is:  

“Making North Tyneside an even greater place for children and young people 
to thrive; where all, including those who are vulnerable, disadvantaged or 
disabled, are ready for school, ready for work and life, cared for and 
supported.” 

The Plan focuses on delivering improved outcomes for all children and young people 
up to the age of 19 years, and those young people aged up to 25 years who are care 
leavers, have special educational needs or a disability and live in the borough. It also 
acts as the Child Poverty Strategy for North Tyneside. 
 

Maternity performance 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

Neonatal mortality and stillbirths G 

  

Women’s experience of maternity services G 

  

Choices in maternity services A 

The CCG achieved a rate of 66.2% in 2019 for maternity choices and was 
assessed as in the lower performing quartile nationally.  This indicator is a 
composite value, calculated as the average of six survey questions from 
the CQC Maternity Survey.  Northumbria Healthcare FT delivers all of our 
community midwifery care regardless of where our pregnant ladies go on to 
deliver their babies.  Although these results are lower than the national 
average, Northumbria Healthcare FT conducts its own maternity survey 
where it consistently scores 9 out of 10. 
 

` 
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Children in Care (also known as Looked after Children) 
Health Skills Project 
The CCG led a project to develop an interactive tool (MyHealth) to support children 
and young people during their statutory heath assessments. The project began when 
it was highlighted by care experienced young people and key staff in the local 
authority that a number of young people were leaving care without the necessary 
skills to be able to manage some basic health needs, such as making health 
appointments, managing prescriptions or knowing the most appropriate health 
services to access when needed. Some work did start with young people, but the 
COVID-19 pandemic halted its progress. It is a priority for 2021/22 as a great deal of 
time has been invested in it and a recent survey of North Tyneside Care Leavers by 
New Belongings and CORAM VOICE continue to highlight this as an issue.  

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 0-25 years 

The Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) for SEND has continued to engage with North 
Tyneside Youth Forum on key priorities, including promoting Annual Health Checks 
for young people with a learning disability aged 14 and over. The Forum has 
contributed its ideas which have informed the CCG Action Plan and is continuing to 
liaise with the DCO and peers across their networks via virtual means during 
lockdown restrictions. The Forum designed a questionnaire to gather views and 
experiences of young people who attend a special school sixth form, short break 
care provision and residential homes, as well as the Joint Special School Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
DCO with SEND 
Youth Forum 
members  

 Maternal smoking at delivery G 
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The young people’s views were shared with the CCG and work continues to 
increase uptake. 

 
 

The DCO met with the Youth Forum virtually in February 2021 to capture their 
experiences of accessing health services during the pandemic across acute, primary 
and community settings. The feedback was very positive in relation to accessing 
health care and therapeutic support. They did however express their sadness and 
frustration around lack of contact with friends, social isolation, and some anxieties 
around their safety in relation to the COVID-19 virus, particularly those who were in 
the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable group. The DCO will continue to work with the 
SEND Youth Forum and their peer networks to capture their views to shape service 
development and to address any issues or concerns. 

The CCG is also continuing to work closely with the North Tyneside Parent Carer 
Forum across the SEND Partnership.  

Together with the North Tyneside Local Authority the CCG has jointly commissioned 
a SEND participation post. This will ensure children and young people with a special 
education need and or disability have access to high quality participation 
opportunities ensuring they are able to influence service improvement.  

North Tyneside CCG led the development of a multi-agency basic SEND e-learning 
package to raise awareness of statutory duties and how to best meet the needs of 
children and families with SEND. The work was co-produced with North Tyneside 
Parent Carer Forum and colleagues across health education and social care 
services.  
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Mental Health 
Addressing Mental Health needs continues to be one of the CCG's main priorities, 
especially in light of the pandemic. Mental health demand modelling predicts that up 
to 20% of the population will need either new or additional mental health support as 
a direct consequence of the pandemic.  

Children and Young People 
There are particular concerns 
regarding the impact of COVID-
19 on children and young 
people's mental health and 
therefore there has been a 
significant focus on developing 
robust provision that will 
promote resilience and self-
management as well as 
enhancing service provision 
where needed. 

The CCG had provided further financial investment to Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Trust to improve the neurodevelopmental pathways for children and young people. 
We continue to work collaboratively with the Trust to enable the Trust to deliver an 
agreed action plan to ensure that access requirements are met.  

As well as secondary level provision, we are building on being in a unique position in 
England of having a Strategic Alliance with Barnardos which has a focus on 
prevention and early intervention. The Barnardos Strategic Alliance is in its second 
year in North Tyneside. It is a long-term strategic alliance to improve outcomes for 
children and young people, focusing on mental health and wellbeing.  It involves key 
stakeholders including the CCG and Local Authority and feeds into the North 
Tyneside Children and Young People’s Plan 2021-2025 joint work. The Strategic 
Alliance will test different care models and make changes to the care system.  

Through the Alliance, a number of early intervention projects have been developed 
which we describe below. 

Friends Resilience  

Friends Resilience is a programme that teaches people coping skills to help reduce 
anxiety, depression, and stress. There is a focus on gratitude, making brave choices 
and kindness. This is being targeted at both primary and secondary children, parents 
and carers. 
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Let's Help Every Child Thrive  

Let's Help Every Child Thrive is an intervention for use in schools that supports 
children and young people who have emotional difficulties. It helps to build 
relationships by using a range of nurturing activities. This has been embedded in 
primary schools and is now being rolled out to middle and secondary schools.  

Sleep Awareness Training  

A number of professionals have been trained to work with families to support with 
sleep programmes.  

Family Practitioners in CAMHS  

Two family partners have joined CAMHS to offer support to families that have been 
referred to CAMHS but don't meet the threshold for a service. Many families have 
already benefitted from the support from family partners' input.  

Mental Health First Aid Training  

Mental Health First Aid Training helps people recognise the signs of mental health 
difficulties and have strategies for managing or referring on to other services. 16 pilot 
schools have begun to start training staff.  

Virtual Reality Headsets 

Virtual Reality Headsets are being used as a training tool that supports professionals 
to understand the impact of adverse childhood experiences and the best approach to 
support children and young people. The first group of trainers have been trained to 
us the headsets and this will continue to be rolled out over the next year.  

Children's Wellbeing Practitioners  

Three Children Wellbeing Practitioners have been recruited and have begun their 
training. They will work across schools to run support groups, provide interventions 
for mild to moderate anxiety and low mood. The model is based on guided self-help 
and supports children, young people and families.  

Children & People Recovery College  

We have worked as a system across North Tyneside to support the voluntary sector 
(the lead agency being VODA), to develop the concept of a Young Persons 
Recovery College. The aim of the Young Persons Recovery College is to help young 
people feel more confident in managing their own mental health and wellbeing. 
Engagement and consultation are key to the successful implementation of the 
college. VODA have begun to coordinate a voluntary sector alliance to discuss 
delivery and have begun consultation with a diverse range of young people including 
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the children in care council, the young mayor and the youth council committee and 
partners across the system. Delivery of the college will commence over the next few 
months into 2021/22 and impact of effectiveness will be constantly monitored.  

Positive Behavioural Support for Children and Young People with Autism  

During 2020/2021, the CCG continued to work closely with CAMHS on their service 
delivery. An area that had been identified as a gap in provision is behavioural 
support for children and young people with autism. A new pathway is being 
developed to support children and young people with Autism Spectrum Disorders 
with behaviours that challenge. The model will use evidence-based interventions 
with appropriate reasonable adjustments to provide intense behavioural and 
therapeutic interventions. 
 

Working Age Adults  

Community Mental Health Transformation  

In line with the ambitions of the Long-
Term Plan, we are establishing new 
and integrated models of primary and 
community mental health care to 
support adults and older adults who 
have severe mental illnesses. This will 
be achieved by 2023/24, so that 
people will have greater choice and 
control over their care and be 
supported to live well in their 
communities. We have developed an 
inclusive local partnership that has 
established co-produced principles for 
change. Implementation of our 
ambitious transformation plan will 
commence in 2021/22.  

Talking Therapies/Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

The nationally set target for the number of people in CCGs populations to access 
IAPT services increased again in 2020/21. However, as with many other NHS 
services there was a reduction in referrals in the first part of the year due to the 
pandemic. More recently, as predicted due to the impact of the pandemic on 
people's mental health, the Talking Therapies service has seen an increase demand 
for step 3 & 4 service provision, which are more intensive levels of mental health 
support. The CCG therefore made additional recurrent investment into the service to 
increase the workforce in line with the increased demand.  
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Psychological Intervention Pathway Review  

Given the challenges of the nationally set access targets and the impact of a number 
of different ways that psychological therapies are being delivered across North 
Tyneside, we worked with the Integrated Care System to undertake a review of the 
various psychological intervention pathways. A draft report highlights positive 
evidence based collaborative practice across the borough and emphases how 
adaptable services became during the pandemic. It also reports an overall 
satisfaction from people who use the services. However, we still have work to do on 
truly integrated services. The report will inform our ambitious community mental 
health transformation programme to ensure mental health needs are met in a 
seamless and timely way.  

Understanding the Role of Traumatic Experiences in the Mental Health of 
North Tyneside Residents 
Various mental health services have been telling us for a while that there is a 
significant number of people in North Tyneside who have experienced a level of 
trauma. As the reasons for this are unclear, we are undertaking a piece of research 
to understand this better, which will help us to plan appropriate services to meet 
need. The outcome of this research will also inform our community mental health 
transformation plans.  
 

Older People’s Mental Health 
The Mental Wellbeing in Later 
Life Board (MWLLB) continues 
to promote older persons 
mental health in a way that 
complements current ways of 
working.  

This Board continues to work 
closely with and influence other 
Boards within the CCG namely 
the Carer's Partnership Board, 
Ageing Well Board and Living 
Well Locally Board to ensure 
that Standards of Dementia Care and Mental Health within North Tyneside impact 
upon strategic decision making. This also reinforces our commitment to work 
collaboratively.  

The clinical leads for the Older Persons Mental Well-Being Strategy are actively 
involved in the Mental Health Transformation agenda and are working alongside 
mental health colleagues to ensure we improve and integrate mental health care for 
persons of all ages. We are considering current and future pathways of care and the 
evidence base for older people. For example, eating disorders, personality disorders 
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etc, whether there needs to be a different approach for older people in relation to the 
way we target interventions.  

One of our priorities within the Older Persons Mental-Well Being Strategy was to 
increase access to psychological support for older persons. We continue to achieve 
this by further psychology investment within secondary care services. 

The Admiral Nurse Service (ANS) has provided invaluable support for Carers 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. We are thoughtfully mindful of the effect that 
the virus has had on older people at home and in care settings. The role of family in 
looking after someone with dementia is key as they provide essential emotional 
support during times the person might be distressed or disorientated. The dementia 
specialist Admiral Nurses locally and on the national Helpline have taken calls 
throughout lockdown from desperate relatives, unable to visit the person they love. 
Many have been unable to see or speak to their relative at all and this can be 
catastrophic for a person with dementia, for whom familiarity and routine are very 
important. 

Healthwatch North Tyneside undertook a review of people's experience of Memory 
Assessment and Management Services aimed to gather patient and carer input to 
help improve the pathway, as well as inform future commissioning decisions. This 
has resulted in ambitious plans being developed to improve pre-diagnostic support 
for people with mild cognitive problems and improve post diagnostic support. 

Mental health performance 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies – Recovery G 

  

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) – Access A 

The CCG achieved 3.6% against a standard of 5.9% and therefore did 
not achieve the standard for Qtr. 4, 2020/21. The CCG has 
commissioned the ICS to carry out a psychological intervention pathway 
review across North Tyneside, the aim of the review is to highlight areas 
for improvement and identify areas of positive practice which could be 
built on to strengthen the psychological intervention pathway in North 
Tyneside. A draft report is with commissioners and the recommendations 
will inform the Community Mental Health Transformation programme. 

 

Early intervention of psychosis (EIP) G 
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Learning disabilities and neurodiversity 
services 
The CCG is committed to 
ensuring high quality of care for 
children and adults with a 
learning disability, autism, or 
both.  

The Learning Disability and 
Autism Framework for 
Commissioner Oversight Visits 
to Inpatients has been 
embedded within the CCG. This 
ensures that when a person with a learning disability and or autism or both is 
admitted to inpatient mental health or learning disability services, they are visited by 
a member of the commissioning team every 6 weeks if they are under 18 years old 
or at least every 8 weeks if they are over 18. The purpose of the visits is to hear from 
the person about their experience of their day-to-day care, including any concerns or 
worries the person may have. These visits are in addition to all over care team 
meetings.  

Mental health out of area placements G 

 ` 

Estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia A 

The CCG achieved 65.1% against a standard of 67.8% and therefore did 
not achieve the standard for March 2020/21.  Although the CCG did not 
achieve the standard, the rate of 65.1% is above the national average of 
61.6 for March 2021.  Referral numbers to the service during the COVID-
19 pandemic has been lower than previous years but are increasing as 
lockdown measures ease.  Extra sessions have been put on to ensure 
patients are assessed in a COVID-19 safe way and home visits are 
being offered to patients to undertake timely assessment and the 
average diagnosis pathways remains 6 - 8 weeks which is in line with 
pre-COVID-19 expectations. 

 

Dementia care planning and post-diagnostic support G 
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We continue to work closely with our Primary Care Networks and partners to tackle 
the cause of morbidity and preventable deaths of people with a learning disability. 
This has included: 

• Providing guidance to GP practices on how to deliver annual health checks 
despite COVID-19.  

• Actively promoting though social media the importance of annual health checks.  

• Cancer screenings and the COVID-19 vaccines.  

Through collaboration with the local authority, we ensured that all providers who 
support people with learning disabilities facilitated access to and actively encouraged 
people to attend the GPs for their annual health checks and screening appointments. 
This has led to a significant increase in the overall number of annual health checks 
that people with learning disabilities received. We are continuing to focus on this 
work into 2021/22. 

Together with colleagues from neighbouring CCGs, we have undertaken a review of 
three inpatient pathways. These are the assessment and treatment pathway, the 
forensic pathway, and the autism pathway. This aim of the review was to ensure the 
delivery of quality services that meet need and are evidenced based.  

Unfortunately, partly due to COVID-19 and not being able to provide face to face 
sessions, there has been an increase in waiting times to access Cygnet, which is a 
post diagnostic support course for children and families. Therefore, the CCG has 
provided funding for additional courses that can be delivered in a blended way, either 
face to face or virtually.  

Learning Disabilities performance 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

Reliance on inpatient care for people with a learning disability and/or 
autism 

G 

 ` 

Proportion of people with a learning disability on the GP register 
receiving an annual health check 

G 

  

Completeness of the GP learning disability register G 
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Planned care 
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on planned care service provision 
in North Tyneside and, indeed, across the country. It was nationally mandated 
towards the beginning of the pandemic that the bulk of elective care services would 
be suspended whilst efforts were diverted in secondary care to manage COVID-19 
positive patients in hospital. This meant that waiting lists and waiting times for 
access to surgical and outpatient appointments have grown during 2020/21. It is 
worth noting that urgent referrals and the bulk of cancer services continued, where it 
was clinically appropriate and safe to do so. 

The CCG has worked very closely with acute trusts during the pandemic to try to 
maintain services where possible and to begin the process to step back up those 
services which had been suspended.  

Advice & Guidance / Referral Assessment Services 

The CCG has worked closely with acute trusts to ensure a comprehensive range of 
Advice & Guidance services are available to GPs.  This gives GPs who are seeking 
specialist advice on managing a condition in primary care, or are unsure whether a 
referral is required, an auditable route to timely advice from hospital consultants via 
an electronic system. 

When a referral is required, GPs can now refer to Referral Assessment Services in 
each specialty which allow hospital consultants to assess referrals and decide on 
how quickly they need to be seen or whether they can be managed by advice.  This 
is particularly useful given the extended waits for routine referrals as a result of the 
pandemic, because it ensures that all referrals receive immediate “triage” rather than 
patients waiting a potentially long time for a routine outpatient appointment for a 
more urgent condition. 

Dermatology 

In recognition that delivering dermatology services while following social distance 
guidance is very difficult, the previous teledermatology pilot that had started in 2019 
was reviewed. There was an immediate need to reduce the number of patients 
attending hospitals and to maintain social distancing to reduce the infection rate of 
COVID-19. Traditional dermatology appointments require close proximity between 
patients and clinicians. A telehealth solution was therefore implemented whereby 
each primary care site has a Dermatoscope and dedicated smartphone.  The CCG 
funded this specialist equipment and provided training for staff in GP Practices and 
the service has now been rolled out, initially for 2 week wait urgent referrals for 
suspected cancer, but with the potential to be used much more widely.  
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Safer Shared Care 

Over the last few years, the CCG has considered numerous options for improving 
the safety of shared care drug monitoring across all practices.  Due to its dispersed 
nature, shared care is carried out differently in each practice, and there are issues 
about information flow around the system. The CCG therefore agreed to purchase 
and roll out a software solution to GP Practices called beetrootCOMMUNITY with 
support from the Medicines Optimisation Practice Pharmacy Team. The software 
offers a range of positive benefits including provision of a comprehensive way to 
manage patients irrespective of where they had their immune modifying treatment 
started and a single process for prescribers to be assured that it is safe to prescribe 
repeat requests. It also ensures the appropriate recording of medication into the GP 
electronic patient record.  The new system is in the process of being rolled out into 
North Tyneside GP Practices.  

Consultant to consultant referrals 

There are times when consultants in secondary care refer patients to another 
colleague, within the same speciality or in another specialty, either within the same 
provider or between providers, so called consultant to consultant referrals. During 
2020/21, we have put in place an updated Consultant to Consultant policy to avoid 
unnecessary or inappropriate secondary care referrals, and in order to facilitate 
appropriate referrals without delays to the patient journey and while minimising 
patient inconvenience. It also has the following benefits:  

• Ensuring that patients are seen by the most appropriate clinician to deal with their 
problem. 

• Ensuring those patients with suspected cancer or other urgent problems do not 
have their care or diagnosis delayed. 

• Ensuring consistency with the requirements of the 18-week pathway and 
maintaining patient choice.  

These systems of working are particularly important while working in the pandemic 
situation as we want to minimise clinical risk for patients. 

Independent Sector 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, NHS England put in place a national capacity 
contract with Independent Sector (IS) providers which was to ensure that the NHS 
could use all the IS providers’ capacity for NHS work.  CCG staff, IS providers and 
our acute Trusts all worked closely to make sure that this could happen. All 
organisations involved found this way of working to have been successful and are 
keen to continue with this "whole system" way of working.  Discussions are 
continuing with the IS providers into 2021 building on the positive relationships which 
have developed in the past year. This is particularly important to have additional 
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capacity to manage some of the longer waiting lists for services which have built up 
when NHS services were put on hold to manage the COVID-19 pandemic.    

Ophthalmology 

During the COVID-19 pandemic 
services such as ophthalmology 
have been affected greatly in what 
they have been able to deliver in a 
COVID-19 safe way.  Alongside 
the growing demand for 
ophthalmology services over 
recent years, the pandemic has 
caused the waiting times within 
this speciality to grow significantly.  
In recognition of this growth in 
demand the CCG alongside other CCGs in the ICP have funded Newcastle 
Hospitals to establish a cataract facility on Westgate Road.  This new facility which 
opened in April 2021 has received significant investment for staffing and the facility 
and will be able to treat approximately 1,000 cataract patients per month which will 
be a significant benefit for our patient population.   Other initiatives are also being 
reviewed by Newcastle Hospitals and commissioners to get a greater understanding 
of what areas could support a further reduction in the ophthalmology waiting list by 
implementing them in 2021/22. 

Medicines Optimisation 

During 2020/21 the CCG continued its work to meet the aims of the medicines value 
programme by ensuring efficient and effective use of the CCG’s prescribing budget, 
enabling people to manage their own health, reduce the need for acute intervention, 
maintain independence, support improved medicine-taking behaviour, reduce 
variation and improve outcomes.  

This included: 

• Implementing interventions to support optimal medicine-taking to enhance the 
quality of life and experience of care for people with long term conditions. For 
example, delivering medicine optimisation solutions for patients who are less 
visible to healthcare services but who are becoming frailer, with a reducing ability 
to cope; helping to maintain their independence whilst minimising the risk of harm. 

• Supporting patients intermediate support following discharge from hospital to 
remain as independent as possible through assessment, review and support for 
medicine taking. 

• Continuing to reduce waste within the overall system through increasing use of 
electronic prescribing and electronic repeat dispensing systems. 
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• Working closely with care homes to 
improve medicines ordering systems to 
reduce the risk of missed doses, 
improve communication between care 
home, GP practice and supplying 
community pharmacy. 

• Supporting judicious use of antibiotics 
to appropriately manage infections and 
minimise the risk of the development of 
healthcare-acquired infections.  

• Exploring solutions to support population health management tools to target and 
prioritise interventions, make effective use of staffing and prescribing resources, 
appropriate escalation to specialist and deliver better patient outcomes. 

• Supporting prescribers to prescribe appropriately for patients with difficult to treat, 
persistent symptoms, such as persistent pain and respiratory conditions such as 
COPD - reducing the risk of harm, variation in treatment, supporting patients to 
understand their condition and treatment to improve the quality of their care. 

• Supporting local implementation of NICE clinical and technical guidance, 
supporting the development of local integrated pathways and guidance, allied to 
effective horizon scanning. 

• Improving the management of prescribed oral nutrition-optimising treatment 
through the development of an agreed formulary.  

• Establishing working groups to bring partners across North Tyneside together to 
deliver strategic and operational change in medicines optimisation. 

• Supporting the introduction of additional medicines optimisation staffing through 
the development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs). Central funding for PCNs has 
enabled the recruitment, embedding and retention of new staff, helping to build 
capacity and address high workload. 

• Developing new systems to facilitate remote working for many medicines 
optimisation staff to facilitate the continued delivery of care set against the 
backdrop of the pandemic. 

Medicines Values Programme 

The Medicines Values Programme aims to ensure greater value from the NHS £18.2 
billion medicines bill through improving health outcomes, reducing waste, over-
prescribing and over-treatment, and addressing excessive price inflation by drug 
companies.   
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The guidance covers 25 different medicines and is addressed to Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to support them to fulfil their duties around 
appropriate use of their resources.  

The guidance supports CCGs in their decision-making, addresses unwarranted 
variation, and provides clear national advice to make local prescribing practices 
more effective. It does not remove the clinical discretion of the prescriber in 
accordance with their professional duties.  

Across the whole range of medicines covered in the guidance, North Tyneside CCG 
performs very well and is consistently within or well below the lower 50th percentile 
for performance across the combined portfolio of medicines. 

Further information is available online at: 
https://openprescribing.net/measure/lpzomnibus/ccg/99C/#lpzomnibus 
 
 

Planned care performance 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

Referral to treatment times A 

The CCG achieved 75.4% on patients waiting for initial treatment on 
incomplete pathways within 18 weeks against the standard of 92% and 
therefore did not achieve the standard for March 2021.  The 75.4% achieved 
is above the national average of 60.2% for March 2021.  Performance for this 
standard has been severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic with Trusts 
being instructed to pause routine work during the first lockdown across 
England.  Performance across the standard has improved as lockdown 
measures have eased and the COVID-19 vaccination programme has rolled 
out. 

` 

Number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment A 

The CCG had 1,190 patients waiting over 52 weeks for treatment in March 
2021 and therefore did not achieve the standard for March 2021 of zero 
patients.  Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the Trusts being instructed to 
pause routine work during the first lockdown across England, this has 
impacted upon performance.  With some patients being asked to shield and 
some not wanting to attend treatments due to the pandemic, the number of 
long waiters has grown month on month.  With lockdown restrictions easing 
and the vaccination programme rollout, more patients are willing to attend 
treatments which will improve performance in 2021/22.  The main pressured 
specialties are ophthalmology and dermatology. Newcastle FT has a new 

 

https://openprescribing.net/measure/lpzomnibus/ccg/99C/%23lpzomnibus
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Long term conditions 
Personalised care planning continues to be at the core of the CCG's approach 
towards a proactive system of care and support for people with long term conditions. 
A key element of the work undertaken this year is a move away from the previous 
focus on individual diseases and towards a more generic approach in which the 
patient’s goals drive the delivery of care. 

The introduction of universal personalised care as set out in the NHS Long Term 
Plan, and the introduction of Primary Care Networks, has provided the CCG with the 
opportunity to refocus on delivering and supporting the care of people with multi-
morbidity and addressing the inequalities in health that currently exist in North 
Tyneside.  

We now place a greater emphasis on supporting delivery of medicine optimisation 
programmes for people with long term conditions, greater access to social 
prescribing and access for personal health budgets which all help to underpin step-
up supported self- management and personalised care.  

We have worked with VODA, North Tyneside Council, public health colleagues and 
local Primary Care Networks to develop a video providing an overview of health and 
wellbeing in North Tyneside. The video includes interviews and clips from a variety of 
health professionals who discuss long term plans for North Tyneside and how the 
local health and wellbeing community is being supported.  
 

pop-up clinic to undertake cataracts surgeries which will assist in reducing the 
long waiters within ophthalmology.  A new tele-dermatology service pathway 
has been developed for GPs to access advice and guidance and refer to 
consultants in a timely and COVID secure way to improve throughput of 
patients. 

Patients waiting less than 6 weeks for the 15 diagnostic tests A 

The CCG achieved 94.8% in March 2021 for patients waiting less than 6 
weeks for the 15 diagnostic tests which did not achieve the standard of >99%.  
Performance in diagnostic testing has been impacted upon by the COVID-19 
pandemic and the trusts being instructed to pause routine work during the first 
lockdown across England.  With some patients being asked to shield and 
some not wanting to attend appointments for diagnostic tests due to the 
pandemic, the number of long waiters has increased.  At the lowest point, the 
CCG achieved 28.6% in April 2020 during the first lockdown, but performance 
has increased month on month since then.  Both Trusts have outsourced tests 
where they can, to increase capacity. 
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Improving services for people who have a respiratory 
condition 
We have developed a plan 
for respiratory services, 
working with key partners 
including the Respiratory 
RightCare Programme, 
working alongside 
Northumberland CCG and 
Northumbria Healthcare 
Trust.  

However, much of this work 
was put on hold during 
2020/21 due to the COVID-
19 pandemic with a focus on 
other respiratory services 
being established to manage patients' respiratory needs when they have caught the 
virus. Staff who worked in respiratory services worked directly with patients who had 
contracted the virus. 

The CCG worked with Trusts in the area (Gateshead, Northumbria, and Newcastle 
Foundation Trusts) to establish long COVID-19 rehabilitation clinics. These clinics 
give patients access to multi-professional advice and the right clinical pathway(s) to 
treat their symptoms. Patients who were hospitalised already received post-COVID-
19 support, but services expanded in December for people who were living in the 
community or a care home during their acute COVID-19 illness.  The clinics are 
aimed at patients with ongoing significant symptoms lasting more than 3 months 
from either proven or clinically suspected Coronavirus infection.  

The CCG also worked with VODA and GP Practices to establish a pulse oximetry 
@home service. The aim of this service is to identify as early as possible people who 
have contracted the COVID-19 virus whose oxygen levels are reducing to low levels. 
If low oxygen levels can be detected early, treatment can be given which improves 
survival rates, recovery and reduces the length of stay in hospital.  

The COVID-19 Oximetry @home pathway involves the monitoring (of symptoms and 
oxygen saturations) for patients with confirmed/suspected COVID-19 who are at risk 
of future deterioration/ admission, provided within a patient’s own home and 
overseen by their own GP practice in collaboration with 111, North East Ambulance 
Service and Northumbria Healthcare Trust. 

Despite the pandemic, we have started work to develop a North Tyneside spirometry 
diagnostic model for patients at risk of asthma and COPD and we are working with 
partners to plan how this will be implemented.  
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Improving Services for People with Cardiovascular 
Disease 
Following on from an NHS 
England project in GP 
practices, the Atrial 
Fibrillation Optimisation and 
Detection Programme is 
continuing to help GP 
practices identify, risk 
assess, and prescribe 
optimal medication as well as 
help educate patients about 
the condition.  Devices 
(AliveCor) to increase 
detection have been supplied 
to GP Practices, with the 
appropriate training on their 
use.  

We have worked with Tyne & Wear Fire & Rescue Service to promote detection in 
community settings and as part of Safe & Well Checks in patients’ homes. This has 
resulted in the CCG providing AliveCor devices to the Fire & Rescue service. 

The AliveCor devices were also intended to roll out to workplaces to undertake Atrial 
Fibrillation tests along with blood pressure monitoring. This programme, undertaken 
in partnership with Public Health, has started but stalled due to the pandemic. It will 
be picked up again when it is appropriate and timely to do so in a safe manner. 

In relation to heart failure, a review of the heart failure pathway was undertaken in 
partnership with Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. A new pathway was 
developed, and information provided to Practices along with an algorithm for making 
referrals and GP educations sessions have been provided.  

A review of the Familial Hypercholesterolaemia pathway has started but slowed 
down during the pandemic. This pathway is to ensure patients are detected and are 
referred into a specialist Lipids clinic if their cholesterol is found to be above a 
particular level.  These patients will be risk assessed and cascade testing offered to 
ensure this is prevented in future generations. 

We have facilitated a project with Northumbria Healthcare Trust for high-risk lipid 
patients with some of the GP practices in North Tyneside. The project is called Lipid 
Optimisation in Secondary Prevention (LOSP). This is where patients who are not 
responsive to statins but have high cholesterol are assessed by one of the Trusts 
pharmacists for a particular inhibitor therapy called PSCK9 inhibitor therapy.  

A breathlessness guide for GPs and referral form have also been developed and 
disseminated to practices. 
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Improving Services for People with Diabetes 
We wanted to increase the 
uptake of the NHS Diabetes 
Prevention Programme (NDPP) 
by working with General 
Practices in North Tyneside. A 
new provider was commissioned 
to run the NDPP in April 2020 
and is now delivering the 
programme in the area. Part of 
this work was to promote the 
programme more in practices 
and to enable patients with 
diabetes to self-refer to the 
programme, following discussion with a GP. We have noticed through our analysis 
that the number of people who self-refer remain quite low so more discussion will 
take place with GPs and Practice Nurses to increase awareness of the programme.  

We also undertook a review of structured education provision for people with type 1 
diabetes (DAFNE) and re-procured structured education for type 2 diabetes. More 
Type 1 diabetes structured education is now available online for patients.  

We also wanted to provide a dedicated diabetes structured education programme for 
people with learning disabilities. The CCG worked with a voluntary sector 
organisation to agree a programme for delivery which will begin roll out in Spring 
2021.  

The CCG had previously commissioned a diabetes remission service on a pilot 
basis. We undertook an evaluation of that service, the North Tyneside Diabetes 
Remission Service pilot, to inform future commissioning intentions. Public Health 
England is undertaking a national pilot of diabetes remission and we will learn from 
this to determine how it can be rolled out in North Tyneside following the pilot.  

NHS RightCare 
NHS RightCare is a national NHS England supported programme committed to 
delivering the best care to patients, making the NHS’s money go as far as possible 
and improving patient outcomes.   

As a Wave 1 NHS RightCare site, North Tyneside CCG has been submitting 
Evaluation Plans to NHS RightCare since October 2016. Since then, the CCG has 
undertaken a significant amount of transformation work as part of its Quality 
Improvement Performance and Production (QIPP) schemes and NHS RightCare has 
been a key part of this.   

The 2018 submission offered the opportunity for the CCG to reflect on its NHS 
RightCare priorities and the work undertaken over the past two years, as well as 
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consider how we would like 
to take the priorities 
forward.  Following 
discussions, it was agreed 
that North Tyneside CCG 
would continue with its 
existing NHS RightCare 
Evaluation Plans. These 
are: 

• Respiratory services in 
North Tyneside to 
improve the pathway for 
accessing services and 
receiving treatment. 

• Trauma and injury (focusing on work around reducing the number of people who 
fall in North Tyneside due to a health-related issues). 

• Gastroenterology services to improve the pathway for accessing services and 
receiving treatment. 

• Medicines optimisation to ensure efficient and effective use of the CCG’s 
prescribing budget, enabling people to manage their own health, reduce the need 
for acute intervention, maintain independence, support improved medicine-taking 
behaviour, reduce variation, and improve outcomes. 

• Managing patients with complex needs offering a robust alternative service to 
reduce frequent user activity (usually to A&E and non-elective admissions) and 
also other avoidable unscheduled care contacts. 

 
The NHS RightCare work is undertaken in partnership with Northumbria Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust and several of the NHS RightCare groups are led jointly with 
Northumberland CCG. 

Better Care Fund 
The North Tyneside Better Care Fund plan will take the North Tyneside health and 
care system closer to the goal of health and social care integration through a range 
of services aiming to maintain people in their own homes and avoiding hospital 
admission when possible.  

This includes integration of reablement, immediate response and overnight home 
care services, intermediate care services, improving the coordination of mental and 
physical healthcare services and 24/7 crisis support. 

The 2020/21 plan continued to build on the previous plan and met the national 
requirements required of the Better Care Fund.  
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Cancer services 
As we have mentioned 
earlier in this document, 
cancer remains the most 
significant cause of 
premature mortality in 
North Tyneside with 876 
deaths between 2017 and 
2019. 

The NHS Long Term Plan 
sets out a wide range of 
specific steps designed to 
increase prevention, speed 
up diagnosis, improve the 
experience of patients and 
help people living with and  
beyond the disease. 

North Tyneside CCG continues to work closely with Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne NHS Foundation Trust, the North Tyneside 
Public Health Team, and the Voluntary Sector towards achieving the key milestones 
set out in the NHS Long Term Plan. During 2020/21, we have worked on several 
initiatives and measures aimed at achieving the Long-Term Plan requirements and 
delivering improved services and outcomes for patients.  

During the COVID-19 pandemic the hospitals providing cancer services were able to 
continue to provide urgent cancer services. However, of concern was the drop in 
people with suspected cancer being referred to hospitals during the height of the 
pandemic. Over the last few months of 2020/21, referral rates started to rise again 
and are now at or close to the pre-pandemic levels.  

It is also worth noting that during the second wave of the pandemic, both Newcastle 
Hospitals Trust and Northumbria Healthcare Trust offered mutual aid to other parts 
of the country. This included admitting patients who had cancer into hospital for 
treatment.  

Faecal Immunochemical Test (FIT Test) 

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on lower Gastrointestinal (GI) 
referral pathways and a concomitant reduction in the ability of providers to meet pre-
COVID-19 demand.  It was therefore recognised that post-COVID-19, significant 
changes to the referral process for lower GI would be needed if sustainability and 
achievement of the 2 week wait referral pathway is to be sustained and improved. 

FIT testing is a bowel cancer test. The test finds if there is hidden blood in the stool, 
known as faecal occult blood (FOB), which can be an early sign of colorectal cancer. 
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The CCG therefore agreed to implement a standardised approach to identifying 
patients suitable for the FIT test. It is available for patients on the 2-week cancer 
pathway as well as low risk symptomatic patients and the CCG commissions the 
service based at Gateshead Foundation Trust. This would not only bring about 
financial efficiencies in the system but will also provide a safer, more efficient 
pathway. Test results will be provided earlier and the number of colonoscopies within 
the lower GI pathway will be significant reduced.  

Colorectal Stratified Follow up 

Stratified follow up means patients, following treatment, are individually identified to 
self-manage their condition with back up from the clinical team and access to remote 
monitoring and re-entry pathways. A needs assessment is carried out and an 
individual care plan drawn up to address the needs of these individuals aimed at 
minimising risk and support to manage on-going conditions.  Across the North ICP, 
the pathway for colorectal cancer was identified as being appropriate stratified follow 
up. This pathway was developed during 2020/21 involving North Tyneside, 
Northumberland and Newcastle Gateshead CCGs as well as both Northumbria 
Healthcare Trust and Newcastle Hospitals Trust.  Various issues, such as how to 
manage taking bloods from patients, were reviewed and new systems were agreed. 
The new pathway will roll-out during 2022/23. 

Lung Cancer Case Finding 

Diagnosing people faster and earlier is one of the most effective ways to identify 
cancer. In North Tyneside around 52% of cancers are detected in stages 1 and 2. 
However we know detection rates for lung cancer are mostly detected at stages 3  
or 4.  

The CCG has been working with the Northern Cancer Alliance on new approaches 
for referring and diagnosing lung cancer more quickly and prioritise the rapid 
adoption of a new early diagnosis technique through the commissioning of a lung 
cancer case finding programme. This involves working with our colleagues in primary 
care in identifying those patients eligible for a new screening programme that 
involves the use of low dose CT scanning.  

The early detection lung cancer case finding pilot has started in the Wallsend area of 
North Tyneside in December 2020. The GP Practices in that area, Northumbria 
Healthcare Trust and CCG are working closely together to review the pilot and 
consider how it can be rolled out further across North Tyneside during 2022/23.  

Cervical Screening 

Primary Care Networks had raised that they wish to increase cervical smear capacity 
to help recover activity lost through the pandemic.  Additional funding had been 
received from the Northern Cancer Alliance to facilitate this with a focus on targeting 
inequalities where possible.  Each CCG area has worked to use this funding and 
additional cervical screening capacity is now available in North Tyneside.  
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Diagnostics & Community Diagnostic Hubs 

Diagnostic capacity has been reduced by the COVID-19 pandemic mainly in relation 
to staffing issues and how to manage social distancing. This did impact on diagnostic 
performance, but it has been improving over the last quarter of the year. Use of 
independent sector capacity has been particularly important during the pandemic to 
minimise backlogs in diagnostic capacity and this will continue to be key moving 
forward into 2022/23.  

The CCG, along with partners in the North ICP and the Northern Cancer Alliance, 
are reviewing the impact that the new FIT testing pathway has on the number of 
endoscopies as well as the contracts with the independent sector, on the diagnostic 
performance.  

Work is also underway to develop community diagnostic hubs. A Programme Board 
has been established to oversee this work and information has been gathered to 
understand the need of local populations which also considers access, deprivation 
and health inequalities issues. A prioritisation process of hub locations is also 
underway to identify where and how many hubs should be established in each area. 

Primary Care Network cancer work plans 

Work is underway in each Primary Care Network to develop cancer work plans in 
line with the requirements of the national Direct Enhanced Services contract with 
PCNs to support early cancer diagnosis.  

Support is being provided to the PCNs in North Tyneside from the Cancer Alliance 
and from various voluntary sector organisations to develop the cancer plans 
according to the needs of the populations in each area.  

Initiatives include: 

• A focus on cervical and bowel screening and on the learning disabilities 
population and to minimise inequalities in Whitley Bay PCN. 

• Appointment of a range of posts such as Early Cancer Diagnosis and Cancer 
Screening Coordinator in Whitley Bay PCN, Non-Clinical Cancer Champions, 
Cancer Care Coordinators.  

• Establishment of peer review groups. 

• Reviewing data and information to identify variation across practices. 

• Considering how to inform patients that they should attend their Practice for 
cancer screening and concerning symptoms. 
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Cancer Personalised Care 

Personalised Care in relation to cancer provision used to be known as Living With & 
Beyond Cancer. It is a recovery package based around holistic needs assessments, 
care planning and health and wellbeing events and was primarily for patients who 
will undergo the cancer risk stratification process described above. It will mean that 
patients will not receive as many face to face appointments but they will still continue 
to be monitored by secondary care for a period of time.  

Personalising aftercare and putting patients more in control of their recovery is an 
essential part of improving the patient experience. This means that receiving care is 
tailored to the needs of the individual and is expected to result in improved quality of 
life outcomes. 

During 2020/21, North Tyneside CCG continued to work closely with Newcastle upon 
Tyne Trust and Northumbria Healthcare Trust to progress our ambition that every 
cancer patient receives four key interventions: 

• Health needs assessment – Everyone with cancer is offered a holistic needs 
assessment and a personalised care plan that focusses on individual needs along 
with an end of treatment summary for the individual and those involved in their 
care. 

• Health and Wellbeing information and support – Including the provision of 
accessible information about emotional support, coping with side effects, financial 
advice, getting back to work and making health lifestyle choices. 

• Risk stratification pathways and after care follow up and support for self-
management - Reduced time that professionals spend seeing patients who are 
doing well after treatment with rapid re-access to their cancer team, including 
telephone advice and support.  

• Primary Care Cancer Care Review – A quality assured discussion between the 
individual and their GP/primary care nurse about their care journey. 

Cancer personalised care and the work described above, is currently focussed on 
the breast, colorectal and prostate cancer pathways. The pathway for breast cancer 
has been worked through while the pathway for low-risk colorectal cancer is nearing 
completion, and work is continuing on the follow up requirements for those patients 
in terms of investigations. Work is now underway for the prostate cancer pathway.  

The CCG and Trusts are working together to consider how personalised care will 
work within primary care ensuring practices have all of the relevant information to 
work with the trusts and with their patients to enable successful implementation. 
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Improving Patient Experience  

In October 2018 the Cancer Locality 
Group made a decision to look at 
how it could involve the public (with 
lived experience) in the cancer plan 
and ensure patient experience was 
on par with clinical excellence. 

In 2019/20, the North Tyneside 
Cancer Public Engagement Forum 
was established, hosted by 
MacMillan with additional support 
from the North Cancer Alliance 
Communication and  
Engagement Lead. 

The Forum is a sub-group of the North Tyneside Cancer Locality Group and is set up 
to seek views on how patient outcomes can be improved, in terms of survival, quality 
of care and patient experience. 

Key aims of the forum include: 

• Engaging with the community (patients, carers, members of the public, VCS 
organisations) of North Tyneside to understand what matters most and provide 
opportunities to get involved in specific workstreams of the North Tyneside Cancer 
Plan. 

• Work alongside the North Tyneside Cancer Locality Group in co-designing new 
approaches and improve services delivered to North Tyneside.  

A number of engagement events were held, and a core group of people were 
recruited to get involved in the cancer engagement work. This core group then 
helped to organise further engagement events and with their input far more people 
attended the events and registered their interest to get involved. 

Nurture Development was commissioned to deliver some Asset Based Community 
Development Training which was open to all partners across North Tyneside, VCS 
organisations and members of the public. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, different ways are needed to engage with members 
of the public. Discussions have therefore taken place to consider the focus of the 
engagement group, its plan and how patients can be represented on key groups 
going forward at both local level and regional level. These discussions continue 
going forward.  



75 

Regional approach for cancer diagnoses  

As well as North Tyneside specific work on cancer 
as described above, work was also undertaken on 
a regional basis. We continue to work closely 
across all Cancer Alliance work streams as key partners in shaping and influencing 
the design of tumour specific pathways and addressing challenges in the system, 
particularly in relation to access to diagnostics and workforce capacity.  

During the pandemic, the Alliance has provided information on resources and 
support networks available for people with cancer.  

The Cancer Alliance has also been at the forefront of working with local systems on 
a number of projects including: 

• Implementation of the Managed Clinical Network through the Alliance's breast 
pathways board. 

• Progress on the Rapid Diagnostics pathways which are progressing within the 
North ICP. 

• Establishment of a work-stream to continue to review activity and to address 
variation in the backlog of patients awaiting access to cancer services.  

• Leading an awareness campaign which is also being advocated through CCGs to 
target patients from hard-to-reach communities.  

• The Cancer Alliance has also distributed £1.5m funding across the North ICP to 
facilitate recovery and accelerate rapid diagnostics pathways, again with a focus 
on targeting inequalities and where outcomes are often lower due to late or non-
presentation. This has led to: 

• Community awareness posts are working across the ICP to work with local 
communities promoting signs and symptoms.  

• Cancer champions in practices are working to increase uptake of audits for 
patients who have had cancer diagnoses.   

• Increasing audits for cancer diagnoses in primary care helps understand where 
inequalities lie and how best to target such patients. 

• NCA is leading an awareness campaign and this is being advocated locally 
through the CCGs to target specifically patients from hard to reach communities 
e.g. lung campaigns in more deprived communities with a higher prevalence of 
lung cancer. 
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Cancer performance 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 
 
The CCG has not achieved eight cancer standards.  Since the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic the number of patients attending General Practice has significantly 
reduced which has impacted on the number of cancer referrals going through the 
system. As lockdown measures have eased referral numbers are starting to increase 
back to pre-COVID-19 levels towards spring 2021.   

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted upon our Trusts ability to diagnose and treat 
cancer patients within the standards due to: 

• Some patients were unwilling or unable to attend diagnostic and treatment 
appointments when offered due to shielding, self-isolating or testing positive for 
COVID-19 after the referral. 

• Longer patient pathways due to implementing COVID safety due to the cleaning 
time required between patients, social distancing rules and capacity constraints of 
buildings. 

• Some staff testing positive for COVID-19 or needing to self-isolate which impacted 
upon capacity.  

• Limited number of beds and ventilators for post-surgery due to the number of 
COVID-19 positive patients being treated at the time in the Trusts. 

• Diagnostic pressures impacting upon patient pathway. 

Both Trusts are concentrating on cancer recovery plans focusing on recovering 
referrals, recovering treatments and clearing backlogs as well as organisational 
performance standards.  The Northern Cancer Alliance is helping Trusts to focus on 
faster diagnosis and 62-day standards and have invested £1.5M funding in 2020/21 
to facilitate recovery and accelerate rapid diagnosis pathways. A North ICP Cancer 
Delivery Manager has been appointed to support this work. 

 

 

 Two week wait all cancers A 

The CCG achieved 83.6% in March 2021 against a standard of 93% and 
therefore did not achieve the standard. 

` 

Two week wait for an urgent referral for breast symptoms A 

The CCG achieved 77.8% against a standard of 93% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard.   
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31-day treatment – all cancers A 

The CCG achieved 95% against a standard of 96% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard. 

 

31-day treatment - surgery A 

The CCG achieved 76.5% against a standard of 94% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard. 

` 

31-day treatment - anti-cancer drugs A 

The CCG achieved 94.4% against a standard of 98% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard. 

 

31-day treatment – radiotherapy G 

  

Patients treated within 62 days - urgent GP referral for suspected 
cancer 

A 

The CCG achieved 84.5% against a standard of 85% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard. 

 

62 days screening to first treatment for cancer – screening service A 

The CCG achieved 50% against a standard of 90% and therefore did not 
achieve the standard. 

 

Cancers diagnosed at an early stage G 

  

One year survival from all cancers A 

The CCG achieved a rate of 71.6% against an England rate of 75% for 2017 
and were assessed as in the lower quartile nationally.  The CCG recognises 
in order to achieve the improvements in mortality rates; it must achieve the 
NHS Long Term Plan for 75% of patients being diagnosed with cancer in 
stages 1 and 2.  The CCG has commissioned a Lung Cancer Case finding 
project targeting those patients diagnosed with COPD within the age range 
of 55 - 74.   

 

Cancer patient experience G 
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Improving care for older people in  
North Tyneside  
Advances in healthcare have 
helped people to live longer than 
ever before.  As a result, the 
number of older people in North 
Tyneside is growing significantly 
and this rate of growth is 
projected to speed up over the 
next 20 years.   

This is good news for us all, but it 
creates a challenge for the NHS 
– as we get older, we tend to 
develop long term conditions and 
need more health and social care. Although NHS funding has increased in recent 
years, it has not done so at a rate that has kept pace with the rising level of demand 
for healthcare services.  

The impact on an ageing population will have a significant impact on health and 
social care services, therefore it is important that we support people to age well, slow 
down or reverse some of the health challenges associated with ageing. It is essential 
that older people are supported to remain as healthy and independent as possible 
for as long as possible and they receive the highest quality care when they need it.  

To date, North Tyneside has done extensive work focused on improving the 
provision of services for older people. During 2020/21, we have developed a new 
Ageing Well Strategy with a five-year work plan to ensure that services for older 
people in the borough are of the highest possible standard. Our strategy has one 
simple aim: 

'Support North Tyneside residents to age well; remain healthy and independent for 
as long as possible' 

This strategy will be delivered through three workstreams which are based on being: 

1. Healthy 
2. Active 
3. Connected 
 

The CCG undertook an extensive analysis of care pathways across systems. These 
revealed a complex array of different pathways for patients to navigate. We held 
several events to help begin to shape and model what this new service will look like, 
involving members from our Patient Forum. Over 130 people attended our last event. 
The COVID-19 pandemic has meant further large events have not been possible, but 
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we continued to work with our partners to ensure we are engaged and listening as 
the service develops.  

We have co-produced, with patients, forum members, local authority and health care 
partners, a new model for integrated services for frail people across North Tyneside. 
We worked with partners to realign services and bring several of these health and 
social care services together as an integrated frailty service as part of an Ageing 
Well Hub.  

The new Ageing Well Hub will bring Care Point, which has been enhanced with 
additional roles and capacity, Jubilee Day Hospital and intermediate care provision 
together providing a seamless service with proactive early identification of frail 
people, care pathways for those with more complex needs and intermediate care 
provision. The new service will include: 

• A single point of access - making referral a simple process.  

• An Urgent response pathway to respond to deterioration on a see & treat basis 
with hospital avoidance. 

• A planned care pathway through proactive identification and intervention for frail 
patients. 

• Named matron links directly aligned to Primary Care Networks. 

• One stop shop for those with more complex needs. 

• Bed-based intermediate care unit with a step-up / step-down facility.  

• Home-based rehabilitation and reablement.  

• And a single clinical record. 

Patients who access the integrated frailty service will be allocated a named care 
coordinator who will support the patients care across the new pathways. This new 
approach to case management will ensure that people are guided through the 
service, receive the care they need, guided through the discharge process and back 
to primary care. This will ensure continuity of care and that transfers of care are 
effective and safe.  

Included in the new enhanced provision in the integrated frailty service will be 
Personal Independence Coordinators, pharmacist and occupational therapist support 
and physiotherapists. Work is underway for community psychiatric nurses (CPNs) in 
the near future. These roles will support the holistic health and social care approach 
to care delivery within the new service. 

Strata health has been commissioned by the CCG to provide capacity and demand 
information for the new service. This system maximised use of technology to match 
capacity and demand which will inform future service changes. It will also help to 
ensure that the integrated frailty service will be able to provide the targets around 2-
hour urgent response and 48-hour response times in line with the service model and 
ensure that this is recorded and delivered within the target timeframes.  
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As part of a collaborative review, the CCG has partnered with Northumbria 
Healthcare Trust and North Tyneside Council, working with Professor John Bolton to 
review community provision in North Tyneside. The new integrated frailty model and 
pathway design has been shared with Professor Bolton and was positively received. 
This provides assurance that the work undertaken to redesign the new service does 
meet national best practice for community provision and we expect that the outcome 
measures for the service will demonstrate efficacy of care across the pathways. 
 

Community Falls Prevention Service  
Due to the impact of COVID-19 the provision of the Community Falls Prevention 
Service has changed its model of delivery to include: 

• Community Falls Clinic – A multidisciplinary community-based team providing 
assessment and healthcare interventions for patients who have had a fall or are 
deemed to be at risk of harming themselves by falling. This means proactively 
identifying those at risk of falls, contacting individual's dependant on need and a 
one stop assessment for those at highest risk of falls. 

• Every household in North Tyneside 
received a copy of a HowFit leaflet to 
ensure equity and maximise the impact of 
people undertaking the exercise and health 
and wellbeing contained within the leaflet. It 
offers general advice on physical activity and 
is aimed at adults who could benefit from 
simple exercise and activity to reduce the 
impact of a sedentary lifestyle and for those 
at risk of falls There is also an on-line HowFit 
link  https://www.howfittoday.co.uk/ which 
has been developed specifically to support 
people to do exercises and complete a Falls 
risk assessment, leading to direct referral to 
North Tyneside Community Falls Prevention 
Service where appropriate. The HowFit 
leaflet has been adopted across the hospitals and Dr Parry is working across the 
wider ICS to support the roll out of HowFit. 

• Safe & Well Checks – The service has been impacted due to COVID-19. 
However, Tyne & Wear Fire Service continue to carry out a basic falls risk 
assessment and provide equipment to help reduce that risk in future. 

• Care Call - Falls First Responders – Calls to 999 or NHS 111 from people who 
have fallen without seriously injuring themselves can be referred to a trained first 
aider in North Tyneside Council’s Care Call service. This usually results in the 

https://www.howfittoday.co.uk/
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patient receiving help more quickly than they would otherwise and allows 
ambulance services to focus on those in greatest need.  

• Strength & Balance Programme – Due to COVID-19 restrictions, these classes 
have been provided online via Zoom. The 12-week exercise programme aimed at 
older people which is designed to improve strength and balance and thus reduce 
the risk of a future fall. 
 

 
 

Workforce Initiatives 
During 2020/21, the CCG worked commissioned 16 additional nurse practitioner 
posts to work in Northumbria Healthcare Trust community frailty system. The CCG is 
also working with social care, nursing homes and Health Education England (HEE) 
to recruit to advanced care practitioners.  

To continue to attract graduates into GP Practice nursing and nursing homes, the 
CCG is working to maximise placements for undergraduate students in all settings, 
working with local universities to do this. This will help us to increase the number of 
undergraduate placements in order to realise the ambitions in the Nursing Expansion 
Manifesto. 
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North Tyneside Care Homes Multi-Agency Joint Approach 
During COVID-19 
The Local Authority (LA) and CCG have developed strong partnership arrangements 
over the years, working jointly to support older people’s care homes in North 
Tyneside. During the COVID-19 pandemic, we built on our existing relationships with 
care homeowners, managers, health, and LA staff to either accelerate some areas of 
work or introduce new initiatives.  

Communication 

As set out in the Social Care Action Plan, during COVID-19 the commissioning team 
rang all care homes regularly to offer support and gather data about vacancies, 
workforce, COVID-19 cases, PPE etc. Similarly, palliative care nurses also contacted 
care homes to offer clinical advice about End of Life Care for residents. 

The LA also co-ordinated all communications on current guidance, on behalf of the 
LA and CCG, via email and updated on our website.  

Personal Protection Equipment (PPE) & Infection Control 

Daily calls were made to providers to gather 
information about their stock levels of individual PPE 
items and an additional weekly ring round about 
urgent PPE levels were also conducted.  The CCG 
also provided advice to all homes about putting PPE 
in line with national guidance and assisted with PPE 
delivery where needed.  

PPE and infection control training were rolled out via 
the new Prevent and Protect Team while the North 
East Ambulance Service was commissioned to 
provide sepsis and falls training which was delivered 
prior to the outbreak. 

The Infection Prevention & Control (IPC) team have 
been providing bitesize training prior to COVID-19 and supporting them with their 
IPC audit. The IPC continue to support the homes with advice and guidance during 
the outbreak. 

Technology 

All homes had been provided with the Whzan News kits for undertaking clinical 
observations and recording of the NEWS2 score. Homes received training on the 
use of the Whzan kit. This helps establish what clinical interventions might be 
required and can be communicated to relevant health professionals. 



83 

This has stood homes in good stead during the pandemic as it enables homes to 
accurately score early warning signs of a deteriorating patient. It also provides 
access to pulse oximetry provision which is intended to identify as early as possible 
people who have contracted the COVID-19 virus whose oxygen levels are reducing 
to low levels. If low oxygen levels can be detected early, treatment can be given 
which improves survival rates, recovery and reduces the length of stay in hospital.  

Homes have also been supported to access nhs.mail accounts for the safe transfer 
of patient information. 

Homes have also received Reminiscence Interactive Therapy Activities (RITA) 
systems and additional Samsung tablets provided by the CCG which homes are 
using to communicate via Wi-Fi, Skype and face time with relatives and video 
consultations with the GP practice and frailty nurses. 

Hospital discharge  

North Tyneside CCG, North Tyneside Local Authority and Northumbria Healthcare 
Foundation Trust, the independent and voluntary sector worked collaboratively to 
ensure that systems, processes and staff were in place to deliver the requirements 
set out in the national Hospital Discharge document published on the 19th March 
2020. The CCG set up agreements and a patient tracking system to ensure 
compliance with guidance, and to ensure patients are reviewed and assessed 
appropriately in a timely way in line with the guidance. This meant that medically fit 
patients could be discharged as rapidly as possible from hospital. The CCG and 
Local Authority created additional bed capacity in the community with the 
independent sector which helped with the hospital discharge process. 

End of Life Care in Care Homes During Covid-19 

The Palliative Care team continued to support all care homes with end-of-life care. 
The team was in daily contact with every home and each afternoon a team member 
visited a home, taking action to minimise risks cross contamination. The team 
supported the homes with various tasks and procedures and enabled access to grab 
bags with stocked medication if homes had difficulty obtaining particular drugs.  

Perhaps the biggest change is the development of the new Prevent and Protect 
Team described in the Social Care Action Plan. This team brings together 
commissioning staff, 0-19 school nurses and CCG staff into one resource to provide 
additional support to care homes with practice-based issues and assurance visits. 
This is in line with ‘Principles to Deliver an Enhanced Universal Support Offer to 
Care Homes in the North East and Yorkshire Region’, published by the NHS and 
CARE in May 2020. 

Mutual aid was also available for homes that may require additional support e.g. 
domestic support and care staff have been re-deployed to a care home that was 
struggling due to staffing. This is via a newly established team focussing on 
workforce support across the sector utilising existing LA staff and recruiting new 
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temporary staff. Information was gathered by the Commissioning Team on staffing 
numbers so that the situation can be monitored and hopefully plan ahead to avoid 
crisis. 

Frailty nursing staff employed by the Whitley Bay and North West Primary Care 
Networks endeavoured to continue to deliver a service as close to normal as 
possible, whilst only attending the homes when absolutely necessary.  

The District Nursing Service continued to work 7 days per week offering support to 
residential care homes on issues such as supporting the correct use of PPE, 
provision of skin training and simple dressings, Insulin Pen injection training as well 
as supporting staff generally.  

Prior to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Tissue Viability Nursing team rolled out the 
"react to red" campaign which is to raise awareness of pressure ulcers prior to the 
outbreak. During the pandemic, the nurses have continued to support homes with 
queries and issues.  
 

Urgent Care 
The COVID-19 pandemic had a profound effect upon the delivery of NHS services 
and the behaviour of the general public in the way they access healthcare. The 
‘lockdown’ of the population to control the spread of COVID-19 saw a sharp 
reduction in attendance at Emergency Departments (EDs), Urgent Treatment 
Centres (UTCs) and a significant increase in the amount of calls to the NHS 111 and 
General Practices for telephone assessment. 

Service delivery models were put in place to reduce the number of patients who self-
present, intending to improve local pathways of care and to ensure that the optimum 
outcomes for patients were achieved in the quickest and most straightforward way.  

Talk Before You Walk 

Talk Before You Walk was initially launched in 
August 2020 across the North Integrated Care 
Partnership (Northumberland, North Tyneside, 
Newcastle, and Gateshead). It encourages the 
use of NHS 111 (both online and by 
telephone), GP practice or pharmacy as being 
the primary places to go when experiencing a 
health issue that is not immediately life 
threatening.  For those patients who do self-
present, a new model of service delivery has 
been implemented to ensure patients are seen 
and treated by the right clinician (based upon 
presenting condition and acuity).   
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The Talk Before You Walk means: 

• Patients are being encouraged to phone ahead or go online, moving away from 
(but not to the exclusion of) going to a physical location as the first choice to 
access healthcare. 

• Embracing remote assessment and the technology which supports it. 

• Preventing nosocomial (hospital acquired) infection by ensuring patients do not 
need to congregate together in Emergency Departments or Urgent treatment 
Centre waiting rooms. 

• Ensuring patients get a clear direction of what they need to do and where they 
need to go in order to resolve their issue. 

• Protecting those most at risk (e.g. shielded patients) by giving them an enhanced 
service. 

Self-Presenting Patients  

In order to effectively deal with those patients who do self-present to the North 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Emergency Departments (EDs) and Urgent 
Treatment Centre (UTCs), a rapid triage model was implemented in each CCG area 
in the ICP, including in North Tyneside. This ensures the earliest possible review by 
a senior clinical decision maker. Outcomes include: 

• Patients with injuries are seen and treated (which may include being booked into a 
ledger and being directed to attend an appointment at a specified time). 

• Patients with illness being streamed to more appropriate services, which may be a 
booked telephone assessment with a primary care clinician working within the 
Urgent & Emergency Care service, which may result in a face to face appointment 
after being given a specified time to attend. 

• Being directed to alternatives such as Same Day Emergency Care (more 
commonly referred to as Ambulatory Care). 

• Being seen and treated immediately due to the severity/acuity of the presenting 
condition.  

• Being booked directly into an appointment in their own GP practice should the 
presenting condition need to be followed up by a primary care clinician but not 
immediately. This is currently been done by the service contacting the patients 
registered practice, but work is rapidly progressing to enable this to be booked 
electronically in the patients registered practice appointment ledger. 

A high proportion of patients who self-present with illness are being booked into a 
telephone appointment with a GP, with a large proportion of these cases then being 
closed (between 50-60%) without any further action required whilst other conditions 
such as injury are being dealt with effectively and in a timely way.  
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Importantly, this model is helping to manage the numbers of patients self-presenting 
and is ensuring social distancing can be maintained within Emergency Departments 
and Urgent treatment Centres.  

Referring patients to Emergency Departments and sending patient information  

It is essential that those patients with non-life-threatening conditions are referred to 
Emergency Departments (ED) in a controlled way for patient demand to be spread 
across the day. At the same time, it is also critical that patient safety is uppermost, 
and patients are treated in a timely way appropriate to their need. 

A new system was introduced whereby NHS 111 can refer patients to each of our 
EDs by email.  

We have also started to implement another new electronic system called Emergency 
Department Digital Integration (EDDI) which allows NHS 111 to give patients who 
need to attend an Emergency Department a time slot to attend. It allows the 
emergency department to control their capacity and monitor the number of patients 
arriving at a certain time, minimising long waits for patients. 

We have encouraged GPs to have clinical conversations with secondary care 
consultants to help to pre-plan patients care and ensure patients access the right 
treatment or support immediately.  This may include an appointment being made for 
the next day with an appropriate service/clinician. We call this service Talk Before 
You Send.  

Work is ongoing to enable any necessary referrals to be made electronically to 
Trusts should a referral be necessary (following specialist advice or where the GP 
deems it to be necessary) to the ED or Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) to 
ensure that clinicians are able to book patients into an electronic register or to be 
able to refer patients from GP systems. This will enable ED/SDEC to know when a 
patient has been referred and when they are expected to attend which will help to 
effectively manage demand and flow within the hospital. 

NHS 111 - Delivery of a more functionally integrated NHS 111 CAS 

In order to achieve the specified objectives of "Talk Before You Walk" and ensure 
that patient pathways achieve optimum outcomes in the quickest and most 
straightforward way, the North ICP, which includes North Tyneside CCG, has 
enhanced the local Clinical Assessment Services (CAS) within the NHS 111 service 
through the utilisation of CCG based clinical staff. Specifically, this means 
components of the CAS being delivered in the four localities by local clinicians. Our 
locally commissioned Urgent Primary Care/Out of Hours providers are now 
managing some of the clinical calls from NHS 111 during the out of hours period. 
This had previously worked successfully during the COVID-19 pandemic where the 
GP out of hours services successfully supported the North East Ambulance 
response.  
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Since August 2020, the GP Out of Hours service has triaged cases which previously 
would have been directly booked into a face to face appointment or resulted in a 
home visit. This new model has meant that the number of patients who previously 
would have received a face to face appointment or home visit has reduced.  Senior 
GPs are able to assess patient's needs quickly and then direct patients to the 
appropriate clinician or support to meet their needs.  

Intelligent Conveyancing 

During the pandemic, a lot of work has been undertaken to help reduce the 
pressures on both the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) and the hospitals. A 
system transformation change has been agreed between NEAS, the acute Trusts 
and CCGs to enable NEAS to have more control about where ambulances are 
directed to avoid long queues of ambulance stacking up outside hospital Emergency 
Departments. Work has also been undertaken to reduce patient handover delays 
between ambulance crews and hospital staff. This work is ongoing, but we are 
starting to see the positive impact across North Tyneside, Northumberland, 
Newcastle and Gateshead with fewer people being kept on ambulances outside 
hospital Emergency Departments (EDs) and a reduction in the number of ambulance 
crews being detained at the ED. 

We have also begun work to create access to a senior doctor for ambulance crews 
working at the scene who will be responsible for agreeing the case management 
plan for the patient. This could include seeing and treating patients at the scene, 
conveyancing to hospital or referral to another service. We will be continuing this 
work during 2021/22. 

Winter Plan 

For 2020/21, winter plans have been developed by providers within each place-
based system supported by commissioners. These plans were shared between all 
stakeholders and peer reviewed during a region wide planning session held on the 
5 October 2020. This session:   

• Set out key risks and mitigations for winter in each system. 

• Described the capacity and demand modelling process used. 

• Detailed mitigations to address identified gaps. 

• Shared learning from winter 2019/20. 

• Outlined escalation triggers, COVID-19 early warning triggers, local outbreak 
plans, and use of the OPEL Framework. 

• Updated on the operating model for the winter period.  
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The outcomes of this session then subsequently led to further refinement of 
individual provider plans during early October which then informed the production of 
this North Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) Plan. 

The North ICP Winter Plan for 2020/21 has been informed by each of our local 
place-based plans developed in response to COVID-19 as well as normal seasonal 
surge/escalation. The plan provided an overview on how the system collectively will 
manage the challenges in the months ahead as well as outline the key risks and 
mitigating actions. The Plan identified a number of key principles and models of 
service delivery but recognised that management of winter 2020/21 required 
flexibility with services and teams needing to be agile and adaptable to react to the 
surges which our local health and care economies experienced.  

The North ICP Winter plan therefore had three key objectives: 

1. Respond - to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic in order to deliver health and care 
services which is safe for patients and staff. 

2. Recover - restarting and maintaining those activities that were paused or reduced 
in response to the crisis. 

3. Refresh - introducing and embedding changes which were introduced during the 
major incident that have enhanced and improved patient flows and outcomes. 

Strategic work 

On a strategic level, North Tyneside CCG is an active member of the North East and 
North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network. The network brings together 
organisations across the Integrated Care System (ICS) to ensure the quality, safety, 
and equity of urgent and emergency care services in the region. 

The network ensures effective co-ordination of urgent and emergency care services 
across the North East and North Cumbria in the implementation of the NHS Long 
Term Plan. The network’s goal is to have a highly responsive, 24/7, seamless urgent 
and emergency care model, which reduces demand on emergency services and 
reducing unwanted variation in services across the region. 

Urgent care performance  
All performance and quality data are sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

Four hour waits in A&E  A 

The CCGs two main providers for A&E achieved 93.1% at Newcastle 
Hospitals FT and 96% at Northumbria Healthcare FT.  The standard for four 
hour waits in A&E is 95%, therefore only Northumbria Healthcare FT 
achieved the standard for March 2021.  Newcastle Hospitals FT has been 
coping with a large number of COVID-19 positive patients during the 
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End of life and palliative care 
North Tyneside CCG continues to strive towards ensuring patients who are palliative 
and/or nearing the end of life, along with their families and loved ones, receive the 
highest standard of care possible.  

Death and dying are inevitable and the quality and accessibility of care will affect all 
of us at all ages; the living, dying and bereaved.  Nationally, more than half a million 
people die each year, and many live with a life expectancy of less than a year at any 
one time and this is projected to rise by 20% over the next twenty years.  More 
people are expected to die at an older age and have more complex needs.  The 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) reported that out of the registered deaths in 

pandemic which has impacted upon bed capacity and flow of A&E patients.  
This has significantly impacted upon the Trust's performance in A&E 
standards, but is starting to improve as the number of COVID-19 positive 
patients reduces. 

Ambulance response times A 

Ambulance response time measures cover 4 standards which are category 
1, 2, 3 and 4 response times.  NEAS achieved two of the four response time 
standards in North Tyneside in March 2021, which were category 1 and 4.  
Category 1 calls are described as 'An immediate response to a life-
threatening condition, such as cardiac or respiratory arrest' which has been 
achieved.  NEAS have developed a NEAS strategy for 2021/22 to improve 
ambulance response times and handover delays across the region.   

 

Category 1 response time G 

  

Category 2 response time A 

NEAS achieved 19 mins and 39 seconds in March 2021 for category 2 
mean response time which does not meet the standard of 18 minutes.   

 

Category 3 response time A 

NEAS achieved 2 hours and 45 seconds in March 2021 for category 3 90th 
centile response times which does not meet the standard of 2 hours.   

 

Category 4 response time G 
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England in 2019, 78.1% were aged 70 
years or above, and 21.5% were aged 90 
or above (Source: ONS).   

Our strategic achievements to date 
include:    

1. An increase in the percentage of 
palliative care patients on the register 
increased from 0.64% in 2018 to 
0.88% by November 2020. 

2. The percentage of deceased patients, who were on the palliative care register, 
has increased to 32.8% in December 2019. 

3. Patients on the palliative care register who had a Not for Resuscitation DNACPR 
in place increased to 51% by October 2019.  

4.  Almost 60% of patients who died on the palliative care register during the period        
December 2019 – November 2020 had an advanced care plan / EHCP in place. 

5. All Nursing Homes and 16 Residential Homes have now implemented a 
palliative care register. 

6. The Deployment of Enhanced Summary Care Record Summary Care Data 
(ASHN NENC Healthcare Project) has been rolled out and 100% of GP practices 
now have this in place. 

7. The number of non-cancer patients on the palliative care register has increased 
from 770 in December 2018, to 1051 in December 2020 – an increase of 37%. 

8. For patients on the palliative care register, the average length of stay of an 
emergency hospital admission during the last year of life, has decreased by 15% 
from February 2018 to November 2020. 
 

The North Tyneside End of Life Strategy and Work Plan 
During 2020, the CCG has been working closely with our partners to co-construct a 
new five-year strategy and work programme with the following aims: 

• Everybody approaching the end of their life to be offered the chance to create a 
personalised care plan. 

• Personalised Care Plans including Emergency Health Care Plans and the Care of 
the Dying documentation are shared electronically with the consent of the person 
and their family with all those who may be involved in their care. 

• To involve, support and care for those important to the dying person including 
families, friends' carers. 
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• To improve standards in the delivery of palliative and end of life care over and 
above specialist palliative care teams through the delivery of high-quality 
education to other clinical and non-clinical staff groups. 

• To reduce health inequalities for those hard to reach/socially excluded and 
disadvantage patients who are approaching end of life. 

These aims are underpinned by five workstreams that will ensure that we deliver 
against our strategic aims: 

1. Developing a system for person centred care  

2. Care Planning and Coordination 

3. Compassionate, resilient communities / everyone matters 

4. Workforce Development 

5. Equality of access to services e.g. social care 
 

Shared Palliative Care Summary (SPCS) 
Implementation of the "Electronic Shared Palliative Care Coordination System" 
(EPaCCs) which enables multiple care services, including the North East Ambulance 
Service and Out of Hours Doctors, to view the care plans for palliative care patients 
has continued. This multi-agency approach, through the collation and sharing of data 
intelligence, enables informed collective working and decision making across 
professional boundaries. 23 GP practices in North Tyneside are now trained and 
signed up to using EPaCCs.  
 

Improving quality  
In order to commission high quality 
care successfully, we actively 
promote engagement, 
transparency and successful 
relationships between all key 
stakeholders involved in the 
delivery of health and care 
services. This is in order to realise 
our vision of a health system 
shaped by patient and public 
participation and is designed with 
improved outcomes and patient 
experience at its heart.   
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Quality systems and processes 
Quality Review Groups (QRGs) are in place for all foundation trusts and local private 
hospital providers. They focus on assurance relating to the clinical quality of 
commissioned services across the domains of clinical quality, patient safety, patient 
experience and clinical effectiveness.  

This includes collating data from a range of sources including mortality indices, 
patient experience programmes including the Friends and Family Test, staff surveys, 
patient surveys, serious incidents, complaints, soft intelligence and the internal 
processes in place within providers to ensure the robust management of these 
issues.  

The CCG reviews the feedback received from these various sources as well as via 
patient and public consultation and engagement. We use this information to 
determine how services will be commissioned in the future, ensuring that we meet 
patients’ needs.  

During 2020/21and despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCG has continued to 
receive specific assurance in areas such as safe staffing levels, incident reporting, 
management and learning processes, falls management and harm minimisation, 
compliance with NICE guidance, action on mortality and sepsis. Assurance relating 
to national reports is also sought including gap analysis and action taken to address 
any issues. 

The QRGs also oversee the assurance process for provider cost improvement plans, 
maintaining a constructive dialogue with providers throughout the year ensuring that 
plans are quality impact assessed for any potential quality or safety issues. 

The CCG member practices continue to play a key role in the identification and 
reporting of clinical quality intelligence about our providers. The Safeguard Incident 
and Risk Management System (SIRMS) enables practices to report data on 
incidents, experiences, and issues that they, and their patients, have with various 
local service providers. 100% of practices have access to SIRMS within North 
Tyneside. 

304 incidents were reported during 2020/21. Where quality issues are identified, they 
are discussed with providers and feedback/learning is requested for any identified 
themes, trends, or significant individual patient safety issues.  

We have a robust process in place for the assurance, management and closure of 
serious incidents reported by commissioned services. The serious incident closure 
panel ensures that serious incidents are only closed when the CCG has evidence 
that lessons have been learned and all actions have been taken to prevent re-
occurrence. The CCG received ‘Substantial Assurance’ from internal audit that the 
serious incident closure process within the CCG is robust. 

The CCG is an active member of the local Quality Surveillance Group, at which 
information and intelligence on providers is shared between NHS England and the 



93 

local CCGs and other agencies. This is then communicated to our Quality and Safety 
Committee and Governing Body as part of the assurance process. 

We have continued to work in collaboration with the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), sharing review information and provider action plans when there has been 
any concern regarding quality issues. Due to COVID-19 during 2020/21 we have 
been unable to continue with the schedule of quality assurance visits in partnership 
with the local authority to all independent nursing homes. However, we have actively 
supported with Infection Prevention and Control training and Protective Personal 
Equipment (PPE). Where concerns relating to providers have been raised, 
unannounced visits are undertaken in partnership with the Local Authority to monitor 
improvement processes. 

In addition, we attended quarterly information sharing meetings with each nursing 
home provider in partnership with the local authority.   

Regular meetings continue with Healthwatch North Tyneside as part of a strong and 
collaborative working relationship, which includes membership of the CCG Patient 
Forum, Health and Social Care Integration Partnership working groups and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  

We place a high priority on raising sepsis awareness and education on the use of the 
National Early Warning Score (NEWS). This will be included in service specifications 
and in any local incentive schemes funded by the CCG. 
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Healthcare associated infections 
Healthcare-associated infections (HCAIs) can develop either as a direct result of 
healthcare interventions such as medical or surgical treatment, or from being in 
contact with a healthcare setting. HCAIs pose a serious risk to patients, clients, staff 
and visitors to health and social care premises. 

All CCG’s have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England for Methicillin Resistant 
Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) and Clostridium Difficile (C Diff). CCGs are required 
to meet national standards for both MRSA and C Diff. 
 

Performance Measures 
All performance and quality data is sourced from validated national sources, 
including NHS England, NHS Digital and Department of Health. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MRSA A 

One reported case of MRSA in December 2020 against a standard of zero 
MRSA cases for 2020/21. This was assigned to the CCG as the patient was 
positive when screened on admission, however this was a re-admission 
within 96 hours of discharge and the patient had not been screened during 
the first admission as per local Trust guidance. A review of primary care 
records indicate the patient had not had contact with their GP up to 3 
months prior to admission and had not received any antibiotics up to 6 
months prior to admission. 

 

Clostridium Difficile G 

  

Mixed-sex accommodation G 
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Safeguarding 
The Governing Body has delegated responsibility for monitoring and assuring 
safeguarding to the Quality and Safety Committee and this is explicit in our 
constitution and the Quality and Safety Committee terms of reference.   

The Executive Director of Nursing/Chief Operating Officer is the lead officer for 
safeguarding in the CCG. Support is given from a range of other officers which 
provides robustness and resilience in the CCG’s safeguarding processes: 

• The Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children 
• The Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults  
• The Designated Nurse Looked After Children  
• The Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children  
• The Designated Doctor Looked After Children  
• The Named GP Safeguarding Children and Adults 

In addition to regular reports to the Quality and Safety Committee, reports are 
provided to the CCG Governing Body at a private session at every meeting. The 
CCG also works closely with providers to ensure that safeguarding remains part of 
regular discussions at the QRGs, receiving regular reports outlining the internal 
assurance process and activity around adults and children at risk. 

The Governing Body members and CCG staff receive safeguarding adults and 
children training and are clear about their respective roles and responsibilities. The 
CCG, along with the Local Authority and Northumbria Police, is one of the three 
statutory organisation partners for safeguarding children and young people, and we 
play an active role in both the North Tyneside Safeguarding Adults Board and North 
Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

Safeguarding children and adults are important elements of quality monitoring with 
providers, and assurance is sought through regular meetings and quality review 
groups as well as being an important part of contract discussions. Quarterly 
monitoring is also in place using a safeguarding children performance dashboard.  

In relation to adults, there are robust information sharing mechanisms in place with 
the CQC and North Tyneside Council. The local authority and the CCG have joint 
monitoring arrangements in place for nursing homes. As part of quality monitoring, 
safeguarding is included. Joint annual assurance visits take place. Ad-hoc visits take 
place which may be announced or unannounced depending on the situation. 
Learning identified is anonymised and shared at the Care Home Managers meeting 
which has safeguarding as a standing agenda item. This could be on subjects such 
as improving documentation or on Medicines Management Care homeowners will 
then implement learning in their homes and disseminate information to relevant staff.   

When a Safeguarding Adults Review, Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
(formerly known as Serious Case Review), Domestic Homicide Review or any other 
type of learning review occurs, the CCG works with partner agencies to ensure that 
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national policies and procedures are followed, and that learning is shared and acted 
up on by agencies.  

Currently the CCG receives a safeguarding performance dashboard from the 
following providers: 

• Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHCFT) in relation to children, 
adults and Children in Care who are looked after by the Local Authority. 

• Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW) in 
relation to children and adults. 

• North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) in relation to children and adults. 

In addition to the dashboards, the CCG receives information and assurance from a 
variety of other sources. For example: 

• North Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership (NTSCP) – The CCG is now 
one of the three Safeguarding Partners and is therefore a member of NTSCP 
Executive group, the Children and Young People's Partnership Board (CYPPB) 
and all of the sub-groups. 

• North Tyneside Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) - The CCG is one of the three 
core Safeguarding partners and is therefore a member of the board and all of the 
sub-groups. 

• Quality Review Groups – safeguarding is a standing agenda item. 

• Contract monitoring via the performance monitoring team particularly in relation to 
the performance indicators outlined in the NHS Standard Contract Service 
Conditions: SC32 Safeguarding, Mental Capacity and Prevent. 

• North and South of Tyne Child Death Overview Panel.  

• Safer North Tyneside Partnership. 

November 2020 marked the first anniversary of the national implementation of the 
reformed multi-agency safeguarding arrangements for children. North Tyneside CCG 
as a statutory Safeguarding partner, was instrumental in designing, developing and 
implementing those arrangements for North Tyneside. 

The reforms to safeguarding arrangements were made in order to improve the 
strategic approach to multi-agency working at a local level to establish shared, and 
equal, responsibility and accountability across the three safeguarding partners, 
namely the police, the CCG and the local authority for each borough. In North 
Tyneside this has resulted in even closer partnership working between the three 
safeguarding partner agencies, which has been particularly important during the 
Pandemic in enabling the partners to provide effective and efficient strategic 
direction.   

At government level, the implementation and effectiveness of the arrangements have 
been monitored and a report is awaited from Sir Alan Wood who has formally 
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reviewed the effectiveness of the new arrangements taking into account emerging 
good practice and barriers with regards to implementation. He has also focused 
specifically on accountability and governance arrangements where functions have 
been delegated by a statutory safeguarding partner to a senior officer, given that the 
statutory partner remains accountable for any actions or decisions taken on behalf of 
their agency. North Tyneside's CCG's Executive Director of Nursing/Chief Operating 
Officer has been fully involved in the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements on 
behalf of the organisation and as stated above reports are provided to the CCG 
Governing Body at a private session at every meeting.    

When published, Sir Alan's review will enable the partners to learn from where things 
are working well and consider where more work is needed to ensure the local 
partnership arrangements deliver for children and families in the way that was 
intended.   

A significant project this year was the merger of the North of Tyne Child Death 
Overview Panel (CDOP) with the South of Tyne CDOP. North Tyneside CCG's 
Designated Nurse led on the implementation of this merger for North of Tyne, and 
North Tyneside's CCG's Executive Director of Nursing/Chief Operating Officer 
provided the executive leadership. The first merged Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP), was held in May 2020. The new system is supported by the CCG and 
continues to be embedded which thematic analysis and supporting the delivery of 
reviews in line with agreed timeframes.   
 

PREVENT 
The Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015, places a duty on certain bodies in the 
exercise of their functions to have “due regard to the need to prevent people from 
being drawn into terrorism”. Those bodies are referred to “specified authorities” and 
include NHS trusts. 

The statutory guidance: ‘Prevent 
Duty Guidance’ was published in 
2015 and clarifies that all specified 
authorities subject to the duty will 
need to ensure they provide 
appropriate training for staff involved 
in the implementation of this duty.   

The CCG monitors implementation of the PREVENT agenda through the Quality 
Review Groups (QRGs). The PREVENT strategy is part of the Governments overall 
counter-terrorism strategy called CONTEST. The aim of the PREVENT strategy is to 
reduce the threat to the UK from terrorism by safeguarding and supporting those 
individuals vulnerable to radicalization, and so prevents them becoming terrorists or 
supporting terrorism.  
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In health, training is delivered in partnership between NHS England, CCGs, and 
health providers.  

In line with statutory requirements, the CCG has a PREVENT lead who in 
conjunction with provider leads is responsible for driving the strategy forward in 
North Tyneside and providing support and advice.   

The PREVENT lead role includes training and education, monitoring and reporting 
locally, regionally and if required nationally. The lead also ensures specific 
information is disseminated to relevant agencies in a timely manner.  

The CCG’s health providers report on training compliance with PREVENT via the 
PREVENT national reporting system and is also monitored via the NHS Standard 
Contract. It is also monitored through the QRGs and have developed action plans to 
enable them to meet the compliance targets set by NHS England.   

We have been delivering PREVENT basic awareness sessions to our staff since 
2014 to ensure they have the required a knowledge and skills to fulfil their role. At 
the present time, we are compliant with PREVENT training requirements.  

Primary care staff now access national e-learning that meets the requirements of 
both the basic PREVENT awareness and WRAP training.  

NHS England’s Mental Capacity Act 2005 A Guide for Clinical Commissioning 
Groups and other commissioners of healthcare services on Commissioning for 
Compliance sets out our duty to ensure that the legislation, guidance and policy 
relating to the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) are delivered by service providers thereby 
assuring CCGs and NHS England that the rights of patients are being recognised 
and protected. In North Tyneside we use the framework for tendering, contracting 
and monitoring and ongoing assurance.  

The CCG has an appointed lead nurse for MCA and Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) to strengthen the clinical team, providing training and advice. 
 

Workforce and staff experience 
The CCG recognises that our staff is our greatest asset and we strive to ensure their 
health and wellbeing is paramount. We support flexible working and encourage 
positive workforce practices.   

All our providers and commissioners work with the communities they serve to access 
employment opportunities, and this is in line with the ICP strategic priorities to focus 
our joint work across the ICP on three priority areas, noting that collectively our 
health and social care system is one of the largest employers in the area, and we 
have an opportunity to consider what we can do to influence and support a wider 
agenda over and above our current joint work in respect of social care and health 
issues.  
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A Workforce Board has been established in the ICP (North Tyneside, 
Northumberland and Newcastle Gateshead areas) which is chaired by Lesley 
Young-Murphy, Chief Operating Officer/ Executive Director of Nursing at North 
Tyneside CCG and with Sir James Mackie, Chief Executive of Northumbria 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, as the Senior Responsible Officer of the Board. 
The Board is responsible for implementing the actions required from the NHS People 
Plan. The Peoples Plan sets out practical actions for employers and systems, as well 
as the actions that NHS England and NHS Improvement and Health Education 
England will take in relation to workforce.  

We are also closely linked into the ICS workforce transformation work stream and 
programme board and we will continue to work together where it makes sense to do 
so to ensure a strong and sustainable workforce, to harness effort in one place, and 
to share and build on innovation and good practice. 

We are committed to a ‘whole system’ approach to workforce development to ensure 
that it is fit for the future. There are three areas of focus: CCG staff, primary care 
staff and the staff working within the provider organisations that we commission 
services from. The future sustainable delivery of high-quality care is dependent upon 
an agile, adaptive workforce that can respond to the changing context of care 
delivery.  

The CCG continues to monitor Safe Staffing information through the QRGs and 
during assurance visits although it is noted that assurance visits were suspended 
during the pandemic.  

As well as the support and work described earlier in this document to General 
Practices and nursing homes during the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCG worked with 
organisations within the North East and to coordinate workforce across the system. 
This included capturing a comprehensive overview of all current and returning 
workforce resource and potential availability from organisations across the North 
East and Cumbria.  Organisations, including care homes could register with the Hub 
and submit their staffing requirements to enable urgent additional resource to be 
deployed where needed.   

North Tyneside CCG staff employed as nurse assessors in Continuing Healthcare 
(CHC) were redeployed into foundation trusts to support the hospital discharge 
process. 

When the national declaration of a Level 4 national Incident was made in January 
2020, all statutory health and social care organisations triggered the 
operationalisation of their own system and local plans. In North Tyneside, a 
response team was created consisting of lead officers from the local NHS hospitals, 
CCG, Local Authority and Public Health. 

Within the CCG itself, we identified a Senior Responsible Officer and set up an 
incident room with a senior incident manager and a loggist. This has continued to 
date 7 days per week. An incident team consisting of clinical, IT, transformation and 
commissioning staff supported the delivery of the required action. 
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In relation to staff health & wellbeing during the pandemic, we put in place 
procedures to help manage our staff's wellbeing. Staff members worked from home, 
and most continue to do so. Working from home assessments were completed for 
each member of staff which helped to highlight if there are specific needs and these 
are reviewed periodically. COVID-19 BAME colleague risk assessments were also 
undertaken as evidence showed that black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) 
communities are disproportionately affected by COVID-19. 

Members of staff shielding or working from home received direct contact from 
Human Resources and or line managers to check on welfare and wellbeing, and 
some providers have drafted a Health & Wellbeing Strategy and new Health & 
Wellbeing policies. All staff had access to the regionally commissioned Psychological 
Wellbeing Service as well as local commissioned services. GP Practice staff had 
access to additional occupational health support commissioned by NHS England. 

All employers across the ICP (hospital Trusts and CCGs) have their own health and 
wellbeing initiatives and are actively involved in the regional Better Health at Work 
programme. The CCG has been awarded "Continuing Excellence" status by the 
scheme.  

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the initiatives were invaluable in supporting staff, 
and maximising their availability: 

• Supporting staff to stay well and at work with enhanced health and wellbeing 
support for frontline staff. 

• Adjustments for ‘at risk’ staff and staff proactively encouraged to work flexibly and 
agilely, including working from home. 

• Encouraging annual leave. 

• Bespoke groups of experts lead a number of strands of work around sleep and 
fatigue including burn out. 

The wellbeing initiatives and activity described include the following examples: 

• Virtual wellbeing rooms, rest facilities, sleep pods and safe spaces, internal 
HelpHub of resources. 

• Signposting to national, local, and regional support lines. 

• GP Practice staff had access to additional occupational health support 
commissioned by NHSE.  

• Mental health first aiders. 

• Full occupational health service including counselling, consultant physician, 
nursing, physiotherapy and psychology, and Clinical Care Manager welfare 
support.  

• Structured meal break policy and process in place, and whilst up for review, is 
driven around staff safety & wellbeing, as well as improving patient care. 
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• Some organisations have conducted the local Pulse Survey focussed on 
employee wellbeing the outputs of which will be used to inform H&WB 
interventions.  

• Dedicated health and wellbeing coordinator.  

We also enhanced the offering to counselling and worked in partnership with local 
mental health Trusts around the joined-up offering, as outlined previously. 

We have started work with the PCNs to understand the impact of the PCN DES and 
the associated new roles with our existing services.  
 

Digital Strategy & Update 
The CCG has developed an ambitious digital strategy, implementing initiatives, and 
developing innovations which have been nationally recognised.  

During the COVID-19 pandemic, we were able to build upon this platform to provide 
an extensive digital service, supporting our GP Practices improve workflow, 
efficiency, and cost reduction within these practices. A number of new GPIT projects 
and processes were implemented and delivered on time and within budget GPIT 
projects incorporating software, patient screens, laptops and training. 

Total Triage 
North Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has initiated a project to 
support all North Tyneside GP practices/PCNs to maintain the changes adopted 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic and accelerate the ‘Total Triage’ model. 

To support patient access into GP Practices, the CCG rolled out a system called 
AccuRX to all of the GP Practices which enabled GPs to hold video consultations 
with patients. AccuRX also offers an SMS solution that enables bulk messaging and 
bi-directional SMS messaging between practices and patients to all GP practices. 

Laptops were provided to GP Practices to support delivery of care during the 
pandemic which enabled clinicians to work in a safe and agile way as well as 
continuing to deliver care to patients. 

Digitisation of GP records 
This project was completed at the end of April 2020. The CCG was one of the first 
CCGs in the country to complete the digitisation of records from the scanning of 
records to the completion of the project and destruction of hard copy files. 
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STRATA 
North Tyneside CCG has commissioned Strata Health (a UK IT application software 
provider) to deploy a capacity and demand automated process in the new frailty 
integrated care Single Point of Access (SPA) service described in the Improving 
Care for Older People section of this report. The aim is to redesign the workflow to 
offer a more efficient and automated process for both staff and patients. 

Digital Poverty                             
Feedback from a number of sources in relation to the issues experienced in North 
Tyneside in relation to digital poverty prior to COVID-19 led to a call to action by 
Future Care Programme Board members to find out more. The North East has the 
second highest proportion of non-internet users (12.1%) across the UK.  The 
COVID-19 pandemic and the rapid shift in which many services across a range of 
sectors defaulted to online access to health services has impacted on all three levels 
of this digital divide - access, skills and usage, and benefits both on and off 
line.  Working with partners including as Northumbria and Newcastle Universities, 
the CCG has co developed a research proposal to explore this across all households 
and targeted groups in North Tyneside. We will seek to understand: the reasons for 
non-access to technology, facilitators and barriers including skills and perceptions as 
well identify solutions. We will use the outcomes of the research to inform an 
inclusive digital strategy for North Tyneside. 
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Northern CCG Joint Committee 
In common with all CCGs in the region, we play an active role in the Northern CCG 
Joint Committee. 

During 2020/21 the Joint Committee considered the following: 

• Developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) in the North East and North Cumbria 

• Governance items 

• Research and evidence 

• The use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD (age-related macular 
degeneration) 

• Academic Health Science Network 

• Northern Joint Committee Annual Report 2019/20 

• Northern Treatment Advisory Group (NTAG) Annual Report 

• HowFit Programme      

• Learning Disability inpatient provision across the region 

• Commissioning of Maternal Medicine Network 

• North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Annual Review, Business Plan 
2021/22-2022/23 and customer board reports 

A work plan for the Joint Committee for 2020/21 was agreed and includes: 

• Proposals for jointly commissioning breast diagnostic services across the ICS 
area. 

• To jointly commission cardiology and specialised neuro-rehabilitation services 
within NHS England/NHS Improvement’s Specialised Commissioning team for the 
North East and North Cumbria. 

• Development of a consistent policy to be applied across the ICS area for Value-
Based Clinical Commissioning (VBCC) and Individual Funding Requests (IFRs). 

• North Cumbria North East Prescribing Forum. 

• Plans for rheumatology services in the County Durham, South Tyneside and 
Sunderland ICP as they develop and for any other services being developed on 
an ICP footprint which may have an impact on areas of the region. 

Due to COVID-19, it was not possible to hold meetings of the Committee in public. 
However, papers were published on CCG websites together with recordings of more 
recent meetings. 
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Engaging People and Communities 
The CCG is committed to working with system partners, patients, carers and the 
public to improve patient safety, patient experience, health outcomes and, in doing 
so, support people to optimise their health and wellbeing.  

North Tyneside CCG’s vision demonstrates its commitment to make the best use of 
public resources. Important decisions that affect patients will be made by us in 
partnership with key stakeholders; at the heart of which are local people. Like many 
other areas, North Tyneside has an ageing population, an increase in public 
expectations and an increasing demand for services. To ensure that we have person 
centred sustainable services, we work with partners and the public to continue to 
develop a shared decision-making approach to service change and development. 

We undertake demographic monitoring to ensure that inclusive participation across 
the borough and that the nine protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 are 
covered. We can confirm that the annual report is a key part of the evidence the 
CCG will submit for review for the Oversight Framework indicator 50. As in previous 
years, the CCG's patient and public participation engagement report details all of the 
ways we work with local people to improve access, service delivery and quality. It 
also includes evidence of local people acting as a catalyst for innovation and 
change.  The report is available on the CCG website under Annual Report 
documents. 

Patient Forum development session 
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Developing the infrastructure for engagement and 
participation  
The CCG wants to listen to our patients and local communities, and we want to hear 
their views about healthcare and wider commissioned services so that we can use 
them to inform our commissioning decisions. We recognise this is underpinned by 
our legal obligation to offer opportunities to be involved at different stages of the 
commissioning process.  

The CCG has a Communications and Engagement Strategy which is kept under 
constant review by our Communications & Engagement Committee to ensure it is fit 
for purpose and it underpins all CCG activity. It should be read in conjunction with 
other key documentation including the Equality Strategy, Operating Plan, and 
Information & Technology Strategy.  

 We have a range of methods to ensure involvement and engagement which are 
summarised in this section. We have also taken the opportunity to demonstrate 
patient and public engagement and participation throughout this document in relation 
to specific initiatives and developments.  

 A key element of how we operate is providing information in accessible formats. The 
CCG continuously offers assistance for those who require communications or other 
support to enable them to engage.  This may include translation into other 
languages, cover transport costs to engagement events as well as providing an 
independent external facilitator to capture their story. 

We have also created an ‘easy read’ version of our previous annual report to make it 
more accessible for a wider audience. We asked for feedback from members of the 
Patient Forum, as well as an easy read specialist in health to ensure that the report 
was suitable before publishing it on the CCG’s website. NHS England highlighted our 
easy read annual report as an example of best practice in patient and public 
participation.  We will continue to provide this ‘easy read’ version for 2020/21 and 
this will be available on the CCG website under Annual Report documents. 

The CCG has also commissioned a number of videos to help us share information 
with patients and the community in an exciting and accessible way. These videos are 
played in a number of locations such as GP practice waiting rooms, CCG buildings 
and COVID-19 vaccination centres to help us reach a wide audience. 

The CCG also has a ‘Get Involved’ section on our website. This helps people to get 
more involved in the CCG’s work in a variety of ways. For example, people can find 
out more about the Patient Forum, various working groups, individual practice patient 
forums and the CCG’s meetings which are held in public.  

We encourage people to get involved in these areas of work and have had members 
of the public contact us through these methods who have subsequently been 
involved in some specific areas of work, for example the CCG’s Cancer Plan.  
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Online forms are available for people to make complaints or to share compliments or 
comments about services or their experiences.  

We also gather intelligence from our partner organisations to help us gain early 
feedback on emerging issues.  The CCG has a monthly operational meeting 
involving Community Health Care Forum, VODA, Healthwatch North Tyneside, 
TyneHealth, North Tyneside Council and Northumbria Healthcare Foundation Trust 
to identify emerging issues which may warrant further investigation or action and 
develop a unified solution for North Tyneside across all partners.  This also ensures 
that we are widening our reach using partner stakeholder links to have the maximum 
impact.  For example, we wanted to understand how patients wanted to engage with 
GPs and primary care post COVID.  We worked with Healthwatch North Tyneside to 
develop a way of gathering resident views on accessing GP and primary care 
services.  Healthwatch drafted the remit of the survey and this was shared with the 
CCG and partners for feedback, comments received and the survey finalised.  We 
then shared the survey with partners to distribute across their stakeholder channels 
and encourage completion of the survey.  We arranged for Healthwatch to gather 
views at our COVID-19 vaccination clinics and hubs so that we could target more 
residents across different demographics.  We also liaised with Livi, which has been 
commissioned to improve access to a GP which is complimentary to the patients GP 
practice. They offer GP video consultations in North Tyneside. They targeted 
residents which had used Livi to provide a more qualitative response on their 
experience.  The response rate has, to date, been much higher than previous 
surveys and will provide a rich resource of both quantitative and qualitative feedback 
on which to base the future model of GP access and primary care. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has seen unprecedented change in service delivery across 
health and social care. Throughout this we have worked with health, social care, 
community and voluntary sector partners and wider stakeholders to ensure that 
together we engaged and communicated with our local communities. We have all 
worked with the Director of Public Health and Health Watch to ensure that messages 
are clear, accessible and when indicated targeted. 

The COVID-19 vaccination programme is the largest immunisation programme the 
NHS has ever had to roll out.  With lockdown procedures in place, going to a 
vaccination centre was the first time some residents had left their house in almost a 
year.  We knew early on how anxious residents and their carers were as they did not 
know what to expect when they were invited to a vaccination centre.  To help 
alleviate those fears, the CCG and its partners worked closely together to provide 
information to show people what they would need to do when they got to the 
vaccination centres, what would happen and what they needed to do following their 
vaccination.  This helped to both improve the flow of patients and carers through the 
vaccination process on site, and also reduced vaccine hesitancy.  We did this 
through regular updates through websites, social media platforms and the use of 
videos following residents being vaccinated.  We also helped film a Chinese couple 
receiving their vaccine and interviewing them in Cantonese afterwards where they 
encouraged uptake across BAME communities.   
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Every year the CCG produces a document describing its key priority areas for 
commissioning services. The Patient Forum takes the opportunity to influence the 
CCG’s priorities by considering its Commissioning Intentions document as well as 
receiving regular commissioning updates throughout the year. The commissioning 
intentions are also shared with Healthwatch North Tyneside and the Health and 
Well-Being Board as partners across the system.  

The CCG attends the North Tyneside ‘Working With’ group – a council and voluntary 
sector collaboration which considers health and social care issues – to provide 
opportunities to debate the commissioning intentions document and suggest 
improvements.  

Patient Forum 
The Patient Forum is a constituted sub-committee of the 
CCG’s Governing Body. Patient and public involvement is 
reported to every meeting of the CCG Governing Body that 
is held in public. This provides evidence that the Governing 
Body is assured about public involvement activity and the 
difference it has made. 

The Patient Forum is strong, robust and acts as a critical friend to the CCG and its 
Governing Body. Members are encouraged to challenge and debate throughout all 
engagement processes.  

The aim of the Patient Forum is to have 
membership from each of the 25 GP 
practices in North Tyneside who come 
from practices’ own patient participation 
groups. Most practices have active 
patient groups with scheduled meetings 
throughout the year and others run 
virtual groups to engage with their 
patient population. 

Agenda items for the forum are a 
mixture of CCG areas for discussion, 
and member-led issues for meetings. As 
a result of members areas of special 
interests identified within development 
sessions and inductions, these are 
matched with CCG priorities and a 
series of smaller working groups have 
therefore been established to enable 
more in-depth discussion and influence. 
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The Patient Forum sub-committee met six times during 2020/21 and were involved 
with a series of health discussions giving an opportunity to share their experiences of 
services in North Tyneside.  

During the pandemic members have embraced the new virtual way of working, with 
the exception of two meetings, all have taken place this equated to 37 scheduled 
meetings and an additional six task and finish group meetings. 

Topics for discussion, which have influenced commissioning decision-making, 
included NHS North Tyneside CCG commissioning intentions, integrated Frailty 
Service, Livi the online GP appointments project and supporting key messages for 
the COVID-19 vaccination programme. 

Additionally, over the past year, the forum has been involved in: 

• Living Well North Tyneside website development – a resource for the community 
and professionals 

• HowFit-website and booklet testing and feedback 

• Care Homes research – safe transition of care 

The CCG would like to take the opportunity to acknowledge the excellent work of the 
NHS North Tyneside CCG Patient Forum. The Forum as a critical friend plays a key 
role in keeping patient and public engagement at the core of our work, and the 
efforts of the members is invaluable to the CCG. 

We would also like to take the opportunity to thank Healthwatch. all of our partners 
and members of the public who have helped us this year. 

Development sessions 

Each year, Patient Forum members have this additional session to reflect on their 
influence and impact on services and initiatives. The viability of the forum and 
working groups is discussed and reviewed at length with recommendations arising to 
ensure the groups are in line with the CCGs priorities and member’s expectations. 

Patient Forum working groups 

The forum has a series of smaller working groups and members with areas of 
special interest join these to work on specific areas of development. Each of the 
groups also have ongoing themes, mental health, children young people and 
families, self-care. These groups are outlined below. 

Mental health 

This group debates and informs mental health service developments and take part in 
service visits to enhance members knowledge. Recently members received an 
enlightening presentation on services for people with a learning disability and this is 
an area to be visited post COVID-19. 
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Communications 

Members support the CCG with matters relating to communications. This includes 
the CCG website, publications, and the production of the Patient Forum newsletter.  
Issue 22 of the newsletter has been produced and distributed across the borough 
and aims to ensure as many patients as possible have the opportunity to read it. 

Members fed back to the CCG that the public were becoming more and more 
confused about what to do when they were going for their COVID-19 vaccine and 
what they needed to do after receiving the first dose.  This was early in the 
vaccination programme when there was a lot of different information in the public 
domain and preconceptions about what was the right the right thing to do.  The CCG 
worked with the Communications Working Group to identify the key questions 
residents had about their COVID-19 vaccination.  The group came up with a list of 
key information for the general public about preparing to go for the vaccine and what 
to do post vaccine.  This was turned into an animation video which is played in all the 
GP waiting rooms and sites across North Tyneside.  This has helped to prepare 
residents and provide consistent messaging on vaccine rollout from a trusted source. 

Future care 

This group focusses on supporting the collaborative transformation agenda across 
health and social care via the partnership board. Under theme of living well and 
ageing well members have focussed on older people, urgent care and service areas 
identified in the Future Care Programme Board work plan. In addition, members of 
this group will have more service visits post COVID-19.  

Members continue to be involved in the planning of the Integrated Frailty Service as 
part of the exciting Ageing Well agenda. 

End of life care 

Members support all end of life initiatives which include patient and carer 
information, shared patient records and palliative care services. Currently Do Not 
Attempt Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (DNACPR) is an important agenda item. 

Innovations 

This group has the opportunity to influence new developments such as Livi. Patient 
forum members were instrumental in developing the approach, delivery and 
evaluation of this additional capacity GP video consultation service.  

The Patient Forum and working groups are coordinated and facilitated by North 
Tyneside Community and Health Care Forum (CHCF), North Shields based and 
working boroughwide to support North Tyneside CCG with patient engagement. 
CHCF interface with over 300 community groups and work with other partner 
organisations to engage and involve local people. Post COVID-19 will enable CHCF 
to resume their community engagement and involvement work with others in the 
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borough who are not part of their GP practice patient group or part of the Patient 
Forum. 

Healthwatch North Tyneside 
The CCG recognises the important role that 
Healthwatch North Tyneside plays in 
representing the views of our residents.  

A Healthwatch representative is a key stakeholder in the CCG’s Future Care 
Programme Board, responsible for the system wide transformation programme for 
North Tyneside and is also a member of the CCG’s Communication & Engagement 
Strategic Group.  

The CCG and Healthwatch agree a programme of work each year, focussing on the 
key areas that patients and the public have highlighted to Healthwatch and which link 
of transformation programmes being undertaken in the CCG. Healthwatch has 
highlighted several areas where further work is needed and is working closely with 
the CCG, and other partners as appropriate, to address these issues.  

Access to information 

People have told Healthwatch about the challenge of getting up-to-date, accurate 
and trusted information about local health and care services. The pandemic 
highlighted this gap, but it has also emerged through our thematic work. It is 
expected that the Living Well North Tyneside Partnership should address this. 

Access to care 

The pandemic necessitated a monumental shift in how people access health and 
care services and Healthwatch has been gathering feedback about people’s 
experiences and are working with the CCG and Primary Care Networks to 
understand what has worked well and could be continued into the future. 

Digital inclusion 

With significant shift of services into virtual and online delivery, Healthwatch has 
heard about people’s challenges of accessing services online including 
knowledge/skills, kit, data connectivity and credit. As mentioned previously in this 
Report, the CCG has commissioned research into digital exclusion and is working 
with academic partners and other stakeholders to co-develop and deliver innovative 
research.  

Communication and coordination  

People have told Healthwatch about feeling detached from the care of their loved 
ones and limited access to information during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly 
with hospital/care home visiting restricted. We have worked with partners to respond 
to the findings and inform our place-based plan.  
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Inequality  

Healthwatch is starting to hear about different experiences for people who can afford 
to pay for support when public services were not available. Inequalities is a 
considerable issue moving forward post pandemic and the CCG working in 
partnership with North Tyneside Local Authority and Director of Public Health will 
ensure our collective plan for North Tyneside is explicitly about how this will continue 
to be addressed.  

Hear My Voice North Tyneside 
During 2019/20, the CCG launched a new project called ‘Hear My Voice North 
Tyneside’ to help patients, family members, carers, and staff to describe their 
experience of receiving and delivering health care. 

The CCG has supported the project by purchasing a license to use SenseMaker, an 
online survey tool that collects quantitative and qualitative data, combining them to 
produce uniquely insightful information. 

The project is one of the ways in which we can strengthen a culture of partnership 
and collaborative working, by integrating the feedback we receive into shaping and 
delivering services for the future. 

Community and voluntary sector groups and patient Forum members have helped to 
shape, test and pilot Hear My Voice and test the website.  
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Summary 
The impact that engagement and involvement has had on CCG planning and 
commissioning cannot be underestimated. We have many examples, which we 
describe throughout this document, of the influence that it has had on shaping 
services and how services are provided. Just some of the examples would include: 

• Commissioning a number of videos to help us share information with patients and 
the community in an exciting and accessible way. These were played in a number 
of locations such as practice waiting rooms and COVID-19 vaccination centres. 

• The CCG and its partners worked closely to provide information to show people 
what they would need to do when they got to the vaccination centres, what would 
happen and what they needed to do following their vaccination. 

• We also filmed a Chinese couple receiving their vaccinations and interviewed 
them in Cantonese afterwards where they encouraged uptake of the COVID-19 
vaccination across BAME communities.  

• Continued work on the North Tyneside Cancer Plan, giving service users and 
carers a chance to have “conversations on cancer”.  

• We involved CCG Patient Forum members in development of the HowFit website 
and booklet, the Living Well North Tyneside website and incident reporting 
methods as part of Care Homes research. 

• We engaged with the North Tyneside Youth Forum on key priorities for the CCG 
SEND Action Plan continuing this during lockdown.  

• A young people's Recovery College is being developed through consultation with 
a diverse range of young people. 

• Commissioned, with the Local Authority, a SEND participation post to enable 
children and young people with special education needs or disability to have 
access to high quality participation opportunities. 

• We worked with Healthwatch North Tyneside to develop and undertake a survey 
to gather resident views on accessing GP and primary care services. 

We continue to strive to look for new and innovative ways to engage and involve 
patients, carers and the public and to maximise the methods of and opportunities for 
engagement and involvement.   
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Accountability 
Report  
 
Mark Adams 
Accountable Officer  
1 June 2021 
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Corporate Governance Report 
Members’ Report 
Member profiles 

Membership of the CCG Governing Body is summarised in table 7 below.  
Profiles of members are given on the CCG website. 
www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/about-us/meet-the-team/  

Member practices 

The CCG is made up of the 25 GP practices in North Tyneside, as listed below: 

Table 6: List of GP practices in North Tyneside 
 

North Shields Wallsend 
Collingwood Health Group Bewicke Medical Centre 

Nelson Medical Group Park Road Medical Practice 

Redburn Park Medical Centre Portugal Place Health Centre 

Spring Terrace Health Centre The Village Green Surgery 

The Priory Medical Group  

North West Whitley Bay 

Lane End Surgery Beaumont Park Medical Group 
Mallard Medical Group Monkseaton Medical Centre 

Northumberland Park Park Parade Surgery 

Stephenson Park Health Group Bridge Medical 

Swarland Avenue Surgery 49 Marine Avenue Surgery 

Wellspring Medical Practice Whitley Bay Health Centre 

West Farm Surgery Marine Avenue Medical Centre 

Wideopen Medical Centre 
 

Woodlands Park Health Centre  

 
 

CCG Council of Practices 

The Council of Practices comprises a nominated GP from each of the 25 GP 
practices that form the CCG. Its terms of reference require it to meet at least four 
times a year. In 2020/21 the Council of Practices met four times. 

http://www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/about-us/meet-the-team/
http://www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/about-us/meet-the-team/
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Composition of Governing Body 

The membership of the CCG Governing Body is set out in the CCG constitution. The 
composition of the Governing Body for 2020/2021 is shown in table seven. 

Table 7: Membership of the CCG Governing Body  

Title Name Gender 
Clinical Chair Dr Richard Scott Male 

Chief Officer Mr Mark Adams Male 

Deputy Lay Chair Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL Female 

Lay Member (audit and 
governance) 

Mr David Willis OBE Male 

Lay Member (patient and public 
involvement) 

Mrs Eleanor Hayward Female 

Secondary Care Specialist 
Doctor 

Dr Neela Shabde Female 

Executive Director of Nursing & 
Chief Operating Officer 
(registered nurse) 

Dr Lesley Young-Murphy Female 

Chief Finance Officer Mr Jon Connolly Male 

Medical Director Dr Ruth Evans Female 
 

Table 8: Non-voting members of the Governing Body  

Title Name Gender 
Director of Commissioning & 
Planning 

Mrs Anya Paradis Female 

Director of Contracting & 
Finance 

Mr Jeff Goldthorpe Male 

Director Quality and Patient 
Safety 

Mrs Maureen Grieveson Female 

Head of Governance Mrs Irene Walker Female 

Director of Public Health Mrs Wendy Burke Female 
 

 

 

 

 



116 

Committee(s), including Audit Committee 

Membership of the CCG Audit Committee 

Table 9: Audit Committee  

Title Name Gender 
Chair of Audit Committee Mr David Willis OBE Male 

Member of Audit Committee Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL Female 

Member of Audit Committee  Dr Shaun Lackey Male 
 

Membership of the Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee  

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee reports directly to the 
Governing Body and assists the Governing Body in its duties to promote a 
comprehensive health service, reduce inequalities and promote innovation.  

Table 10: Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee  

Role Name of post holder Gender 
Chief Officer Mr Mark Adams Male 

Executive Director of Nursing & 
Chief Operating Officer  

Dr Lesley Young-Murphy Female 

Medical Director Dr Ruth Evans Female 

Chief Finance Officer Mr Jon Connolly Male 

Clinical Director Dr Shaun Lackey Male 

Clinical Director Dr Alex Kent Female 

Clinical Director Dr Steve Parry Male 

Director of Commissioning & 
Planning 

Mrs Anya Paradis 
 

Female 

Director of Patient Quality & 
Safety 

Mrs Maureen Grieveson Female 

Director of Contracting & 
Finance 

Mr Jeff Goldthorpe Male 

Practice Manager Mr Philip Horsfield Male 

Deputy Director Transformation Mr Walter Charlton Male 

Deputy Director Commissioning 
and Corporate Development 

Mr Gary Charlton Male 

Deputy Director Commissioning 
and Performance 

Mrs Janet Arris Female 
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Head of Governance  Mrs Irene Walker Female 

Head of Planning & 
Commissioning 

Mr Steve Rundle Male 

Senior Provider Management 
Lead 

Mrs Kaye McEntee Female 

 
More details about the work of the CCG, its Governing Body and its committees are 
given in the Governance Statement. 

Register of Interests 

The CCG has arrangements in place for the effective management of conflicts of 
interest. Details of company directorships and other significant interests held by 
members of the Governing Body and other CCG committees are recorded in the 
Register of Interests.  

The Register of Interests is available on the CCG website at: 
www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/register-of-interest/ 

Personal data related incidents 

There were no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches in 
2020/21. No data incidents were reported to the Information Commissioner’s Officer 
during 2020/21.  

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms:  

• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit 
report  

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.  

Modern Slavery Act  

North Tyneside CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern 
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an 
annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery 
Act 2015.  

http://www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/register-of-interest/
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s 
Responsibilities  
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England has 
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of North Tyneside CCG. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable;  

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable 
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction);  

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities); 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money; 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically 
(in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of 
services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended)); 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 
223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and 
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
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• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and, 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable. 

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS North 
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So 
far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are 
unaware. 

I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have 
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that 
information.  

 

 

Mark Adams 
Accountable Officer  
1 June 2021 
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Governance Statement 
Introduction and context 

North Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by 
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended). 

The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  The CCG’s general function is arranging the 
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.  
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health 
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of its local population.   

As at 1 April 2020, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions 
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 
2006. 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s 
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical 
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 

The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently, and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 
good governance as are relevant to it. 

CCG constitution   

The CCG had a fully compliant constitution at the time of authorisation, endorsed by 
the member practices and approved by NHS England. The CCG Constitution has 
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been updated to version 17, approved by NHS England on 10 May 2021, and is 
available here www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/constitution/ .      

The CCG governance structure is shown in figure 9.   

Figure 9: North Tyneside CCG Governance Structure  

 

The scheme of reservation and delegation is part of the CCG’s constitution and sets 
out the split of responsibilities and decision making between the membership body 
(Council of Practices) and the Governing Body.  

Council of Practices  

The 25 nominated member practice representatives meet as the Council of 
Practices. The responsibilities of the Council of Practices are set out in the CCG 
Constitution and there are agreed terms of reference.  

The Council of Practices acts as a forum for clinical engagement and provides an 
area for members to give input and insight into the development of ongoing clinical 
transformation, new models of care and primary care.  

On behalf of the CCG, the Council of Practices holds to account the Governing Body 
through two-way communication about the overall performance of the Group. The 
Council of Practices is chaired by the Clinical Chair of the CCG, who is also chair of 
the Governing Body. GP practice managers attend the Council of Practices but are 
not voting members.  

https://www.northtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/constitution/
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The Council of Practices is required by its terms of reference to meet no less than 
four times a year, and it met four times ‘virtually’ in the 12-month period ending 31 
March 2021.  

During 2020/21 discussions at meetings of the Council of Practices included:  

• COVID-19 
• Future Care 
• GP Investments 
• Flu 
• NHS People Plan 
• Learning Disabilities 
• Medicines Optimisation 
• Primary Care Networks 
• Place Based Plan 

The Council of Practices reviewed its effectiveness by members completing an 
anonymous survey in January 2021. Overall, the results of the survey were positive.  

CCG Governing Body  

The Governing Body is constituted in line with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, 
and associated CCG regulations.  

The membership of the NHS North Tyneside CCG Governing Body is set out in the 
CCG Constitution.  

The membership of the Governing Body during the year beginning 1 April 2020 is set 
out in the accountability report.  

The Governing Body is the main decision-making committee of the CCG. A list of 
voting members is shown at table seven and the non-voting members are shown at 
table eight.  

The Governing Body usually holds meetings in public thereby ensuring accountability 
and transparency of decision making. However, this has not been possible during 
the COVID-19 pandemic: the CCG has continued to provide the agendas, papers, 
and minutes of each meeting on its website. 

The Governing Body develops, implements, and delivers the strategic priorities of 
the Group, working with the Council of Practices, and the Accountable Officer.  

The Governing Body has delegated authority for all decisions of the CCG, except 
those explicitly reserved to the Council of Practices. It is accountable to the CCG for 
all decisions which it makes and is held to account by the CCG through its 
representative committee, the Council of Practices. 

The Standing Orders state that the Governing Body will meet no less than four times 
per year. During the year ending 31 March 2021, the CCG Governing Body has met 
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six times in public, with papers posted in public in advance of the meeting. The Chair 
was present at all meetings in public.  

The 2019/20 Annual Accounts and Annual Report were presented in public at the 
CCG Annual Public Meeting on 25 July 2020.  

Throughout the year, the CCG Governing Body was supported by seven 
committees, each chaired by a lay member of the Governing Body (except the 
Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee which is chaired by the Chief 
Officer): the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Clinical 
Commissioning and Contracts Committee, the Quality and Safety Committee, the 
Patient Forum, the Finance Committee and the Primary Care Committee.  

The CCG Governing Body receives regular reports from its committees on the 
quality of commissioned services, finance, performance, public & patient 
involvement, and governance. Other items of business discussed by Governing 
Body in 2020/21 have included:  

• COVID-19 
• HOWfit 
• Winter Planning 
• Place Based Transformation Plan 
• Access to online and video consultations 
• CCG Oversight Framework 
• Corporate Objectives 
• Integrated Care System (ICS) Proposal  

In addition to the formal meetings held during the year, governing body members 
also attended a joint development session with neighbouring CCGs looking at ways 
of working.  

The Governing Body completed a self-assessment of its operation and effectiveness 
in January 2021.  

All members responded to the survey and in collective discussion when the results 
were presented, agreed no improvement actions were required.  

Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee is a committee of the Governing Body. It was in operation 
throughout the 12-month period ending 31 March 2021.  

The committee provides the CCG Governing Body with an independent and 
objective view of the CCG’s system of internal control, including financial systems, 
business systems, performance information, financial information and compliance 
with laws, regulations and directions governing the CCG. 
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The Audit Committee has agreed terms of reference. The committee is comprised 
entirely of independent members, as follows:  

• CCG Lay Member for Governance and Audit (Chair) - David Willis OBE 

• CCG Deputy Lay Chair - Mary Coyle MBE DL 

• One other member with the relevant skills and experience as nominated by the 
Governing Body - Dr Shaun Lackey 

All three have been members of the Audit Committee for the whole year 2020/21. 

The CCG’s internal and external auditors, Chief Finance Officer, Director of 
Contracting & Finance, and Head of Governance routinely attend the Audit 
Committee. The Chief Officer attends at least annually, and the Counter Fraud 
Officer has a standing invitation. 

In accordance with the terms of reference, the Audit Committee meets not less than 
five times per financial year. In 2020/21 the Audit Committee met six times, ‘virtually’. 
On each occasion the Audit Committee members met privately and then with the 
internal and external auditors prior to the CCG officers joining the meeting. The Chair 
was present at all meetings. 

The Audit Committee Chair provides a written briefing to all members of the CCG 
Governing Body after each meeting of the Audit Committee.  

The Audit Committee receives assurances from the Quality & Safety Committee 
(written) and the Finance Committee (verbal). 

The Audit Committee’s main activities throughout 2020/21have been:  

• Assurance of risk management and assurance 
• Approval and monitoring of the CCG’s audit plans 
• Counter fraud reports 
• Financial polices 
• Financial reports  
• Receiving assurances on quality and safety  
• Receiving audit reports 
• Reviewing the annual report, annual governance statement and annual accounts 

for the Governing Body  
• COVID-19 
• Data Security & Protection Toolkit 

The Audit Committee completed a self-assessment survey of its operation and 
effectiveness during 2020/21 based on the NHS Audit Committee handbook. Overall, 
the results of the survey were positive, and members determined that no significant 
improvement actions were required from the effectiveness survey. 
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Remuneration Committee  

The Remuneration Committee was in operation throughout the 12-month period 
ending 31 March 2021.  

The roles and responsibilities of the committee are set out in the CCG Constitution.  

The Remuneration Committee is an advisory committee which makes 
recommendations to the CCG Governing Body on determinations about the 
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who provide 
services to the group and on determinations about allowances under any pension 
scheme that the group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. 

The committee is comprised entirely of lay members, as follows:  

• CCG Deputy Lay Chair (Chair) - Mary Coyle MBE DL 
• CCG Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement - Eleanor Hayward 
• CCG Lay Member for Governance and Audit - David Willis OBE 

All members were in post at the time of CCG authorisation. All have been in post 
during 2020/21 and remain in post.  

The CCG Head of Governance attends the Remuneration Committee, and the Chief 
Officer, Executive Director of Nursing & Chief Operating Officer and Head of Human 
Resources (from the Commissioning Support Unit) are in attendance as required.  

When an individual is the subject matter of discussion at any time during the 
committee meeting, that individual is excluded from that part of the meeting. The 
quorum for the meeting is two members. As there are three members the committee 
remains quorate even when a member is excluded. The Chair was present at all 
meetings. 

The terms of reference require that the Remuneration Committee will meet at least 
annually.  

The Remuneration Committee has met twice during 2020/21. The principal items of 
business were: 

• Remuneration and staff report 
• Remuneration for those not covered by Agenda for Change (AfC)  

Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee 

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee is a committee of the 
Governing Body. The responsibilities of the Clinical Commissioning and Contracts 
Committee are set out its agreed terms of reference.  

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee assists the Governing Body in 
its duties to promote a comprehensive health service, reduce inequalities and 
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promote innovation. It is chaired by the Chief Officer. The membership of the Clinical 
Commissioning and Contracts Committee is shown at table ten.  

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee meet not less than four times 
each year.  

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee met 10 times in the period 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2021. The main items of business were:  

• Quality & risk updates 
• Finance, Contracts, Performance  

• Risk Assurance Framework 

• Future Care 

• Continuing health care 

• Procurements progress reports 

• Place based plans 

• Faecal Immunochemical Testing (FIT) for 2ww Urgent Colorectal Patients 

• Admiral Nurse Service 

• Digital dermatology 

• Type 2 Diabetes Structured Education Service 

• Type 2 Diabetes Education Service for Patients with a Learning Disability 

• Towards Safer Shared Care 

• Mental health conveyancing 

• Community spirometry testing 

• Consultant to consultant referral policy 

• Investments 20/21 

• St Oswalds Hospice (Children’s respite care) 

• Learning Disability health and wellbeing provision  

• North Tyneside Integrated Musculoskeletal Service (NTIMS) 

• Diabetes investments 

• OptimiseRx 

• Independent sector contracting 

The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee completed a self-assessment 
of its operation and effectiveness during 2020/21. The self-assessment was 
presented to the February 2021 committee. Members agreed no improvement 
actions were required.   
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Quality and Safety Committee 

The Quality and Safety Committee was in operation throughout the 12-month period 
ending 31 March 2021. The roles and responsibilities of the committee are set out in 
its agreed terms of reference.  

The Quality and Safety Committee is responsible for ensuring the appropriate 
governance systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor and ensure 
the delivery of high-quality safe patient care in commissioned services. The Quality 
and Safety Committee provides assurances to Governing Body and Audit 
Committee. 

The Quality and Safety Committee membership comprises: 

Deputy Lay Chair (Chair of the Committee) Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL 
 
Secondary Care Specialist Doctor 

 
Dr Neela Shabde 

 
Member Practice GP Representative/GP  
Safeguarding Lead 

 
Dr Riaan Swanepoel 

 
Executive Director of Nursing & Chief Operating 
Officer  

 
Dr Lesley Young-Murphy 
 

 
Medical Director  

 
Dr Ruth Evans 

 
Head of Planning & Commissioning 

 
Mr Steve Rundle 

 
Director Patient Quality & Safety 

 
Mrs Maureen Grieveson 

 
Head of Governance 

 
Mrs Irene Walker 

 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children 

 
Mrs Jan Hemingway 

 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults 

 
Mr Adrian Dracup 

 
Deputy Director Commissioning & Corporate 
Development 

 
Mr Gary Charlton 

 
Deputy Director Commissioning & Performance 

 
Mrs Janet Arris 

 

The Quality and Safety Committee has met a total of six times in the year from 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2021. The Chair was present at all of the meetings. The 
Quality and Safety Committee provides regular reports to the Governing Body.  

The main items of business throughout the year 2020/21 have been:  

• Integrated quality and performance Report 
• Continuing healthcare (CHC) 
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• CQC published reports 
• Provider quality accounts 
• Healthcare acquired infections  
• Never events 
• Safeguarding  
• Special educational needs and disability (SEND) 
• Learning disabilities - transforming care 
• Serious incident and management   
• Quality update - Primary Care Quality Group     
• Commissioner assurance visits 
• Information governance 
• HR performance report 
• Equalities and diversity 
• Risk management  
• Health and safety 
• Polices for approval  
• Mortality 

The committee completed a self-assessment of its effectiveness in January 2021 
and the collated results were reported to the March 2021 meeting. Committee 
members received the results of the self-assessment and agreed that the results 
were good.    

Patient Forum 

The Patient Forum was in operation throughout the 12-month period 2020/2021.  

There have been six virtual meetings of the Patient Forum between April 2020 and 
March 2021, and the Chair of the Committee has attended all six meetings.  

The Patient Forum assists the CCG in its duty to secure public involvement and 
engagement in the planning, development, and operation of commissioning 
arrangements, providing a clear patient and carer voice direct to the Governing 
Body.  

The Patient Forum is chaired by the CCG Lay Member for Public and Patient 
Involvement, Mrs Eleanor Hayward and is facilitated by the North Tyneside 
Community and Health Care Forum. Dr Lesley Young-Murphy, Executive Director of 
Nursing and Chief Operating Officer, is the lead officer for the Patient Forum.  

The Patient Forum aims to have membership from each of the 25 GP Practices in 
North Tyneside. Agenda items for the Forum are a mix of CCG areas for discussion 
and member-led issues.  
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The Patient Forum is strong, robust and acts as a critical friend to the CCG and its 
Governing Body. Members are encouraged to challenge and debate throughout all 
engagement processes. The strength of the Forum is the dedication and 
commitment within the membership as well as their passion for local health services. 

The Patient Forum is supported by a range of working groups. The topics are 
decided by Forum members and are compatible with CCG plans and priorities.  

The Patient Forum programme of work for 2020/21 is described in the Performance 
Overview: Engaging People & Communities section of this report.  

Finance Committee 

The Finance Committee was in place in April 2020 and remains in place. There are 
agreed terms of reference for the committee. The remit of the committee is to 
oversee the financial position of the CCG.  

The committee’s agenda is driven by the priorities identified by the CCG and the 
associated risks.  

The committee membership is as follows:  

• Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement (Chair) – Mrs Eleanor Hayward 
• Lay Member for Governance and Audit – Mr David Willis OBE  
• Chief Finance Officer - Mr Jon Connolly  
• Clinical Director – Dr Ruth Evans (Medical Director) 

The terms of reference require that the Finance Committee will meet a minimum of 
four times each year. The committee has met six times during the period April 2020 
to March 2021and continues to meet. The Chair was present at all meetings.  

The principal items of business were: 

• CCG Financial Planning 
• Reviewing the CCG Financial position 
• Risk Assurance Framework 

Primary Care Committee 

The Primary Care Committee is a committee of the Governing Body.  

The committee functions as a corporate decision-making body for the management 
of delegated functions. NHS England has delegated to the CCG authority to exercise 
the primary care commissioning functions as set out in Schedule 2 (delegated 
functions) and in accordance with section 13Z of the NHS Act. 

The committee was established in April 2015 and remains in place. There are 
agreed terms of reference for the committee. The terms of reference were reviewed 
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by the committee and minor updates were approved by the Governing Body and 
NHSE in May 2020.  

The committee membership is as follows:  

• CCG Deputy Lay Chair - Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL (Chair and voting member) 
• A Director from North Tyneside CCG – Dr Lesley Young Murphy, or deputy 

(voting member) 
• Chief Finance Officer – Mr Jon Connolly or deputy (voting member) 
• Director (or designate) from NHS England (non-voting member) 
• Clinical Director or their nominated GP (non-voting member) 
• Practice Manager – Mr Philip Horsfield (non-voting member) 

There is a standing invitation to the meetings of this committee to specified partners 
in a non-voting capacity, namely the North Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board 
and Healthwatch North Tyneside.  

The terms of reference require that the Primary Care Committee will meet not less 
than four times per year in public. The committee has met five times in public during 
the period April 2020 to March 2021 and continues to meet. The Chair was present 
at all meetings.  

The principal items of business were: 

• COVID-19 response 
• 2020/21 Prescribing Engagement Scheme 
• LIVI implementation 
• GP Patient survey 
• 2020/21 Primary Care Co-Commissioning Budget 
• Contract baseline report August 2020 
• Northumberland Park Medical Group: Application form for premises 

reimbursement changes 
• Additional winter capacity 
• GP Fellowship Framework 
• Care navigation 
• Operational update 
• Primary Care Network update 
• Finance update 
• Committee effectiveness 
• Internal Audit – Primary Care Commissioning 
• Committee work plan 
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The committee completed a self-assessment of its effectiveness and the collated 
results were reported to the January 2021 meeting.  

Committee members received the results of the self-assessment and agreed no 
improvement actions were required.  

Attendance records for CCG Governing Body and committees  
Table 11: Attendance records for the Governing Body and committees for 2020/21  

 

UK Corporate Governance Code 

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance. 
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing 
upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate 
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Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group 
and best practice.  

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning 
group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and 
regulations.  

As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the 
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.  
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness  

The CCG’s risk management strategy is underpinned by a risk management policy 
approved by Governing Body. The aims of the policy are to: 

• Ensure that the CCG assesses its risk appetite  

• Ensure that risks to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives are understood and 
effectively managed 

• Ensure that the risks to the quality of services that the organisation commissions 
from healthcare providers are understood and effectively managed 

• Assure the public, patients, staff, and partner organisations that the CCG is 
committed to managing risk appropriately 

• Protect the services, staff, reputation, and finances of the CCG through the 
process of early identification of risk, risk assessment, risk control and mitigation 

Risk is identified by the relevant director and is recorded on the Risk Assurance 
Framework, which captures how the risk is evaluated and controlled.  

The Risk Assurance Framework is reviewed quarterly by committees of the 
Governing Body, each reviewing and agreeing the risks which fall under their remit to 
ensure that risks are properly identified, assessed and are being managed in line 
with the CCG’s risk appetite. This approach ensures that risks are managed 
effectively towards achieving their target risk score.  
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As the CCG focuses on its role as a commissioner of safe and high-quality services, 
it seeks to embed the principles and practice of risk management into its 
commissioning function.  

As a commissioner, the CCG seeks to ensure that all services commissioned meet 
nationally identified standards which are managed through the contracting process.  

Equality Impact Assessments are completed for all CCG policies and projects, 
thereby ensuring integration into core business.  

Incident reporting is openly encouraged and reported through the Quality and Safety 
Committee. All projects and Quality, Innovation Productivity & Prevention (QIPP) 
schemes are risk assessed and managed appropriately through the Clinical 
Commissioning and Contracts Committee. Financial risk is overseen by the Finance 
Committee, and clinical risk by the Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee 
and Quality and Safety Committee.  

The CCG’s Patient Forum works with the CCG to identify risks to services. Public 
stakeholders are involved in managing risks contributing to CCG engagement, 
consultations, and plans.  

Capacity to handle risk  

Governance structures ensure responsibility for the identification, evaluation and 
management of risk is embedded.  

The Governing Body provides clear direction and leadership through approval of the 
risk policy, setting the risk appetite, receiving assurances from its committees that 
risk is properly managed and escalated through the Risk Assurance Framework 
(RAF). The RAF identifies the risks to compliance with statutory obligations and 
these are categorised as strategic risks.  

The Governing Body receives assurance on the effective management of risk by 
receiving the RAF every quarter. The RAF aligns each strategic and corporate risk to 
the CCG’s corporate objectives and explains the controls in place to achieve the 
target risk level (target risk score). Assurances are recorded on the RAF using the 
‘three lines of defence’ methodology.  

The governance structure assigns the oversight of corporate risks to the relevant 
Governing Body committee, i.e., Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee, 
Quality and Safety Committee and Finance Committee. In this way the CCG is 
assured that risks are reviewed by those with expert subject knowledge and the 
authority to drive improvement in the management of risk. These are then reviewed 
by the Audit Committee who provides assurance to the Governing Body that the RAF 
reports the effective identification and management of risk. 

Risk management training is provided on an ongoing basis through instruction from 
the Head of Governance on induction and thereafter through the continuous 
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interpretation and application of the risk policy, supported by the Head of 
Governance.  

The organisation has learned from best practice and its approach to risk 
management includes a frequent reporting cycle; the consolidation of the 
corporate risk register and assurance framework into one document, i.e., the 
RAF; the separate identification of strategic risks and corporate risks; the 
recording of target risk scores; and inclusion of the ‘three lines of defence’ 
assurance methodology in the RAF. Internal Audit provided substantial 
assurance in 2020/21 for the CCG’s Governance Structures and Risk 
Management Arrangements. 

Risk assessment  

Our risk policy sets out how risks are assessed and scored including gross, residual 
and target risk scores.  

Key risks managed throughout 2020/21are summarised as follows: 

• That the response to COVID-19 would impact on the system’s ability to deliver 
healthcare to meet the needs of the population  

• The ability to support the NHS & social care system to deliver appropriate care to 
the residents of North Tyneside throughout the COVID-19 pandemic  

• That COVID-19 poses a risk to staff health and CCG operations  

• Failure to clearly demonstrate compliance with NHS Constitution rights and 
pledges  

• Commissioned services are not of sufficiently high quality 

• The risk of adult or child safeguarding incident/s or other significant quality failure 
incident 

• Response to surges in demand could lead to a failure to respond effectively to 
local healthcare needs 

• That delayed ambulance handovers impacts negatively on patient safety and 
patient flow  

• Local issues arising from EU Exit 

• Supply of flu vaccines  

The CCG has risk mitigation plans in place to reduce risks to the target level and 
these are documented on the RAF and assured by Audit Committee. 

The CCG has effectively managed its risks in 2020/21. However, because of the 
impact of COVID-19, the number of ‘red rated risks’ increased to six at the end of the 
year (31st March 2021) when compared to two ‘red risks’ at the start of the year.  
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The CCG will continue to manage risks associated with patient safety and the quality 
of services and achievement of performance targets with rigour. Strategic risks 
remain permanently on our RAF to ensure these remain high priority.  

Other sources of assurance  

Internal Control Framework 

A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It 
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively, and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness. 

The CCG system of internal control includes:  

• A Governing Body that ensures that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in 
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently, and economically and in 
accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance; 

• An approved CCG constitution, incorporating standing orders, scheme of 
delegation and prime financial policies; 

• A Governance Handbook; 

• A committee structure, where each committee has a vital role in contributing to the 
establishment of an effective governance infrastructure;  

• An appointed Accountable Officer who is responsible (amongst other duties) for 
ensuring that the clinical commissioning group fulfils its duties to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently and economically thus ensuring improvement in 
the quality of services and the health of the local population whilst maintaining 
value for money;  

• The Accountable Officer, working closely with the chair of the Governing Body, 
ensures that proper constitutional, governance and development arrangements 
are put in place to assure the members (through the Governing Body) of the 
organisation’s ongoing capability and capacity to meet its duties and 
responsibilities; 

• An appointed Chief Finance Officer who is responsible for (amongst other duties) 
overseeing robust audit and governance arrangements leading to propriety in the 
use of the CCG’s resources; and 

• Staff members who are responsible for reporting problems of operations, 
monitoring and improving their performance, and monitoring non-compliance with 
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the corporate policies and various professional codes, or violations of policies, 
standards, practices, and procedures. 

Internal audit service 

One important feature of the system of internal control is the work of the internal 
audit service. Through a systematic programme of work, internal audit provide 
assurance on key systems of control.  

The Head of Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee and has direct access to 
the Audit Committee Chair as required.  

Policies 

Another key feature of the system of internal control is the application of a range of 
policies and procedures.  

The CCG has a suite of policies in place, including corporate policies, HR policies, 
and Information Governance policies. Each policy has a named director lead and 
staff are advised and reminded of the CCG’s polices. Polices are reviewed at their 
due date.  

The CCG Quality and Safety Committee receives assurance reports relating to 
statutory and mandatory training, compliance with health and safety, fire safety and 
first aid at work, information governance, equalities and diversity, and business 
continuity planning. There is commitment to continuing professional development, 
with robust processes in place for staff supervision, training, objective setting, 
performance review and appraisal.  

The CCG has a Freedom to Speak Up: Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) policy 
which is monitored by the Audit Committee. 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management  

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 
England has published a template audit framework.  

The CCG has carried out an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest and 
received substantial assurance for 2020/21. No issues were identified with 
the design of or compliance with the control framework in the areas reviewed.  

 
This audit report was issued February 2021.   
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Data Quality 

The CCG has a data quality policy. This policy defines data and explains data 
standards and the importance of data validation. 

Robust data is provided to the Council of Practices, the Governing Body, and other 
committees of the CCG.  

The results of the Governing Body self-assessment survey in March 2021 showed 
that most members agreed that the papers received by Governing Body have 
adequate information, in the right format, at the right time, to make informed 
decisions. 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information.  The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently, and 
effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.   

We have established an information governance management framework and have 
developed, information governance processes and procedures in line with the Data 
Security and Protection toolkit. 

We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and 
have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are 
aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents.  

We have in place information risk assessment and management procedures and will 
continue to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation 
against identified risks. 

The CCG will submit its Data Security and Protection toolkit for 2020/21 by 30th June 
2021. This will be subject to internal audit.  
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Business Critical Models 

The CCG has a Business Continuity Management Plan, approved by the Quality and 
Safety Committee in July 2020. The CCG does not have any business-critical 
models.  

Third party assurances 

The CCG relies on several external support services providers, including: 

• The NHS Shared Business Service (SBS)  
• Electronic Staff Records (ESR) (McKesson) 
• NHS Business Services Authority (BSA)  

Table 12: Third-party assurances  

Assurance Source Commentary 

Payroll Services The report from AuditOne provides the following 
assurances for the year ended 31st March 2021: 
 
Payroll – Starters, Leavers and Amendments to Pay 
Substantial assurance (draft) 
 
Payroll – ESR Access Levels 
Good assurance (draft) 
 
NHS Payroll Services Governance Arrangements - Findings 
from the audit are currently in discussion with the management 
of NHS Payroll Services and the outcomes from this audit will be 
shared with consortium members in due course. 
 
Conclusion  
AuditOne did not identify, as part of the internal audit work for 
2020/21, any fundamental weaknesses in the systems reviewed 
that would put the achievement of the systems’ objectives at risk 
and / or major and consistent non-compliance with the control 
framework that require management action as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

North of England 
Commissioning 
Support Unit (NECS) 

The Report on Internal Controls (Type II) Finance and Payroll 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2021, provides a qualified opinion. This is 
because, from 39 control objectives the following control 
objectives were not achieved: 

Control objective A.2: PO and invoice approvals by the CSU 
are within authority levels agreed with the customer. 

Control Objective E.4: Changes processed by the CSU to staff 
standing data are valid and are processed accurately, 
completely and in a timely manner. 
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Assurance Source Commentary 
Control Objective E.8: Controls are in place to monitor powerful 
user (super-user/ admin) access rights on a periodic basis. 

Control Objective E.11: Amendments to user access rights are 
subject to the appropriate level of approval. 

The NHS Shared 
Business Service 
(SBS) 

The Independent service auditor’s assurance report (ISAE 3402) 
on controls at NHS Shared Business Services Limited provided 
a qualified opinion. From 23 control objectives an exception was 
identified in relation to one control objective as follows: 

Control Objective 9: Controls exist to provide reasonable 
assurance that Sales Ledger transactions processed by NHS 
SBS are authorised by the appropriate client user on the 
approved user hierarchy. This is because an exception was 
identified in relation to Control O2C4, which indicated that the 
control did not operate effectively throughout the period 1 April 
2020 to 31 March 2021. 

Primary Care 
Support Services 
(Capita Business 
Services Limited) 

The ISAE3402 Service Auditor Report in respect of primary 
care support England (PCSE) services from 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021 provides a qualified opinion. The auditors 
identified a qualification relating to 3 control objectives out of 
16 control objectives, as follows:   
Control objective 8: Controls provide reasonable assurance 
that cheque payments received are recorded completely and 
accurately onto the SBS spreadsheet.  
During the period 1 April 2020 – 17 January 2021, the 
auditors were informed that these controls did not operate 
due to restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. No 
exceptions were noted during the period 18 January 2021 – 
31 March 2021. 
Control Objective 12: Controls provide reasonable 
assurance that logical access by internal Capita staff to 
NHAIS / Ophthalmic System is restricted to authorised 
individuals. 
Control Objective 14: Controls provide reasonable 
assurance that logical access by internal Capita staff to ISFE, 
Local Pharmacy Application and Pensions Online are 
restricted to authorised individuals. 

NHS Business 
Service Authority 
(prescription 
payment process) 

The Type II ISAE 3402 Report for the period 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2021 relating to the NHS Business Services 
Authority: Prescription Payments Process provides a qualified 
opinion. Out of 6 control objectives, the auditors stated that 
for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, controls were 
not suitably designed and/or operating effectively to achieve 
the following 3 control objectives:  
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Assurance Source Commentary 
Control objective 1: Controls are in place to provide 
reasonable assurance that payments are made to the correct, 
valid contractors.  
Control objective 3: Controls are in place to provide 
reasonable assurance that payments are accurate and 
complete.  
Control objective 4: Controls are in place to provide 
reasonable assurance that access to systems is appropriately 
restricted.  

NHS GP Payment 
Service (NHS Digital) 

The Independent service auditor’s assurance report (Type II 
ISAE 3000 Report) for General Practitioners 

Payment Services for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 October 2020 
and Extraction and Processing of General Practitioner Data 
services for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 March 2021 
provided a qualified opinion. From 5 control objectives an 
exception was identified in relation to one control objective as 
follows: 
 

Control Objective 2: Controls are in place to provide 
reasonable assurance that access to systems is controlled. This 
is because exceptions were identified in relation to control 8.2 
(which was in scope only for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 
October 2020) and control 18.3 where the leavers controls to 
NHS Digital’s systems did not operate effectively during the 
period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

Local Counter Fraud 
Specialist 

The CCG’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist is required to 
submit the annual counter fraud functional standard return 
(FSR) to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) in 
relation to the CCG’s anti-fraud, bribery and corruption 
arrangements, which provides an overview of the CCG’s 
counter fraud activity, progress against NHSCFA 
requirements and assists the CFO and audit committee in 
monitoring and managing the counter fraud service.  
The completed FSR for 2020/2021, with an overall rating of 
'green' was reviewed and approved by both the audit 
committee chair and chief finance officer prior to 
submission by the deadline of 31 May 2021. The CCG has 
not been subject to an NHSCFA quality inspection in 
2020/21.  
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Assurance Source Commentary 

Electronic Staff 
Records (ESR) 
(McKesson) 

The ISAE 3000 Type II Controls Report for the Electronic Staff 
Record Programme (ESR), for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2021 provides a qualified opinion.  Out of 6 control 
objectives the auditors determined that for the following 2 control 
objectives, the controls were not suitably designed to achieve 
their control objective:   

Control objective 1: Controls provide reasonable assurance 
that changes to the system software, hardware, and network 
components are documented and approved.  

Control Objective 2: Controls provide reasonable assurance 
that security configurations are created, implemented and 
maintained to prevent inappropriate access. 

Control Issues 

Significant control issues are those issues that might prejudice the achievement of 
priorities; undermine the integrity or reputation of the CCG and/or wider NHS; make 
it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources; have a material impact on the 
accounts; or put data integrity at risk. 

The CCG has in place a robust system of internal control. The CCG has assurances 
from the Head of Internal Audit and from other sources to support this assessment.  

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of 
resources 

The Governing Body receives reports from its relevant committees (Finance 
Committee, Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee, Quality & Safety 
Committee and Audit Committee) providing assurance that the CCG uses its 
resources economically, efficiently and effectively.  

The CCG budget comprises the commissioning budget and the operating budget. 
The Governing Body received regular budget reports throughout the year. 

The CCG commissioning budget is deployed to commission healthcare for the 
population of North Tyneside, in line with national guidance.   

During 2020/21 the CCG worked in close partnership with local healthcare providers 
and other CCGs within the Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) to ensure that 
resources were utilised in the most effective way possible.   

The CCG external auditors have concluded that ‘in all significant respects, the CCG 
had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed 
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people.’   
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During the financial year the CCG received 'substantial assurance' for all audits 
undertaken and the Head of Internal Audit Opinion also gave an assessment of 
'substantial assurance'.  

In respect of the CCG operating budget, there is an agreed staffing structure, 
balancing the roles of clinical leaders, including the Clinical Chair, Medical Director, 
Executive Director of Nursing and Chief Operating Officer, Clinical Directors and 
Clinical Leads. CCG staff are organised into three Directorates.   

During 2020/21 the CCG did not have a QIPP programme due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. Notwithstanding this the CCG delivered a £1.4m surplus.  

A summary of our financial planning (including central management costs) and in-
year performance monitoring is shown in the Performance Analysis – Financial 
Performance report. 

The Remuneration Committee recommends the remuneration of Very Senior 
Managers and Clinical Leaders (for whom there are no national pay scales). The 
Senior Management Team ensures that remuneration for posts in the CCG structure 
is in line with national guidance, to ensure consistency between posts. 

The CCG was rated ‘Outstanding’ for the second year in a row for the Oversight 
Framework for 2019/20 - details are available at the following link: 
www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/ 

This is the latest information available and is updated periodically.  

We are awaiting our final rating for the Oversight Framework 2020/21.  

Delegation of functions 

The CCG currently contracts with several external organisations for the provision of 
back-office services and functions, and as such has established an internal control 
system to gain assurance from these. These external services include:  

• The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support from 
NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business Services is 
mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHS 
England group financial accounts through the use of an integrated financial ledger 
system 

• The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit 

• The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust 

• The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from McKesson 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/regulation/ccg-assess/iaf/
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• The provision of Primary Care Support Services from Capita Business Services 
Limited 

Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is described under the Other Sources 
of Assurance section (Table 12: Third-party assurances) and the outcome of these 
audits is reported to the Audit Committee.  

The CCG's external auditors have reviewed all the type 2 service auditor reports of 
the outsourced bodies and have not identified any further risks to the CCG. 

Counter fraud arrangements 

Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 
financial viability and probity.  

An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the Audit Committee, which focuses on 
the deterrence, prevention, detection, and investigation of fraud. 

Through our contract with Audit One, we have counter fraud arrangements in place 
that comply with the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners: 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption. 

An accredited counter fraud specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud work 
proportionate to identified risks.    

The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards for 
Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support and direction for a 
proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks.  

A member of the Governing Body is proactively and demonstrably responsible for 
tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption. 

There were no reported incidents of fraud during 2020/21. 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of the planned audit work (except the Data Security & 
Protection Toolkit audit, which is ongoing) for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of 
Internal Audit concluded that: 'From my review of your systems of internal control, I 
am providing substantial assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, 
governance and risk management designed to meet the organisation’s objectives 
and that controls are being consistently applied.' 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:   
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   Table 13: Assurance levels 

Area of Audit Assurance Level 

Governance Structures and Risk Management 
Arrangements Substantial 

Conflicts of Interest  Substantial 

Data Security and Protection (DSP) Toolkit Audit ongoing 

Primary Medical Care Commissioning Substantial 

Implementing Phase 3 of the NHS Response to 
COVID-19 (replaces the remaining elements of 
Financial and Strategic Planning and Contract and 
Performance Monitoring) 

Substantial (draft) 

Key Financial Controls  Substantial  

Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care – 
The Hospital Discharge Scheme Substantial 

COVID-19 Commissioning and Costing Substantial 
 

 

  Key 

ASSURANCE LEVELS 

Substantial 
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide 
substantial assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. 
Compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place.  

Good 

Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good 
level of assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.  A 
high level of compliance with the control framework was found to be 
taking place. Minor remedial action is required 

Reasonable 

Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide 
reasonable assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. 
Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place 
in a consistent manner.  Some moderate remedial action is required. 

Limited 

Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance 
with the control framework was not found to be taking place.  Immediate 
and fundamental remedial action is required. 
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 
internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical 
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance 
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available 
to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in 
their annual audit letter and other reports.  

Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its 
principles objectives have been reviewed.  

I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:  

• The Governing Body 
• The Audit Committee 
• The Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee 
• The Quality and Safety Committee  
• The Finance Committee 
• Internal Audit 

The Governing Body develops, implements and delivers the strategic priorities of the 
Group and receives assurances from the Audit Committee, the Quality and Safety 
Committee and the Clinical Commissioning and Contracts Committee. Substantial 
assurance has also been received from the Head of Internal Audit. 

Conclusion 

The system of control described in this report has been in place in the CCG for the 
year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of the approval of the annual report 
and accounts. 

I have concluded that the CCG did have a generally sound system of internal control 
in place continuously throughout the year, designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives and that the controls are being applied consistently. No significant internal 
control issues have been identified. 

 
 

Mark Adams 
Accountable Officer  
1 June 2021  
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Remuneration and staff report 
The remuneration and staff report gives details of CCG staff and remuneration. It 
sets out the CCG’s remuneration policy for directors and senior managers, reports 
on how that policy has been implemented and sets out the amounts awarded to 
directors and senior managers and where relevant the link between performance 
and remuneration.  

Remuneration report   

Remuneration Committee 

The roles and responsibilities of the committee are set out in the CCG Constitution. 
The Remuneration Committee has agreed terms of reference.  

The Remuneration Committee is an advisory committee which makes 
recommendations to the CCG Governing Body on determinations about the 
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who provide 
services to the group and on determinations about allowances under any pension 
scheme that the group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. 

The committee is comprised entirely of lay members, as follows:  

• CCG Deputy Lay Chair (Chair) – Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL 
• CCG Lay Member for Governance and Audit – Mr David Willis OBE 
• CCG Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement – Mrs Eleanor Hayward 

All members were in post at the time of CCG authorisation. All have been in post 
continuously from 1 April 2020 and remain in post.  

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  

The remuneration committee was established to advise the Governing Body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior 
staff.  

The committee is comprised entirely of independent members. Details of 
remuneration committee membership, meeting frequency, items of business and 
meeting attendance are given above. Further details about the committee are 
provided in the governance statement within this report, e.g. frequency of meetings 
and attendance.  

The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to 
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. The 
remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.  
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Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually.  

There were no individual performance review payments made to any senior 
managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments in future 
years out with the ‘Very Senior Management Pay Framework’. This is in accordance 
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the 
Department of Health.  

Contracts of employment in relation to all very senior managers (VSMs) (except 
clinicians) employed by the CCG are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ 
notice of termination by either party 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme.  

No awards have been made during the year to past senior managers. 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers   

Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than £150,000 per 
annum on a pro-rata basis, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is 
disclosed in the remuneration report.  

During 2020/21 North Tyneside CCG had seven senior managers who were paid 
more than £150,000 per annum on a pro-rata basis. The senior managers were in 
part time roles and were not paid more than the Prime Minister’s actual salary.   

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice, and national policy.  

The Remuneration Committee critically reviews the salary of very senior managers 
when making recommendations to Governing Body regarding their remuneration.  
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 
 
Table 14: North Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit)  

Name Title Salary Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to nearest 
£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

    £ 000 £00 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

        
Dr Richard Scott  Clinical Chair 65-70 - - - 7.5-10 70-75 

Mr Mark Adams Accountable Officer 40-45 - - - - 40-45 

Dr Lesley Young-Murphy Executive Director of Nursing & Chief Operating Officer  115-120 - - - 2.5-5 120-125 

Mr Jon Connolly Chief Finance Officer 65-70 5 - - 20-22.5 90-95 

Dr Ruth Evans Medical Director 80-85 - - - 5-7.5 85-90 

Dr Neela Shabde  Secondary Care Doctor 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Mrs Anya Paradis Director of Contracting and Commissioning 90-95 59 - - 15-17.5 110-115 
Mrs Irene Walker Head of Governance 65-70 - - - 15-17.5 85-90 
Dr Shaun Lackey Clinical Director 75-80 - - - 22.5-25 100-105 
Dr Alexandra Kent Clinical Director 50-55 - - - 12.5-15 65-70 
Mr Jeff Goldthorpe Director of Contracting and Finance 65-70 - - - 125-127.5 190-195 
Mrs Maureen Grieveson Director of Quality and Patient Safety 65-70 - - - 102.5-105 170-175 
Dr Steve Parry Clinical Director 25-30 - - - 65-67.5 90-95 
Lay members:        
Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL  Deputy Lay Chair 15-20 - - - - 15-20 
Mrs Eleanor Hayward  Lay Member (patient and public involvement) 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Mr David Willis OBE  Lay Member (audit and governance) 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
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Notes for senior manager remuneration table 2020/21: 

Mr Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff-sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed 
above shows North Tyneside CCG’s share of remuneration of 25%. Pension benefits are reported in full by Newcastle Gateshead CCG.    

Mr Jon Connolly is employed by North Tyneside CCG and works for Northumberland CCG as part of a staff-sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above 
shows North Tyneside CCG’s share of remuneration of 50%.  

Mrs Wendy Burke, Director of Public Health is in attendance at Governing Body only. She is not employed by North Tyneside CCG and receives no 
remuneration from the CCG for her Governing Body role.  

Jeff Goldthorpe commenced Director of Contracting and Finance role on 1 July 2020.  

Maureen Grieveson commenced Director of Quality and Patient Safety role on 1 July 2020.  

Dr Steve Parry commenced Clinical Director role on 12 October 2020.  

Expense payments are shown in £00 and include lease car allowances and mileage claims.  

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the 
individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent 
an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that 
being a member of the pension scheme could provide.  

The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.



150 

Staff sharing arrangement for senior manager remuneration 2020/21 

Mr Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG, Northumberland CCG and North 
Cumbria CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.  

Mr Jon Connolly is employed by North Tyneside CCG and works for Northumberland CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.  

The total remuneration earned for all work across all CCGs in 2020/21 is shown below: 

 
Table 15: North Tyneside CCG staff sharing arrangement 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name Title Salary Expense payments 
(taxable) to nearest 

£100 

TOTAL 

    (bands of £5,000)   (bands of £5,000) 

    £ 000 £00 £ 000 

Mr Mark Adams Accountable Officer 170-175 - 170-175 

Mr Jon Connolly Chief Finance Officer 135-140 5 135-140 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 
Table 16: North Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2019/20 (this has been subject to audit)  

Name Title Salary Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

  (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 

    £ 000 £00 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 

Dr Richard Scott  Clinical Chair 65-70 4 - - 10-12.5 75-80 

Mr Mark Adams Accountable Officer 30-35 - - - - 30-35 

Dr Lesley Young-Murphy Executive Director of Nursing & Chief Operating Officer  115-120 13 - - 10-12.5 130-135 

Mr Jon Connolly Chief Finance Officer 65-70 15 - - - 70-75 

Dr Ruth Evans Medical Director 80-85 - - - 17.5-20 95-100 

Dr Neela Shabde  Secondary Care Doctor 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Mrs Anya Paradis Director of Contracting and Commissioning 90-95 65 - - 47.5-50 145-150 

Mrs Irene Walker Head of Governance 60-65 - - - 15-17.5 80-85 

Dr Shaun Lackey Clinical Director 75-80 - - - 17.5-20 95-100 

Dr Alexandra Kent Clinical Director 50-55 - - - 22.5-25 70-75 

 
Lay members: 

       

Ms Mary Coyle MBE DL  Deputy Lay Chair 15-20 3 - - - 15-20 

Mrs Eleanor Hayward  Lay Member (patient and public involvement) 10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Mr David Willis OBE  Lay Member (audit and governance) 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
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Notes for senior manager remuneration table 2019/20: 

Mr Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff-sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed 
above shows North Tyneside CCG’s share of remuneration of 21%. Pension benefits are reported in full by Newcastle Gateshead CCG.    

Mr Jon Connolly is employed by North Tyneside CCG and works for Northumberland CCG as part of a staff-sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above 
shows North Tyneside CCG’s share of remuneration of 50%.  

Mrs Wendy Burke, Director of Public Health is in attendance at Governing Body only. She is not employed by North Tyneside CCG and receives no 
remuneration from the CCG for her Governing Body role.  

Expense payments are shown in £00 and include lease car allowances and mileage claims.  

The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the 
individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent 
an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that 
being a member of the pension scheme could provide.  

The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual. 
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Staff sharing arrangement for senior manager remuneration 2019/20 

Mr Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG, Northumberland CCG and North 
Cumbria CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.  

Mr Jon Connolly is employed by North Tyneside CCG and works for Northumberland CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.  

The total remuneration earned for all work across all CCGs in 2019/20 is shown below: 

 
Table 17: North Tyneside CCG staff sharing arrangement 2019/20 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name Title Salary Expense payments 
(taxable) to nearest 

£100 

TOTAL 

    (bands of £5,000)   (bands of £5,000) 

    £ 000 £00 £ 000 

Mr Mark Adams Accountable Officer 150-155 19 150-155 

Mr Jon Connolly Chief Finance Officer 135-140 15 135-140 
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2021 
Table 18: North Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 

2021 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2021 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2020 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2021 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Richard Scott 0-2.5 - 15-20 45-50 309 6 324 - 
Dr Lesley Young-Murphy 0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 100-105 788 24 830 - 
Mr Jon Connolly 0-2.5 - 40-45 115-120 810 18 852 - 
Dr Ruth Evans 0-2.5 - 20-25 35-40 384 8 404 - 
Mrs Anya Paradis 0-2.5 - 20-25 35-40 330 11 352 - 
Mrs Irene Walker 0-2.5 - 5-10 - 90 17 116 - 
Dr Shaun Lackey 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 40-45 331 16 360 - 
Dr Alexandra Kent 0-2.5 - 10-15 - 111 4 123 - 
Mr Jeff Goldthorpe 2.5-5 12.5-15 40-45 130-135 902 117 1,070 - 
Mrs Maureen Grieveson 2.5-5 10-12.5 40-45 120-125 853 96 994 - 
Dr Steve Parry 0-2.5 2.5-5 45-50 145-150 1,079 41 1,182 - 

      
Notes for senior officer pension benefits 2020/21: 
Pensions information is provided by NHS Pensions  
Cash equivalent transfer value at 1 April 2020 has been inflated by 1.7% in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instructions. 
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the scheme. Benefits and 
related Cash Equivalent Transfer Values do not allow for a potential future adjustment arising from the McCloud judgment. 
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020 
Table 19: North Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2019/20 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension age 
at 31 March 

2020 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2019 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2020 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

    

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Richard Scott 0-2.5 - 15-20 45-50 286 8 304 - 

Dr Lesley Young-Murphy 0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 95-100 726 31 775 - 

Dr Ruth Evans 0-2.5 - 15-20 35-40 350 16 378 - 

Mrs Anya Paradis 2.5-5 2.5-5 15-20 35-40 274 38 324 - 

Mrs Irene Walker 0-2.5 - 5-10 - 65 15 88 - 

Dr Shaun Lackey 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 40-45 299 12 325 - 

Dr Alexandra Kent 0-2.5 - 10-15 - 94 8 109 - 

 
Notes for senior officer pension benefits 2019/20: 

Pensions information is provided by NHS Pensions  

Cash equivalent transfer value at 1 April 2019 has been inflated by 2.4% in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instructions. 

The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the scheme. Benefits and 
related Cash Equivalent Transfer Values do not allow for a potential future adjustment arising from the McCloud judgment. 
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Cash equivalent transfer values  

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in 
a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the 
NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the 
member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the 
scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework 
prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  

Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) 
and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.  

The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual concerned 
was entitled to a GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. This 
is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 Section.  

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (this has been 
subject to audit) 

The CCG has not made any payment for compensation on early retirement or for loss 
of office in 2020/21.   

Payments to past members (this has been subject to audit) 

The CCG has not made any payment to past members during 2020/21.   
 
 
 

Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subject to audit)  
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Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of 
the highest paid member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in North Tyneside CCG in the 
financial year 2020/21 was £115-120 (2019/20: £115-120k). This was 2.5 times 
(2019/20: 2.4) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £47,790 
(2019/20: £49,578).  

In 2020/21, no employee (2019/20, no employee) received remuneration in excess of 
the highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged from £10,087 to £108,375 (2019/20: 
£5,980 to £97,711). 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  

The pay multiples ratio has remained at a consistent level in 2020/21.  

Table 20: Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subject to audit) 

      2020/21 2019/20  
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration 
(£'000)  115-120 115-120  
Median Total Remuneration (£)      47,790 49,578  
Ratio            2.5 2.4  
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Staff Report  
Number of senior managers 

The CCG had 16 senior managers in post at 31 March 2021.  

Staff numbers and costs (this has been subject to audit) 

Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’  

Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK) employment 
contract directly with the CCG.  

Other refers to any staff engaged that do not have a permanent (UK) employment 
contract with the CCG. This includes employees on short term contracts of 
employment and agency/temporary staff. 

The figures exclude Chair and lay members of the Governing Body. 

Table 21: Staff Numbers and Costs (this has been subject to audit) 

 
Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Average number of people employed   57.55 0.54 58.09 

Average number based upon full time equivalent and excludes staff on outward 
secondment 

 
Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Salaries and wages 3,139 42 3,181 

Social security costs 331 - 331 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 584 - 584 

Other Pension Costs 1 - 1 

Apprenticeship Levy 1 - 1 

Staff costs 4,056 42 4,098 
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Staff composition 

The CCG staff gender profile at 31 March 2021 is based upon information relating to 
permanently employed staff as follows:  

Table 22: Staff composition 

 Female Male Total 

Very Senior managers 2 1 3 

Other staff 51 19 70 

Total staff 53 20 73 
 

 Female Male Total 

Governing Body members 
and attendees 9 5 14 

 
* The Governing Body figures are provided as standalone figures, they do not contribute to the total  
   figure for the whole CCG as some members are employed by other organisations.   
 

Staff sickness absence 

The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures all 
staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers and 
HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services. The staff 
sickness absence is reported for each calendar year. 

Table 23: Staff sickness absence 

 

2020 
Number 

2019 
Number 

Total days lost 556 549 

Average working days lost 9 10 
 

Staff turnover 

Staff turnover of permanent employees is reported as a percentage of the average 
number of people employed. The staff turnover percentage in 2020/21 was 10%.  

 

 

 

Staff policies 
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The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps 
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and 
consultation with employees, including: 

• Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern to them 
as employees 

• Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that the views 
of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which are likely to 
affect their interests 

• Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance  

• Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the part of 
all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the performance of the 
CCG 

• Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff representatives and 
CCG managers from across the region meet together 

The CCG has a positive attitude to the recruitment, employment, training, and 
development of disabled persons and has achieved accreditation as a Level 2 
Disability Confident employer. The symbol, awarded by the Department of Work and 
Pensions, in partnership with Job Centre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to 
employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  

Trade Union Representation 

Under the terms of the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) 
Regulations 2017, we are required to publish the number of employees who were 
trade union officials during this period, and information and details of paid facility time 
and trade union activities.  

During 2020/21 there were no employees of NHS North Tyneside Clinical 
Commissioning Group who were trade union representatives. 

Expenditure on consultancy 

The CCG did not incur consultancy expenditure during 2020/21 (2019/20, nil) 

Off-payroll engagements  

There were no off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per 
day and that last longer than six months. 

  

There were no new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, greater than £245 per day and that 
last longer than six months: 
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Off-payroll engagements of Board members and senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 
March 2021. 
Table 24: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 0 

Total no. of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or, 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the 
financial year. This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll 
engagements. 

16 

 
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this 
has been subject to audit) 

No exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments were made in 2020/21.   
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Independent auditor’s report to the 
Governing Body of NHS North Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
Opinion on the financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS North Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (‘the 
CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by HM Treasury’s 
Financial Reporting Manual 2020/21 as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2020/21, and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with 
the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning Groups in England. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2021 and of its net 
expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2020/21; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the CCG's ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
Other information 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
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thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements 
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to 
the authorities which govern them. 

 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities the Accountable 
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of 
expenditure and income. 

 
The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual 2020/21 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless the 
CCG is informed of the intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another 
entity. The Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate 
for the CCG to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

 
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. 

 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. Based on our understanding of the CCG, we identified that the principal 
risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), and we considered the extent to which non- 
compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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We evaluated the Accountable Officer’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of 
the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined that the principal 
risks related to posting manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias 
through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, and significant one-off or 
unusual transactions and any unusual accounting policies. 

 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with 
laws and regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. Our audit 
procedures included but were not limited to: 

• discussing with management, the Audit Committee and Governing Body, the policies and 
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations; 

• communicating identified laws and regulations throughout our engagement team and 
remaining alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and 

• considering the risk of acts by the CCG which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, 
including fraud. 

 
Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 

• making enquiries of management, the Audit Committee and Governing Body on whether they 
had knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; 

• gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud; 
• discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and 
• addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal 

entry testing. 
 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for 
the prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management, the Audit 
Committee and Governing Body. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of 
irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the 
override of internal controls. 

 
We are also required to conclude on whether the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. We performed our work in 
accordance with Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in 
the United Kingdom, and Supplementary Guidance Note 01, issued by the NAO in April 2021. 

 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 
part of our auditor’s report. 

 
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2021. 

 
We have not completed our work on the CCG’s arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, having 
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not 
identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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We will report the outcome of our work on the CCG’s arrangements in our commentary on those 
arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report. Our audit completion certificate will set out any 
matters which we are required to report by exception. 

 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of resources 
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy 
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy 
ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether 
all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources are operating effectively. 

 
We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to 
the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. 

 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice 
In our opinion: 

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and 

• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the 
Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 
We are required to report to you if: 

• in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by 
NHS England; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 and schedule 7(1) of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 and schedule 7(2) of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 

 
Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS North Tyneside CCG, as 
a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG 
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those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 
the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

 
 
 Delay in certification of completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed the work 
necessary to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness is its use of resources. 
 
 

 
 
Cameron Waddell, Key Audit Partner 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
The Corner 
House Bank 
Chambers 26 
Mosley Street 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE1 1DF 
Date 14 June 2021 
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Audit Completion certificate issued to the Governing 
Body of NHS North Tyneside Clinical 
Commissioning Group for the year ended 31 March 
2021 
 
In our auditor’s report dated 14 June 2021 we explained that the audit could not be formally 
concluded until we had completed the work necessary to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has 
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness is its use of 
resources. In addition, we were not able to conclude our audit as we had not completed work 
required to report to the National Audit Office as group auditor of the NHS England group 
accounts.  

This work has now been completed. 
No matters have come to our attention since 14 June 2021 that would have a material 
impact on the financial statements on which we gave our unqualified opinion.  
 
The CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources 
 
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2021. 
 
We have nothing to report in this respect.  

Certificate  
We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS North Tyneside CCG in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice. 
 
 

 

Cameron Waddell 
Key Audit Partner 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

 

The Corner  
Bank Chambers 
26 Mosley Street 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE1 1DF 

Date: 24 August 2021 
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Parliamentary 
accountability  
and audit report 
 
North Tyneside CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and 
Audit Report.  

Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and 
fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at 
page 7. 

An audit certificate and report are also included in this Annual Report at page 162.  
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021

2020-21 2019-20

Note £'000 £'000

Other operating revenue 2 (236) (323)

Total operating revenue (236) (323)

Staff costs 3 4,098 3,394

Purchase of goods and services 4 374,538 365,079

Depreciation charges 4 - 12

Other operating expenditure 4 145 157

Total operating expenditure 378,781 368,642

Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 378,545 368,319

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

1
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2021

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Note £'000 £'000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 7 - -

Total non-current assets - -

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 8 789 1,403

Cash and cash equivalents 9 59 337

Total current assets 848 1,740

Total assets 848 1,740

Current liabilities:

Trade and other payables 10 (21,122) (24,312)

Total current liabilities (21,122) (24,312)

Assets less liabilities (20,274) (22,572)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (20,274) (22,572)

Total Taxpayers' Equity (20,274) (22,572)

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 1st June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer

Mark Adams

2
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity 

General fund

£'000

Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2020-21

Balance at 01 April 2020 (22,572)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Taxpayers’ Equity for 2020-21

Net operating expenditure for the financial year SOCNE (378,545)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (378,545)

Net funding SCF 380,843

Balance at 31 March 2021 (20,274)

General fund

£'000

Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2019-20

Balance at 01 April 2019 (20,707)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Taxpayers’ Equity for 2019-20

Net operating costs for the financial year SOCNE (368,319)

Net Recognised CCG Expenditure for the Financial  Year (368,319)

Net funding SCF 366,454

Balance at 31 March 2020 (22,572)

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2021

2020-21 2019-20

Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (378,545) (368,319)

Depreciation and amortisation 4 0 12

Decrease in trade & other receivables 8 614 336

Increase / (decrease) in trade & other payables 10 (3,190) 1,758

Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities (381,121) (366,213)

Net Cash Outflow before Financing (381,121) (366,213)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Grant in Aid Funding Received 380,843 366,454

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 380,843 366,454

Net Increase / (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 9 (278) 241

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 337 96

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 59 337

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

4
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). Consequently, the following financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the DHSC. The accounting policies contained in the Group 

Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting 

Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the 

Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical 

Commissioning Group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced 

by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, 

by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will 

continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. In February 2021 the Government released the NHS White 

Paper ‘Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all.’ Pending the necessary legislative changes it is 

envisaged that the CCG will become part of a larger ICS statutory body with effect from 1st April 2022, with financial responsibility and accountability 

moving to the ICS statutory body. In consideration of this it is expected the services currently undertaken by NHS North Tyneside CCG will transfer to 

the new body.

1.2 Accounting Convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 

and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Pooled Budgets

The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with North Tyneside Council, under Section 75 of the National 

Health Service Act 2006. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, 

identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement. See Note 12 for further details.

1.4 Revenue

The majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group's funding is via Resource Allocation. Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, 

and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.5 Employee Benefits

1.5.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses 

earned but not yet taken.

The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees 

are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes 

that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The 

schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying Scheme liabilities. Therefore, the 

schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in a 

scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability 

for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 

method of payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.6 Other Expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 

value of the consideration payable.

1.7 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.7.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

·     It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

·     It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;

·     It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

·     The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

·     The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

·     Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 

interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial 

control; or,

·     Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

1.7.2 Measurement

All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and 

bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use.  Assets that were most 

recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at 

the reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful 

economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.

1.7.3 Subsequent Expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent 

expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-

out and charged to operating expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.8 Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, 

in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period 

over which the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year 

end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 

1.9 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases. The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any Finance leases.

1.9.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a 

liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating 

or finance leases.

1.10 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 

investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 

risk of change in value. Cash and bank balances are recorded at current value.

1.11 Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, 

which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively 

responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.12 Non-clinical Risk Pooling

The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 

schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with 

the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses as and when they become due.

1.13 Financial Assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 

receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 

asset has been transferred and the Clinical Commissioning Group has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership or has not 

retained control of the asset. Financial assets for the Clinical Commissioning Group are classified at amoritised cost.

The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at 

the time of initial recognition.

1.13.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows 

and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After 

initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial 

asset.

1.13.2 Impairment

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit 

losses on the financial asset.

The Clinical Commissioning Group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for 

trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.  For other financial assets, the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).

HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, 

their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation.  

The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.  

Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the Clinical Commissioning 

Group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as 

the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's 

original effective interest rate.  Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.14 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, 

in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 

extinguished – that is, the obligation has been discharged or cancelled or has expired.

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the amortised cost of the financial liability.

1.15 Value Added Tax

Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 

purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 

assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.16 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the 

generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have 

been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being 

included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.17 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and 

assumptions.  These are regularly reviewed.

1.17.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical 

Commissioning Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

·     Determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme expenditure; and

·     Determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets.

1.17.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following assumption about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. The main estimate is in relation to prescribing expenditure 

which is one months in arrears and is based on BSA profiling.  The accrual within the accounts is for the month of March only and is £3.2m (19-20 

was £3.2m).

1.18 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These 

Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23. However, the CCG does not expect this 

standard to have a material impact on non-current assets, liabilities and depreciation. The government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to 

HM Treasury consideration. 

● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.

7



NHS North Tyneside CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21

2 Other Operating Revenue

2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20

Total Admin Programme Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Other non contract revenue 236 16 220 323

Total other operating revenue 236 16 220 323

3 Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1 Employee benefits

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,181 3,139 42

Social security costs 331 331 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 584 584 0

Other pension costs 1 1 0

Apprenticeship Levy 1 1 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 4,098 4,056 42

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£'000 £'000 £'000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 2,662 2,566 96

Social security costs 273 273 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 458 458 0

Other pension costs 1 1 0

Gross employee benefits expenditure 3,394 3,298 96

The majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group's funding is via Resource Allocation. The revenue in this note does not include cash in 

respect of this, which is received from NHS England, drawn down directly into the bank account of the Clinical Commissioning Group 

and credited to the General Fund.

2020-21

2019-20
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3.2 Average number of people employed

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 58.09 57.55 0.54 51.32 49.53 1.79

3.3 Pension costs

3.3.1 Accounting valuation

3.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

For 2020-21, employers’ contributions of £583,747 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2019-20: £457,973) at the rate of 20.68% of pensionable pay. The 

employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. NHS CCGs continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with 

the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs behalf. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts as per Note 3.1

2019-202020-21

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the report of the Scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 

These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to 

recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate 

payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that 

was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around 

member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case. 

The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016 valuations could be completed. The 

Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the 

costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as 

was originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and reported to 

Government in April 2021.  The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for 

the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 

the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  

Both are unfunded defined benefit Schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in 

England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying Scheme liabilities. Therefore, each 

Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution Scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 

payable to that Scheme for the accounting period.  

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 

formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline 

of these follows:

A valuation of Scheme liability is carried out annually by the Scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This 

utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is 

accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. 

The valuation of the Scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and 

accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM 

Treasury have also been used.
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4. Operating expenses

2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,780 1,223 1,557 2,766 1,373 1,393

Services from foundation and other NHS trusts 253,911 10 253,901 251,291 10 251,282

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 35,703 0 35,703 32,937 0 32,937

Purchase of social care 11,097 0 11,097 10,576 0 10,576

Prescribing costs 36,870 0 36,870 34,505 0 34,505

Pharmaceutical services 90 0 90 97 0 97

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 32,693 0 32,693 30,509 0 30,509

Supplies and services – general 641 64 577 897 54 843

Establishment 430 67 363 932 59 873

Transport 0 0 0 6 4 2

Premises 156 120 36 416 195 221

Audit fees 45 45 0 41 41 0

Non-audit services 8 8 0 11 11 0

Other professional fees 62 62 0 63 63 0

Legal fees 48 48 0 2 2 0

Education, training and conferences 5 0 5 28 14 14

Depreciation 0 0 0 12 0 12

Chair and Non Executive Members 141 141 0 140 140 0

Clinical negligence 4 4 0 4 4 0

Research and development (excluding staff costs) 0 0 0 14 14 0

Total operating expenses 374,684 1,792 372,892 365,248 1,984 363,264

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS relates to Primary Care Commissioning.

The expenditure within Other Professional fees includes £48k for internal audit services provided by AuditOne (£54k in 2019-20).

Expenses related to Rentals under Operating Leases are within the Establishment and Premises lines. These costs can be seen in Note 6 - Operating Leases.

The external auditor of the Clinical Commissioning Group is Mazars LLP. The audit fee for 2020-21 including VAT, was £45k (£41k in 2019-20).

Non-audit services are in respect of Mental Health Investment Standard assurance that NHSE requires CCGs to obtain from an independent reporting 

accountant, to demonstrate their investment in mental health expenditure rises at a faster rate than their overall published programme funding. This 

assurance is being carried out by Mazars LLP. The work is done after the year-end, with the fees shown above being based on accrual estimates. The 

actual charge for 2019/20 was £9k (inclusive of VAT).
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5 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 3,934 77,537 4,367 75,056

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 3,906 76,602 4,325 74,558

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.29% 98.79% 99.04% 99.34%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 663 262,338 1,660 253,508

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 645 260,519 1,653 253,338

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 97.29% 99.31% 99.58% 99.93%

6 Operating Leases

6.1 As lessee

6.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Minimum lease payments 158 1 159 164 2 166

Total 158 1 159 164 2 166

6.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Buildings Other Total Buildings Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:

No later than one year 155 1 156 161 1 162

Between one and five years 189 4 193 356 - 356

After five years - - - - - -

Total 344 5 349 517 1 518

2020-21 2019-20

2020-21 2019-20
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7 Property, plant and equipment

2020-21

Information 

technology

£'000

Cost or Valuation at 01 April 2020 86

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021 86

Depreciation 01 April 2020 86

Charged during the year -

Depreciation at 31 March 2021 86

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 0

Purchased -

Total at 31 March 2021 -

Asset financing:

Owned -

Total at 31 March 2021 -

2019-20

Information 

technology

£'000

Cost or Valuation at 01 April 2019 86

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020 86

Depreciation 01 April 2019 74

Charged during the year 12

Depreciation at 31 March 2020 86

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 -

Purchased -

Total at 31 March 2020 -

Asset financing:

Owned -

Total at 31 March 2021 -

7.1 Economic lives

Information technology 3 2

Maximum 

Life (years)

Minimum Life 

(years)
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8 Trade and other receivables Current Current

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 432 309

NHS prepayments 0 804

NHS accrued income 10 54

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 19 3

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 272 124

Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 44 87

VAT 11 21

Other receivables and accruals 1 1

Total Trade and other receivables 789 1,403

8.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000

By up to three months 9 -

By three to six months 0 -

By more than six months 0 -

Total 9 -
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9 Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£'000 £'000

Balance as at 01 April 337 96

Net change in year (278) 241

Balance as at 31 March 59 337

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 59 337

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 59 337

Balance at 31 March 2021 59 337

Current Current

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 186 1,622

NHS accruals 234 4,457

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 4,935 3,386

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 14,289 13,513

Social security costs 50 44

Tax 47 41

Other payables and accruals 1,381 1,249

Total Trade & Other Payables 21,122 24,312

10 Trade and other payables

Other payables and accruals includes £350,322 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (£329,770 

in 2019-20) - £66,803 for Clinical Commissioning Group employees (£53,616 in 2019-20) and £283,519 for 

Primary Care through Delegated Co-Commissioning (£276,154 in 2019-20).
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11 Financial instruments 

11.1 Financial assets

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

Financial Assets 

measured at 

amortised cost

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 419 324

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 31 39

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 55 91

Cash and cash equivalents 59 337

Total at 31 March 2021 564 791

11.2 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

Financial Liabilities 

measured at 

amortised cost

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 319 141

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 6,342 12,175

Trade and other payables with external bodies 14,365 11,910

Total at 31 March 2021 21,026 24,226

It is the Clinical Commissioning Group's assessment that it is not exposed to any material financial instrument risk.

12 Pooled Budgets

2020-21 2019-20

Expenditure 17,421 16,604

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the estimate process, financial instruments play a more 

limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body.  The majority of financial 

instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage 

requirements, therefore the CCG are not exposed to any material credit, liquidity or market risk.

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget agreement 

with North Tyneside Council in relation to the Better Care Fund. For accounting purposes management has 

assessed that joint control does not exist.

The Better Care Fund is designed to integrate health and social care services, reduce hospital based care and 

promote community based services.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial 

year were:
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13 Related party transactions

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Marine Avenue Medical Centre Dr Richard Scott 1,002 0 71 0 901 0 56 0

The Village Green Surgery Dr Ruth Evans 1,667 0 105 0 1,632 0 59 0

The Priory Medical Group Dr Alex Kent 1,992 0 131 0 1,903 0 91 0

NHS North of England CSU Mark Adams 2,612 0 286 0 2,778 0 97 0

Goalseeker Ltd Mark Adams 154 0 0 0 104 0 0 0

49 Marine Avenue Surgery 745 0 56 0 704 0 73 0

Appleby Surgery 0 0 0 0 772 0 56 0

Beaumont Park Medical Group 757 0 76 0 757 0 40 0

Bewicke Medical Centre 1,277 0 95 0 1,337 0 80 0

Bridge Medical 821 0 59 0 792 0 37 0

Collingwood Health Group 3,355 0 269 0 2,500 0 151 0

Lane End Surgery 1,103 0 165 0 1,120 0 138 0

Mallard Medical Group 600 0 54 0 666 0 16 0

Monkseaton Medical Centre 1,060 0 54 0 1,048 0 10 0

Nelson Medical Group 726 0 83 0 660 0 57 0

Northumberland Park 1,276 0 85 0 1,110 0 72 0

Park Parade Surgery 545 0 48 0 550 0 40 0

Park Road Medical Practice 1,091 0 50 0 1,121 0 66 0

Portugal Place Health Centre 1,709 0 66 0 1,484 0 87 0

Redburn Park Medical Centre 826 0 11 0 784 0 0 17

Spring Terrace Health Centre 917 0 41 0 773 0 54 0

Stephenson Park Health Group 2,584 0 125 0 2,339 0 109 0

Swarland Avenue Surgery 1,528 0 86 0 1,054 0 93 0

Wellspring Medical Practice 766 0 72 0 818 0 45 0

West Farm Surgery 725 0 357 0 751 0 123 0

Whitley Bay Health Centre 1,490 0 101 0 1,468 0 89 0

Wideopen Medical Centre 989 0 77 0 1,018 0 17 0

Woodlands Park Health Centre 941 0 36 0 799 0 21 0

Payments to Related Party in the tables enclosed are for actual cash payments made during the year.

On 1st April 2020 Collingwood Surgery and Appleby Surgery merged into the Collingwood Health Group.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has not received revenue or capital payments from charitable funds.

TyneHealth Ltd is a provider of healthcare services. Its members are the current 25 GP Practices in North Tyneside. There was £3,171k paid to it in 2020-21 (£3,260k in 2019-20).

The Clinical Commissioning Group maintains formal registers of interests, and the appropriate registers are referred to at each of its Council of Practice, Governing Body, and Committee meetings, providing a 

mechanism for handling any conflicts of interest.

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

Members of the North Tyneside GP Practices have carried out functions for the CCG and any remuneration received for these has been paid to the practice in recognition of their contribution. GP Practices are 

also entitled to additional payments in relation to extra services for patients and these are based on practice sizes and if the practice has delivered.

In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been 

with North Tyneside Council in respect of joint enterprises with £35.5m paid in 2020-21 (£32.6m in 2019-20).

2020-21 2019-20

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as the parent Department. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the 

DHSC is regarded as the parent Department which included Northumbria Healthcare NHS FT; Newcastle upon Tyne Hospital NHS FT; Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS FT; North East Ambulance 

Services NHS FT and NHS England amongst others.

The Clinical Commissioning Group also had a number of transactions with NHS Litigation Authority and NHS Business Services Authority amongst others. The transactions with these entities were not material.

The Council of Practices comprises of a nominated GP from each of the 25 GP practices that form the CCG. They meet at least four times a year to decide on the strategic direction of the CCG. As such the GP 

Practices have been included within the Related Parties note above.

Governing Body / Executive Member 

GP Practices Governing Body / Executive Members
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14 Events after the end of the reporting period

15 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

National Health 

Service Act Section 

Duty Duty 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20 Duty

Target Performance Target Performance Achieved

223H(1) Expenditure not to exceed income 380,188 378,781 375,987 368,642 Yes

223I(2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions
- - - -

Yes

223I(3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 379,952 378,545 375,664 368,319 Yes

223J(1)

Capital resource use on specified 

matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions

- - - -

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified 

matter(s) does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions

- - - -

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use 

does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 4,323 3,967 4,850 3,865 Yes

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial instruments of the Clinical Commissioning Group.
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